
Health Quality Subcommittee 

Richard Corcoran 
Speaker 

Wednesday, January 10, 2018 
4:00 PM - 5:30 PM 

Mashburn Hall (306 HOB) 

James Grant 
Chair 



Start Date and Time: 

End Date and Time: 

Location: 

Duration: 

Committee Meeting Notice 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

Health Quality Subcommittee 

Wednesday, January 10, 2018 04 :00pm 

Wednesday, January 10, 2018 05:30pm 

Mashburn Hall (306 HOB) 

1.50 hrs 

Consideration of the following bill(s): 

HB 21 Controlled Substances by Boyd 

HB 513 Distributing Pharmaceutical Drugs and Devices by Rommel 

HB 573 Involuntary Examinations Under the Baker Act by Daniels 

HB 673 Reporting Of Adverse Incidents In Planned Out-Of-Hospital Births by Magar 

HB 855 Genetic Information Used for Insurance by Brodeur 

HB 973 Performance of Physician Assistants and Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners by Daniels, 
Plasencia 

HB 6049 Medical Marijuana Growers by Jones 

Pursuant to rule 7 .11, the deadline for amendments to bills on the agenda by non-appointed members shall 
be 6:00p.m ., Tuesday, January 9, 2018 . 

By request of the Chair, all committee members are asked to have amendments to bills on the agenda 
submitted to staff by 6:00p.m., Tuesday, January 9, 2018. 

NOTICE FINALIZED on 01/08/2018 4:05PM by Krause.Jessica 

01/08/20 18 4:09: 13PM leagis ® Page 1 of 1 



I 
OJ 
N ...... 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 21 Controlled Substances 
SPONSOR(S): Boyd 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 8 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee Siples 

2) Appropriations Committee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

McElroy 
c. 

Substance abuse affects millions of people in the U.S. each year. Drug overdoses have steadily increased and now 
represent the leading cause of accidental death in the U.S., the majority of which involve an opioid. In Florida, heroin 
caused 952 deaths, fentanyl caused 1 ,390 deaths, oxycodone caused 723 deaths, and hydrocodone caused 245 
deaths in 2016. Opioid addiction has been recognized as a public health emergency on both a state and federal 
level. HB 21 addresses opioid abuse by expanding the use of the Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (POMP), 
increasing regulation of prescribers and dispensers, and aligning state criminal statutes with federal law. 

HB 21 limits the prescription for a Schedule II opioid to alleviate acute pain to a three-day supply, or a seven-day 
supply if deemed medically necessary by the prescriber. The bill requires Department of Health (DOH) to adopt 
rules establishing guidelines for prescribing controlled substances for acute pain, similar to those for chronic pain. 
The bill also requires a health care practitioner authorized to prescribe controlled substances to complete a board
approved 2-hour continuing education course on safely and effectively prescribing controlled substances, and to 
review a patient's POMP history prior to prescribing or dispensing a controlled substance. 

Currently, a pain management clinic must register with DOH unless it self-determines it is exempt from registration . 
The bill requires all pain management clinics that claim an exemption from registration to obtain a certificate of 
exemption by January 1, 2019. 

The POMP, within DOH, monitors controlled substance prescribing and dispensing . Currently, pharmacies only 
report dispensing controlled substances listed in Schedule II , Ill , and IV to the POMP. The bill expands the reporting 
requirement to include Schedule V and additional information not currently collected , such as the patient's telephone 
number, certain information of the person picking up the controlled substance on behalf of the patient, and whether 
the prescription is new or a refill. The bill authorizes health care employees of the U.S. Department of Defense and 
the Indian Health Service who prescribe controlled substances to have direct access to the POMP, and authorizes 
indirect access to the POMP for medical examiners under certain conditions. The bill authorizes DOH to share and 
exchange POMP data with other states if certain conditions are met, and authorizes the POMP to interface with a 
health care practitioner and facility electronic health record systems. 

Chapter 893, F.S. , the "Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act, " ("Act") , creates criminal 
offenses related to the manufacture, distribution , preparation, and dispensing of controlled substances. The Act 
classifies such substances into five schedules, based on the substance's "potential for abuse" and whether the 
substance has a currently accepted medical use. The bill aligns the state schedule of drugs with the federal 
schedule of drugs. 

The bill has a significant, negative fiscal impact on DOH to implement required upgrades for the POMP. The bill will 
have an insignificant, positive fiscal impact on DOH from costs savings related to the investigation of pain 
management clinics. The bill has no fiscal impact on local governments. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2018, except as otherwise expressly provided in the bill. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME h0021 .HQS 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Substance Abuse 

Substance abuse refers to the harmful or hazardous use of psychoactive substances, including alcohol 
and illicit drugs. 1 Substance abuse disorders occur when the chronic use of alcohol or drugs causes 
significant impairment, such as health problems, disability, and failure to meet major responsibilities at 
work, school, or home.2 Repeated drug use leads to changes in the brain's structure and function that 
can make a person more susceptible to developing a substance abuse disorder.3 Brain imaging studies 
of persons with substance abuse disorders show physical changes in areas of the brain that are critical 
to judgment, decision making, learning and memory, and behavior control. 4 

According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition, a diagnosis of 
substance abuse disorder is based on evidence of impaired control , social impairment, risky use, and 
pharmacological criteria.5 The most common substance abuse disorders in the United States are from 
the use of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, stimulants, hallucinogens, and opioids.6 

Opioid Abuse 

Opioids are psychoactive substances derived from the opium poppy, or their synthetic analogues.7 

They are commonly used as pain relievers to treat acute and chronic pain . An individual experiences 
pain as a result of a series of electrical and chemical exchanges among his or her peripheral nerves, 
spinal cord, and brain.8 Opioid receptors occur naturally and are distributed widely throughout the 
central nervous system and in peripheral sensory and autonomic nerves.9 When an individual 
experiences pain, the body releases hormones, such as endorphins, which bind with targeted opioid 
receptors. 10 This disrupts the transmission of pain signals through the central nervous system and 
reduces the perception of pain. 11 Opioids function in the same way by binding to specific opioid 

1 World Health Organization. Substance Abuse, available at http://www.who.int/topics/substance abuse/en/ (last visited October 31 , 
2017). 
2 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Substance Use Disorders, available at 
http://www.samhsa.gov/disorders/substance-use (last visited October 31 , 2017). 
3 National Institute on Drug Abuse, Drugs, Brains, and Behavior: The Science of Addiction, available at 
https://www.druqabuse.gov/publications/druqs-brains-behavior-science-addiction/druq-abuse-addiction (last visited October 31 , 2017). 
4 ld . 
5 Supra note 2. 
6 ld. 
7 World Health Organization, Information Sheet on Opioid Overdose, World Health Organization (Nov. 2014), available at 
http://www.who.int/substance abuse/information-sheet/en/ (last visited October 31 , 2017). 
8 National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, Pain: Hope through Research, (Jan. 2014), available at 
https://www. n i nds. nih .q ov/Disorders/Patient-Careq iver -Education/Hope-Th rouqh-Research/Pai n-H ope-Th rouq h-Resea rch (last visited 
October 31 , 2017). 
9 Gjermund Henriksen, Frode Willoch; Brain Imaging of Opioid Receptors in the Central Nervous System, 131 BRAIN 1171-1196 (2007}, 
available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2367693/ (last visited October 31 , 2017). 
10 ld . 
11 ld. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



receptors in the brain, spinal cord, and gastrointestinal tract, thereby reducing the perception of painY 
Opioids include 13

: 

• Buprenorphine (Subutex, Suboxone) 
• Codeine 
• Fentanyl (Duragesic, Fentora) 
• Heroin 
• Hydrocodone (Vicodin, Lortab, Norco) 
• Hydromorphone (Dilaudid, Exalgo) 
• Meperidine 
• Methadone 
• Morphine 
• Oxycodone (OxyContin, Percodan, Percocet) 
• Oxymorphone 
• Tramadol 

Opioids are commonly abused, with an estimated 15 million people worldwide suffering from opioid 
dependence.14 Opioids can create a euphoric feeling because they affect the regions of the brain 
involved with pleasure and reward, which can lead to abuse.15 Continued use of these drugs can lead 
to the development of tolerance and psychological and physical dependence.16 This dependence is 
characterized by a strong desire to take opioids, impaired control over opioid use, persistent opioid use 
despite harmful consequences, a higher priority given to opioid use than to other activities and 
obligations, and a physical withdrawal reaction when opioids are discontinued. 17 Approximately four to 
six percent of patients who misuse prescription opioids transition to heroin and 80 percent of people 
who use heroin first misused prescription opioids. 18 

An overabundance of opioids in the body can lead to a fatal overdose. In addition to their presence in 
major pain pathways, opioid receptors are also located in the respiratory control centers of the brain. 19 

Opioids disrupt the transmission of signals for respiration in the identical manner that they disrupt the 
transmission of pain signals. This leads to a reduction , and potentially cessation, of an individual's 
respiration. Oxygen starvation will eventually stop vital organs like the heart, then the brain, and can 
lead to unconsciousness, coma, and possibly death.20 Within three to five minutes without oxygen, 
brain damage starts to occur, soon followed by death.21 However, this does not occur instantaneously 
as people will commonly stop breathing slowly, minutes to hours after the drug or drugs were used.22 

12 Department of Health and Human Services- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration , SAMHSA Opioid 
Overdose Prevention Toolkit: Facts for Community Members (2013, rev. 2014) 3, available at 
https://www.integration.samhsa.gov/Opioid Toolkit Community Members. pdf (last visited October 31, 2017). 
13 Florida Department of Law Enforcement, Medical Examiners Commission , Drugs Identified in Deceased Persons by Florida Medical 
Examiners 2016 Annual Report, available at http://www.fdle.state.fl.us/MEC/Publications-and-Forms/Documents/Drugs-in-Deceased
Persons/2016-Annuai-Drug-Report.aspx (last visited November 20, 2017). 
14 Supra note 7. 
15 National Institute on Health, National Institute on Drug Abuse, Which classes of Prescription Drugs are Commonly Misused? (rev. 
Aug . 2016), available at https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/misuse-prescription-druqs/which-classes
prescription-drugs-are-commonly-misused (last visited October 31 , 2017). 
16 Supra note 9. 
17 Supra note 7. 
18 National Institute on Health , National Institute on Drug Abuse, Opioid Overdose Crisis, [June 2017] , available at 
https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugs-abuse/opioids/opioid-overdose-crisis (last visited November 20, 2017). 
19 K.T.S. Pattinson , Opioids and the Control of Respiration, BRITISH JOURNAL OF ANAESTHESIA, Volume 100, Issue 6, pp. 747-758, 
available at http://bja .oxfordjournals.org/content/1 00/6/7 47 .full (last visited October 31, 2017). 
20 Harm Reduction Coalition, Guide to Developing and Managing Overdose Prevention and Take-Home Naloxone Projects (Fall2012), 
http:/lharmreduction.orq/wp-contentluploads/2012/11 /od-manual-final-links.pdf (last visited October 31 , 2017). 
21 ld . at 9. 
22 ld. at 9. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



An opioid overdose can be identified by a combination of three signs and symptoms referred to as the 
"opioid overdose triad": pinpoint pupils, unconsciousness, and respiratory depression.23 

The drug overdose death rate involving opioids has increased by 200% since 2000 and has now 
become the leading cause of accidental deaths in the United States.24 Nationwide, in 2015, more than 
there were 33,091 deaths that involved an opioid (licit or illicit),25 and 15,000 people died from 
overdoses involving prescription opioids.26 The most common drugs involved in such deaths were 
methadone, oxycodone, and hydrocodone. In 2016, in Florida, heroin caused 952 deaths, fentanyl 
caused 1 ,390 deaths, oxycodone caused 723 deaths, and hydrocodone caused 245 deaths.27 

National Public Health Emergency 

In March 2017, President Trump established the President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction 
and Opioid Crisis (Commission). Its mission is to study the scope and effectiveness of the federal 
response to the drug and opioid crisis and to make recommendations to the President for improving 
that response. The members of the Commission include Governor Chris Christie, Governor Charlie 
Baker, Governor Roy Cooper, Congressman Patrick Kennedy, Professor Bertha Madras, and Florida 
Attorney General Pam Bondi. 

On October 26, 2017, President Donald Trump announced the issuance of a Nationwide Public Health 
Emergency28 and a five-point strategy for combating the opioid crisis, including: 29 

• Improving access to prevention, treatment, and recovery services, including the full range of 
medication-assisted treatments; 

• Targeting availability and distribution of overdose-reversing drugs; 
• Strengthening our understanding of the crisis through better public health data and reporting; 
• Providing support for cutting edge research on pain and addiction; and 
• Advancing practices for pain management. 

On November 1, 2017, the Commission released its final report and made recommendations for: 30 

• Reducing administrative burdens associated with accessing federal funding for opioid-related 
and substance use disorder-related activities in the states; 

• Developing and providing training related to standards of care for opioid prescribers, 
alternatives to opioids, and screening for substance use and mental health risks in patients; 

23 Supra note7. 
24 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Increases in Drug and Opioid Overdose Deaths- United States, 2000-2014, Morbidity 
and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 64(50); 1378-82, available at 
http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6450a3.htm?s cid=mm6450a3 w (last visited October 31, 2017). 
25 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention , Increases in Drug and Opioid Overdose Deaths- United States, 2010-2015, Morbidity 
and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 65(50-51 ); 1445-52, available at 
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/wr/mm655051 e1 .htm?utm campaign=colorado.ourcommunitynow.com%20website&utm sourc 
e=ocn storv&utm medium=website {last visited November 20, 2017). 
26 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention , Prescription Opioid Overdose Data , available at 
https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/data/overdose.html {last visited November 20 , 2017). 
27 Florida Department of Law Enforcement, Medical Examiners Commission , Drugs Identified in Deceased Persons by Florida Medical 
Examiners 2016 Annual Report, available at http://www.fdle.state.fl.us/MEC/Publications-and-Forms/Documents/Drugs-in-Deceased
Persons/2016-Annuai-Druq-Report.aspx (last visited November 20, 2017). 
28 The White House, Office of the Press Secretary, "President Donald J. Trump is Taking Action on Drug Addiction and the Opioid 
Crisis ," Oct. 26, 2017, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2017/1 0/26/president-donald-j-trump-taking-action-drug
addiction-and-opioid-crisis (last visited October 31 , 2017). 
29 U.S. Dep't of Health and Human Services , Opioids: The Prescription Drug & Heroin Overdose Epidemic, available at 
https://www.hhs.gov/opioids {last visited October 31 , 2017). 
30 The President's Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the Opioid Crisis , Final Report, available at 
https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files/images/Final Report Draft 11-1-2017.pdf (last visited November 28, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h0021.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 



• Enhancing the use of prescription drug monitoring programs; 
• Treating opioid addiction, overdose reversal , and recovery; and 
• Research and development. 

Florida Public Health Emergency 

On May 3, 2017, Governor Scott signed Executive Order 17-146.31 The executive order directs the 
State Health Officer and Surgeon General to declare a statewide public health emergency due to the 
opioid epidemic and to take any action necessary to protect the public health.32 It additionally directs 
the State Health Officer and Surgeon General to issue a standing order for opioid antagonists, such as 
naloxone, to ensure access to emergency responders. On May 2, 2017, the State Surgeon General 
and Secretary of DOH issued the Declaration of Public Health Emergency and Statewide Standing 
Order for Naloxone.33 

Since its initial issuance, the Governor has extended public health emergency declaration several 
times, the most recent extension was declared with Executive Order 17-285, issued on October 27, 
2017, for 60 days.34 

CDC Guidelines for Prescribing Opioids 

In March 2016, the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) released a guideline for 
prescribing opioids for chronic pain.35 The guideline includes twelve recommendations focused on three 
principles: 36 

• Non-opioid therapy is preferred for chronic pain outside of cancer, palliative, and end-of-life 
care; 

• When prescribing opioids, prescribe the lowest possible effective dosage to reduce the risk of 
opioid use disorder and overdose; and 

• Providers should always exercise caution when prescribing opioids and monitor all patients 
closely. 

The CDC guideline also addressed acute pain, as long-term opioid use commonly begins with the 
treatment of acute pain Y The CDC recommends that the initial prescription to treat acute pain be for 
the lowest effective dose of immediate-release (short acting) opioids and the quantity should be no 
greater than needed for the expected duration of pain severe enough to require opioids.38 The guideline 
advises three days or less is often sufficient and that more than seven days will rarely be needed.39 

31 Office of the Governor, Executive Order no. 17-149 (Opioid Epidemic), May 3, 2017, available at: http://www.flgov.com/wp
contenUuploads/2017/05/17146.pdf (last visited October 31, 2017). 
32 ld . See also, Department of Health, Gov. Scott Directs Statewide Public Health Emergency for Opioid Epidemic, (May 3, 2017), 
available at http://www.floridahealth .gov/newsroom/2017 /05/050317 -health-emergency-opioid-epidemic.html (last visited January 2, 
2018). 
33 ld . 
34 Office of the Governor, Executive Order no. 17-285 (Opioid Epidemic Extension), October 27, 2017, available at 
http://www.flgov.com/wp-contenUuploads/orders/2017/EO 17-285.pdf (last visited November 20, 2017). 
35 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain, Morbidity and Mortality Weekly 
Report (MMWR) 65(1 ):1-49, (March 18, 2016), available at https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/rr/rr6501e1 .htm (last visited 
November 10, 2017). Chronic pain is defined as pain that typically lasts for more than three months or past the time of normal tissue 
healing . 
36 1dat15. 
37 ld at 24. Acute pain is defined as pain with abrupt onset caused by an injury or other process that is not ongoing. 
38 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention , Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain, Morbidity and Mortality Weekly 
Report (MMWR) 65(1 ):1-49, (March 18, 2016), available at https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/rr/rr6501 e1 .htm (last visited 
November 10, 2017). See also Centers for Disease Control and Prevention , Fact sheet: CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for 
Chronic Pain, available at https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/pdf/quidelines at-a-glance-a.pdf (last visited November 10, 2017). 
39 ld. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



40 ld . 

The guideline additionally recommends that a health care practitioner review the patient's history of 
controlled substance prescriptions using the state prescription drug monitoring program data. The data 
should be reviewed when starting opioid therapy, and periodically during opioid therapy. The guideline 
recommends reviews ranging from every prescription to once every three months.40 

Twenty-four states have enacted laws limiting opioid prescriptions. 41 These limitations vary from a 
three-day supply to a fourteen-day supply. Other states have directed the establishment of guidelines 
or limitations on the prescribing of opioids. 

Laws Setting Limits on Certain Opioid Prescriptions 

- MT NO MN 

10 WY 

0 
• Statutory limit : 14 days 

• Statutory limit : 7 days 

• Statutory limit : 5 days 

Statutory limit: 3-4 days 

so 

co 

NM 

AZ 

Statutory limit: Morphine Milligram 
Equivalents (MME) 

Direction or authorization to other 

entity to set limits or guidelines 

No limits 

Controlled Substance Regulation 

NE 

OK 

WI 

lA ll 

MO 

KS AR 

0 
TX 

AS 

Ml 

0 
KY 

TN 

MS 

GU 

wv 

Al GA 

Fl 

DC DE 

• • Maryland requires 
lowest effective dose in a 
quantity not greater than 
that needed for expected 
duration of pain. 

• North carolina's 5-day limit is for 
acute pain. The state also set a 7-day 
limit for post-<~pe rative relief. 

MP PR VI 

No information 
Source: NCSL, StoteNet 

Chapter 893, F.S. , the Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act ("the Act") , 
classifies controlled substances into five categories, called schedules. The Act creates criminal 
offenses related to the manufacture, distribution, preparation , and dispensing of the substances listed 

41 National Conference of State Legislatures, Prescribing Policies: States Confront Opioid Overdose Epidemic, (Sept. 8, 2017}, 
available at http://www.ncsl.org/research/health/prescribing-policies-states-confront-opioid-overdose-epidemic.aspx (last visited 
November 20 , 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 6 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



therein. The distinguishing factors between the different drug schedules are the potential for abuse42 of 
the substance and whether there is a currently accepted medical use for the substance.43 

The Controlled Substance Schedules are as follows: 

• Schedule I substances have a high potential for abuse and currently have no accepted medical 
use in the United States, including substances such as cannabis and heroin.44 

• Schedule II substances have a high potential for abuse and have a currently accepted but 
severely restricted medical use in the United States, including substances such as raw opium, 
fentanyl, and codeine.45 

• Schedule Ill substances have a potential for abuse less than the substances contained in 
Schedules I and II and have a currently accepted medical use in the United States, including 
substances such as stimulants and anabolic steroids.46 

• Schedule IV substances have a low potential for abuse relative to substances in Schedule Ill 
and have a currently accepted medical use in the United States, including substances such as 
benzodiazepines and barbituratesY 

• Schedule V substances have a low potential for abuse relative to the substances in Schedule IV 
and have a currently accepted medical use in the United States, including substances such as 
mixtures that contain small quantities of opiates, narcotics, or stimulants.48 

Under the Act, the unauthorized sale, manufacture, possession, delivery, or purchase of a controlled 
substance is subject to criminal penalties.49 The severity of the criminal penalty is dependent on several 
factors , including the schedule in which the controlled substance is categorized , the amount of 
controlled substance present and the location at which the illegal activity occurs. 5° 

The Federal Controlled Substances Act51 also classifies certain substances into schedules based on 
potential for abuse and whether there is a currently accepted medical use for it. In determining into 
which schedule a drug should be placed or whether a substance should be decontrolled or 
rescheduled, the Drug Enforcement Agency considers :52 

• The drug's actual or relative potential for abuse. 
• Scientific evidence of the drug's pharmacological effect, if known . 
• The state of current scientific knowledge regarding the substance. 
• Its history and current pattern of abuse. 
• The scope, duration, and significance of abuse. 
• What, if any, risk there is to public health. 
• The drug 's psychic or physiological dependence liability. 
• Whether the substance is an immediate precursor of a substance already controlled. 

Currently, the schedules in Florida's Act do not align with the schedules in the federal Controlled 

42 Section 893.035(3)(a) , F.S., defines "potential for abuse" to mean that a substance has properties as a central nervous system 
stimulant or depressant or a hallucinogen that create a substantial likelihood of its being : 1) used in amounts that create a hazard to the 
user's health or safety of the community ; 2) diverted from legal channels and distributed through illegal channels; or 3) taken on the 
user's own initiative rather than on the basis of professional medical advice. 
43 Sees. 893.03, F.S. 
44 Section 893.03(1 ), F.S. 
45 Section 893.03(2), F.S. 
46 Section 893.03(3), F.S. 
47 Section 893.03(4), F.S. 
4B Section 893.03(5), F.S. 
49 Section 893.13, F.S. 
50 ld. 
51 21 U.S.C. s. 812. The most up to date schedules are found in 21 C.F.R. s. 1308. 
52 21 U.S.C. s. 811(c). 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 7 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Substances Act. Under the federal Controlled Substances Act, drugs have been newly scheduled or 
rescheduled, creating a situation in which the unauthorized sale, manufacture, possession, delivery, or 
purchase of a substance may be criminal under federal law but not under state law. Additionally, where 
there are discrepancies between the schedules, the severity of the criminal penalties may vary between 
state and federal law. 

Controlled Substance Prescribing for Chronic Pain in Florida 

As of January 1, 2012, every physician, podiatrist, or dentist, who prescribes controlled substances in 
the state to treat chronic nonmalignant pain,53 must register as a controlled substance prescribing 
practitioner and comply with certain practice standards specified in statute and rule. 54 Before 
prescribing controlled substances to treat chronic nonmalignant pain, a practitioner must:55 

• Complete a medical history and a physical examination of the patient which must be 
documented in the patient's medical record and include: 

o The nature and intensity of the pain; 
o Current and past treatments for pain; 
o Underlying or coexisting diseases or conditions; 
o The effect of the pain on physical and psychological function; 
o A review of previous medical records and diagnostic studies; and 
o A history of alcohol and substance abuse; 

• Develop a written plan for assessing the patient's risk for aberrant drug-related behavior and 
monitor such behavior throughout the course of controlled substance treatment; 

• Develop an written individualized treatment plan for each patient stating the objectives that will 
be used to determine treatment success; and 

• Enter into a controlled substance agreement with each patient that must be signed by the 
patient or their legal representative and by the prescribing practitioner and include: 

o The number and frequency of prescriptions and refills ; 
o A statement outlining expectations for patient's compliance and reasons for which the 

drug therapy may be discontinued; and 
o An agreement that the patient's chronic nonmalignant pain only be treated by a single 

treating practitioner unless otherwise authorized and documented in the medical record. 

A prescribing practitioner must see a patient being treated with controlled substances for chronic 
nonmalignant pain at least once every three months, and must maintain detailed medical records 
relating to such treatment.56 Patients at special risk for drug abuse or diversion may require 
consultation with or a referral to an addiction medicine physician or a psychiatrist. 57 The prescribing 
practitioner must immediately refer a patient exhibiting signs or symptoms of substance abuse to a 
pain-management physician, an addiction medicine specialist, or an addiction medicine facility. 58 

Continuing Education for Controlled Substance Prescribing 

Compliance with continuing education (CE) requirements is a condition of renewal of license for health 
care practitioners. Boards, or DOH when there is no board, require each licensee to demonstrate 
competence by completing CE hours during each biennial licensure cycle. The number of required CEs 
varies by profession. The requirements forCEs may be found in ch. 456, F.S., professional practice 

53 "Chronic nonmalignant pain" is defined as pain unrelated to cancer which persists beyond the usual course of disease or the injury 
that is the cause of the pain or more than 90 days after surgery. Section 456.44( 1 )(e), F .S. 
54 Chapter 2011-141 , s. 3, Laws of Fla. (creating ss. 456.44, F.S., effective July 1, 2011 ). 
55 Section 456.44(3), F .S. 
56 Section 456.44(3)(d), F.S. 
57 Section 456.44(3)(e), F.S. 
58 Section 456.44(3)(g), F.S . 
STORAGE NAME: h0021.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 8 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



acts, administrative rules, or a combination of these references. Failure to comply with CE 
requirements may result in disciplinary action against the licensee, in accordance with the disciplinary 
guidelines established by the applicable board or DOH, if there is no board. 

Although statute and boards may mandate continuing education topics, only two health care 
practitioner types must complete CEs related to the prescribing of controlled substances. Physician 
assistants who prescribe controlled substances and advanced registered nurse practitioners must 
complete three hours of CEs each biennial renewal cycle on the safe and effective prescribing of 
controlled substances.59 

Pain Management Clinic Regulation 

Section 458.3265, F.S., within the medical practice act and s. 459.0137, F.S., within the 
osteopathic practice act regulate the registration, management, and inspections of pain
management clinics,60 and the allopathic and osteopathic physicians employed by such clinics. 

Registration 

A pain-management clinic must register with DOH unless: 

• The clinic is licensed under ch. 395, F.S. ; 
• The majority of the physicians who provide services in the clinic primarily provide surgical 

services; 
• The clinic is owned by a publicly held corporation whose shares are traded on a national 

exchange and whose total assets exceed $50 million in the most recent fiscal quarter; 
• The clinic is affiliated with an accredited medical school; 
• The clinic does not prescribe controlled substances for pain treatment; 
• The clinic is owned by a corporate entity exempt from federal taxation under 26 U.S. C. s. 

501(c)(3); 
• The clinic is wholly owned and operated by one or more board eligible61 or board-certified 

anesthesiologists, physiatrists, rheumatologists, or neurologists; or 
• The clinic is wholly owned and operated by a physician multispecialty practice where one or 

more board eligible62 or board-certified medical specialists have both (1) completed certain 
fellowships in pain medicine or are board-certified in pain medicine by certain boards, and (2) 
perform interventional pain procedures of the type routinely billed using surgical codes.63 

A pain management clinic claiming an exemption from registration is not required to notify DOH that it 
meets a statutory exemption or demonstrate its eligibility for an exemption. Further, the determination of 
whether the pain management clinic is exempt from registration is made by the owner or management 
of the clinic. DOH only investigates the validity of a claimed exemption from registration if it receives a 
formal complaint.64 -

59 See rr. 6488-30.005(6), and 64815-6.0035(6), F.A.C., for the CE requirements for a prescribing physician assistant, and s. 
464.013(3 )(b) , F .S. , for the CE requirement for advanced registered nurse practitioners. 
60 A pain-management clinic is a publicly or privately owned facility that advertises in any medium for any type of pain-management 
services or where in any month a majority of patients are prescribed opioids, benzodiazepines, barbiturates, or carisoprodol for the 
treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain. (Sections 458.3265(1 )(a)1 .c., F.S., and 459.0137(1 )(a)1 .c., F .S. 
61 "Board eligible" means successful completion of an anesthesia , physical medicine and rehabilitation , rheumatology, or neurology 
residency program approved by the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education or the American Osteopathic Association for 
a period of 6 years from successful completion of such residency program. Sections 458.3265(1 )(a)(1.)(a.), F.S., and 
459.0137(1)(a)(1 .)(a .), F.S. 
62 See note 21 , supra. 
63 Sections 458.3265(1)(a)(2 .), F.S., and 459.0137(1)(a)(2 .), F.S. 
64 Florida Department of Health , Agency Legislative Bill Analysis for House Bill 21 , (Oct. 13, 2017), (on file with the Health Quality 
Subcommittee). 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 9 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Registration Requirements 

Each location must be registered separately, regardless of whether it is operated under the same name 
or management as another clinic.65 Additionally, a change of ownership requires submission of a new 
registration application .66 

DOH must deny a pain-management clinic's registration if: 67 

• The clinic is neither fully owned by a physician or group of physicians licensed under ch. 458 or 
ch . 459, F.S.; nor health care clinic licensed under ch. 400, Part X.68 

• The clinic is owned by, has a contractual relationship with, or employs a physician: 
o Whose Drug Enforcement Administration number has ever been revoked; 
o Whose application for a license to prescribe, dispense, or administer a controlled 

substance has been denied by any jurisdiction; or 
o Who has been convicted of or pleaded guilty or nolo contendere to a felony for receipt of 

illicit and diverted drugs, including any Schedule 1-V substance, anywhere in the United 
States. 

DOH must revoke a pain-management clinic's registration if any of the above reasons for denial 
substantially become applicable to a registered clinic.69 DOH may also revoke a clinic's registration 
based on deficiencies discovered during the clinic's annual inspection.70 

If a clinic's registration is revoked or suspended, the clinic must stop operating , and the clinic must 
remove all identification that the location is a pain-management clinic. 71 Additionally, the clinic must 
follow certain procedures to dispose of its medicinal drugs.72 A required five year cooling-off period 
prohibits anyone whose registration has been revoked from applying for a permit to operate a pain
management clinic. 73 If a clinic's registration is suspended, that suspension may not exceed one year.74 

When the pain management clinic registration was first required in 2010, there were 921 pain 
management clinics. 75 At the end of Fiscal Year 2016-2017, there were 259.76 It is unknown if the 
reduction in the number of pain management clinics is attributable to closure or to a self-determination 
that the pain management clinic was exempt from registration . 

Prescription Drug Monitoring Program 

Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PDMPs) are state-run electronic databases used to track the 
prescribing and dispensing of certain controlled prescription drugs to patients.77 PDMPs are designed 
to monitor this information for suspected abuse or diversion and provide prescribers and pharmacists 

65 Sections 458.3265(1 )(b), F .S ., and 459.0137(1 )(b), F.S. 
66 Sections 458.3265(1 )(m), F.S., and 459.0137(1 )(m), F.S. 
67 Sections 458.3265(1 )(e), F.S., and 459.0137(1 )(e), F.S . DOH may grant an exemption to such denial for felony convictions if more 
than 10 years have elapsed since adjudication . 
68 Sections 458.3265(1 )(d), F.S., and 459.0137(1 )(d), F .S . 
69 Sections 458.3265(1 )(f), F.S. , and 459.0137(1 )(f) , F.S. DOH may grant an exemption to such revocation for felony convictions if more 
than 10 years have elapsed since adjudication . 
70 Sections 458.3265(1 )(g), F.S., and 459.0137(1 )(g) , F.S. 
71 Sections 458.3265(1 )(h), (i), F.S., and 459.0137(1 ){h), (i), F.S . 
72 Sections 458.3265(1 )(j) , F .S., and 459.0137(1 )(j), F.S. 
73 Sections 458.3265(1 )(k), F.S ., and 459.0137(1 )(k), F.S. 
74 Sections 458.3265(1 )(1) , F.S. , and 459.0137(1 )(I), F.S. 
75 Supra note 64. 
76 ld. 
77 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, What States Need to Know about PDMPs, {last rev. Oct. 3, 2017), available at 
http://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/pdmp/ (last visited November 10, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 10 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



78 ld. 

with critical information regarding a patient's controlled substance prescription history. 78 As of July 
2017, 49 states and the District of Columbia have an operational POMP database. 79 

Chapter 2009-197, Laws of Fla., established Florida's POMP within the Department of Health (DOH), 
and is codified in s. 893.055, F.S. The POMP uses an electronic database system to monitor the 
prescribing and dispensing of certain controlled substances.80 The POMP database became 
operational in September of 2011, when it began receiving prescription data from pharmacies and 
dispensing practitioners.81 Health care practitioners began accessing the POMP database on October 
17,2011 .82 

From July 1, 2015, to June 30, 2016, in-state prescribers issued 37,048,030 controlled substance 
prescriptions to 7,387,884 Florida residents. 83 Of those controlled substance prescriptions, 15,372,742 
were for opioids.84 

POMP Reporting Requirements 

Dispensers of controlled substances listed in Schedule II, Ill, or IV of the Florida Comprehensive Drug 
Abuse Prevention and Control Act must report specified information to the POMP database:85 

• The name of the prescribing practitioner, the practitioner's federal Drug Enforcement 
Administration (DEA) registration number, the practitioner's National Provider Identification 
(NPI) or other appropriate identifier, and the date of the prescription; 

• The date the prescription was filled and the method of payment, such as cash by an individual 
or third-party payment; 

• The full name, address, and date of birth of the person for whom the prescription was written ; 
• The name, national drug code, quantity, and strength of the controlled substance dispensed; 
• The full name, federal DEA registration number, and address of the pharmacy, other location, or 

other practitioner from which the controlled substance was dispensed; 
• The name of the pharmacy or practitioner, other than a pharmacist, dispensing the controlled 

substance and the practitioner's NPI ; and 
• Other appropriate identifying information as determined by DOH rule.86 

Florida does not require the dispenser Schedule V drugs to the POMP. Schedule V carry a low risk of 
physical or psychological dependence and consists primarily of preparations containing limited 
quantities of certain narcotics, such as cough preparations containing codeine.87 

79 National Alliance for Model State Drug Laws, Established and Operational Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PMPs) - Map 
(July 21 , 2017), available at http://www.namsdl.org/Maps/Status%20of%20PMPs%20-%20Established
Operationai%20%20Map%20REV%207-21-17.pdf (last visited November 10, 2017). Missouri is the only state without a statewide 
POMP. However, several counties and cities within Missouri participate in a POMP. 
80 Section 893.055(2)(a), F.S. 
81 Florida Department of Health, Electronic-Florida Online Reporting of Controlled Substances Evaluation (E-FORCSE), 2015-2016 
Prescription Drug Monitoring Program Annual Report, (Dec. 1, 2016), available at http://www.floridahealth .gov/statistics-and-data/e
forcse/ documents/2016PDMPAnnuaiReport.pdf (last visited November 17, 2017). 
82 Supra note 81 at p. 22 . 
83 Supra note 81 at p. 14. 
84 Supra note 106. 
85 Section 893.055(3), F.S.; controlled substances listed in Schedule II, Ill , or IV can be found ins. 893.03(2)-(4), F.S. 
86 Section 893.055( 4 ), F .S. Pursuant to r. 64K-1.004(9), F .A. C., prescribers must submit the telephone number of the person for whom 
the prescription was written to the POMP. 
87 U.S. Department of Justice, Drug Enforcement Administration, Diversion Control Division , Controlled Substance Schedules, available 
at https://www.deadiversion .usdoLgov/schedules/ (last visited January 2, 2018). To qualify as a Schedule V substance, the cough 
preparation must contain less than 200 milligrams of codeine per 1 00 grams. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 11 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



88 ld. 

The time in which a dispenser must submit information to the POMP varies across the nation. Florida 
requires dispensers to report dispensing a controlled substance to the POMP by the close of the next 
business day.88 As indicated below, some states require the dispenser to submit data within 24 hours 
or no later than the next business day, others allow three days or more, and Oklahoma requires real
time reporting.89 

F1·equency of Data Repo1·tin& Autho1·ized by Bill/Statute/Rule/Ordinance* 
(ut•peioas for n teriaari..le1 or Mllus • a)· apply; ~ttfHrin datlt.s •*T Yal'}") 

0 No bto. tlwa cbily/24 t.o.n/1 
bouiDoos cby (40 + D.C. +St. 
Louis Coua1y 

0 3 ........,, c~o,..m ~oaan o • 
lJ fo<DOD·opioids) 

0 Bcbys(l) 

0 woMJyn cloys (6) 

. Midlipo ...... UJr_.;qr...-_.;qot~--.wly-IOiiHD-o!da 
•-lsllod'sUJr-a.c..a-~~~~FMs• .poiol.......,._. Dorow....poid~_,llo._-l-4oyll7l-.-~ 
• PlL\SENOYE: l'nplrllioo>r.~ ...,...,..;., .... -._,_ _____ aoddlt ..... of~of ... _...~. 

Exemptions from POMP Reporting Requirements 

The purpose of the POMP is to track the dispensing of prescribed controlled substances to provide 
information to subsequent prescribing physicians and prevent the overprescribing and diversion of such 
substances. However, there are some circumstances in which there is inherently a low risk of controlled 
substances being overprescribed or diverted. The law exempts practitioners from having to report the 
dispensing of controlled substances in those circumstances. Specifically, the following acts are not 
required to be reported: 90 

• A health care practitioner administering a controlled substance directly to a patient if the amount 
of the controlled substance is adequate to treat the patient during that particular treatment 
session; 

• A pharmacist or health care practitioner administering a controlled substance to a patient or 
resident receiving care as a patient at a hospital , nursing home, ambulatory surgical center, 
hospice, or intermediate care facility for the developmentally disabled which is licensed in this 
state; 

89 National Alliance for Model State Drug Laws, Frequency of Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PMP) Data Reporting- Map, (July 
20, 2017), available at http://www.namsdl.org/Maps/Frequency%20of%20PMP%20Data%20Reportinq%20Map%206-30-17%20(7 -21-
17).pdf (last visited November 10, 2017). 
90 Section 893.055(5). F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 12 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



• A practitioner administering or dispensing a controlled substance in the health care system of 
the Department of Corrections; 

• A practitioner administering a controlled substance in the emergency room of a licensed 
hospital ; 

• A health care practitioner administering or dispensing a controlled substance to a person under 
the age of 16; 

• A pharmacist or a dispensing practitioner dispensing a one-time, 72-hour emergency resupply 
of a controlled substance to a patient; and 

• A rehabilitative hospital, assisted living facility, or nursing home dispensing a certain dosage of 
a controlled substance, as needed, to a patient while the patient is present and receiving care 
as ordered by the patient's treating physician. 

Access to POMP Data 

Direct Access 

Direct access to the POMP database is presently limited to a pharmacy, prescriber, or dispenser or the 
designee of a pharmacy, prescriber, or dispenser.91 A pharmacy, prescriber, or dispenser has access 
to information in the POMP database that relates to a patient of that pharmacy, prescriber, or 
dispenser, as needed, for reviewing the patient's controlled substance prescription history. 92 

Employees of the United States Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) who are authorized to prescribe 
controlled substances and hold an active, unrestricted license in another state have direct access to the 
PDMP.93 However, health care practitioners authorized to dispense controlled substance pursuant to 
employment with the VA do not have access to the POMP unless they have an active, unrestricted 
Florida license. 

The Department of Defense provides health care services to its members, retirees, and their 
dependents at military treatment facilities , 13 of which are located in Florida .94 Florida also has 20 
major military installations.95 Military members, retirees, and their families may access health care 
services at either military treatment facilities , civilian health care providers, or both. Currently, health 
care practitioners serving military personnel, retirees, and their dependents in military treatment 
facilities do not have access to Florida's POMP unless they have an active, unrestricted Florida license. 

The Indian Health Service (HIS) is an agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services that is responsible for providing federal health services to American Indians and Alaska 
Natives.96 There are at least four locations in Florida that provide health services to this population .97 

IHS employees who prescribe or dispense controlled substances in these facilities do not have access 
to Florida's POMP unless they have an active, unrestricted Florida license. 

91 Section 893.055(7)(b ), F .S. 
92 ld. 
93 Section 893.055(1 )(d), F.S ., defines health care practitioner for the purpose of the POMP program as those practitioners who are 
subject to licensure or regulation by DOH under ch. 458, F.S. , (Medicine), ch. 459, F.S ., (Osteopathic Medicine), ch . 461 , F.S., 
(Podiatric Medicine), ch . 462, F.S., (Naturopath), ch. 463, F.S., (Optometry), ch. 464, F.S., (Nursing), ch. 465 , F.S. , (Pharmacy), or ch . 
466, F.S., (Dentistry). 
94 See https://tricare.mil/mtf (last visited November 10, 2017). 
95 Enterprise Florida, Florida 's Military Profile , available at http://www.enterpriseflorida.com/wp-content/uploads/Militarv Install Map.pdf 
(last visited November 21 , 2017). 
96 Indian Health Service, About HIS, available at https://www.ihs.gov/aboutihs/ (last visited November 21 , 2017). 
97 See 
https://www.ihs.gov/locations/includes/themes/newihstheme/display objects/documents/Federal Health Care Facilities Map.pdf (last 
visited November 21 , 2017). Facilities are located in Okeechobee, Clewiston , Immokalee, and Hollywood. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 13 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



The program manager98 and the program manager's designated staff, may also directly access the 
PDMP.99 The program manager access is for program management or for management of the POMP 
database and its system in furtherance of the program, which may include responding to requests from 
those with indirect access to the system.100 

Indirect Access 

In Florida, the following entities may indirectly access POMP data: 

• DOH and its relevant health care regulatory boards; 
• The Attorney General to investigate Medicaid fraud cases involving prescribed controlled 

substances; 
• A law enforcement agency during active investigations regarding potential criminal activity, 

fraud , or theft regarding prescribed controlled substances; and 
• A patient, or the legal guardian or designated health care surrogate of an incapacitated patient, 

for verifying the accuracy of database information. 101 

Entities with indirect access to the POMP database may request information from the POMP program 
manager that is otherwise confidential and exempt from public disclosure under s. 893.0551 , F.S.102 

Prior to release, the POMP program manager must verify that the request is authentic and authorized 
with the requesting organization. 103 

Department staff is also authorized to indirectly access the database to calculate performance 
measures in its annual report to the Legislature. 104 Such information must be requested of the program 
manager, and may not include any identifying information of the patient, prescriber, or dispenser.105 

Use of POMP Data 

A total of 17,852 health care practitioners or 27.2 percent of licensed health care practitioners who are 
authorized to prescribe controlled substances, are registered to use the POMP database. 106 

Pharmacists have the highest utilization rate of the POMP; 59 percent of licensed pharmacists are 
registered to use the POMP and 90.6 percent of pharmacists registered to use the POMP have queried 
the database.107 Physicians have a lower utilization rate ; 20.6 percent of licensed allopathic physicians 
and 38.8 percent of licensed osteopathic physicians are registered to use the POMP and of those 
registered to use the POMP, 70.5 percent and 78.4 percent, respectively, have queried the 
database.108 

98 The program manager is an employee of DOH who is designated to ensure the integrity of the POMP in accordance with law (s. 
893.055(1)0}, F.S. 
99 Section 893.055(7)(b), F.S. 
100 ld. See also 893.055(7)(c), F.S. 
101 Section 893.055(7)(c), F.S. 
102 ld . 
103 ld. 
104 Section 893.055(7)(d), F.S . 
105 ld. 
106 Presentation by Rebecca Poston , POMP Program Director, "Department of Health , Florida 's Prescription Drug Monitoring Program 
Update" Presentation before the Health Quality Subcommittee (Nov. 8, 2017), available at 
http://www .myf!orida house .gov/Section s/Docu ments/loaddoc .aspx? Publication T ype=Comm ittees& Committee I d=29 18&Session=20 18& 
DocumentType=Meeting%20Packets&FileName=hqs%2011-8-17 .pdf (last visited Nov. 17, 2017). 
107 ld . 
108 ld. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 14 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Thirty-two states require that certain prescribers and/or dispensers register to use the state's POMP 
database: 109 

HI 

MA 

0 Sbtes that require prtsenl>ers iD 
ooe or more professio.W atecor».s 
to rePst-r with t1w PMP (34 m tes) * Sbtes that require plwmxist> or 
dispemen iD ( C6al to recister 
with tlw PMP (2 5 sutes) 

• E.lrcrpoaau uy IJIPiy IDIItlliclk-eclllti llllf'WY· ~liar ~lomm111iGDII>IT m1llr iD • cimt difflrect benrtm ~IDIIt&aift dm(s) 
UlC! clotr of implollllr:atioD o! lbt II>IDdort. 

Florida does not require health care practitioners to register to use the POMP. 

Thirty-six states mandate some use of the POMP for prescribers, but the requirements vary by state. 11 0 

For example, nine states require a health care practitioner to consult the POMP at each prescribing of a 
designated substance. 111 Twelve states require a health care practitioner to consult the state's POMP 
for the initial prescription of controlled substance for the treatment of pain, and also requires the health 
care practitioner to subsequently check the POMP after the initial prescription. 112 Florida does not 
require prescribers to consult the database to review a patient's prescription drug history prior to 
prescribing a controlled substance. 

109 National Alliance for Model State Drug Laws, Mandated Registration with PMPs- Map, (June 30, 2017}, available at 
http://www.namsdl.org/library/03809318-0000-6705-4FE157678A 176DFO/ (last visited November 10, 2017). 
110 National Alliance for Model State Drug Laws, Mandated Use of Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PMPs)- Map, (June 30, 
2017}, available at http://www.namsdl.org/library/FE179822-E782-AA56-9E9705E5D9F19D7B/ (last visited November 10, 2017). 
111 National Alliance for Model State Drug Laws, Mandated Use of State Prescription Monitoring Programs (PMPs) : Highlights of Key 
State Requirements, (June 30, 2017), available at http://www.namsdl.org/library/6735895A-CA6C-1 D6B-B8064211764D65DO/ (last 
visited November 20, 2017). Some states require the POMP be consulted for specific classes of drugs such as opioids, 
benzodiazepines, barbiturates, and/or carisoprodol and other states specify schedules of drugs (Arkansas, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania , 
and Texas), such as all drugs in certain schedules (Alaska, Massachusetts, New York, South Carolina , and Wisconsin). 
112 ld. These states include Arkansas , Georgia , Kentucky, Louisiana , Mississippi, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, Rhode 
Island, Tennessee , Vermont, and West Virginia. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 15 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Mandated Use of PDMPs: 36 States with Specified Circumstances Requiring Provider 
Access 

• Exc<peioas may opply mddJ«::i\~ cbtesmay vary. l'rq>onlica fer impleaMGtalioa may mull iDa lime cli&mlcebot-a-.... tile <DliCIJDoDI ODd e&crn-, 
cbto(s) ODd cbte of ~of tile IIWidale. Far - infcrmatioo aboui!DIIIdated use of PMPs, p1tase see lii~N~dt.J Uu of Pmcriptiotr Drvg 
MolritoriRg Prognmrs (PliPs)- Hipligloa ofl:ly &ar. R.fw-. »ww P.1QlSd!.ors 

Source: National Alliance for Model State Drug Laws, available at http://www.namsdl.org/librarv/FE179822-E782-AA56-9E9705E509F1907B/ 
(last visited January 4, 2018). 

Interstate Sharing of POMP Information 

Interstate sharing of prescription drug information allows health care practitioners and law enforcement 
to prevent and detect prescription drug abuse that crosses jurisdictional boundaries. 113 Each state that 
maintains a POMP database must decide whether it will share the information maintained in its state's 
POMP database with other states or jurisdictions, as well as the terms for such access. Florida is one 
of three states with a POMP that does not allow other states or jurisdictions to access its database. 
Florida, however, has one-way access agreements with Alabama and Kentucky to allow authorized 
Florida POMP users access to each of these state's POMP databases. 114 Forty-six states authorize 
interstate POMP data sharing. 115 

113 Bureau of Justice Assistance, Interstate Data Sharing Becomes a Reality for Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs, available at 
https://www.bja.gov/Justice Today/PMIX.pdf (last visited November 19, 2017). 
114 Supra note 64. 
115 National Alliance for Model State Drug Laws, lnterjurisdictional Sharing of Prescription Drug Monitoring Program Data- Map, (July 
10, 2017), available at 
http://www.namsdl.org/Maps/lnterjurisdictionai%20Sharinq%20of%20Prescription%20Drug%20Monitorinq%20Program%20(PMP)%20 
Data%20-%20Map%20(July%201 0%2C%202017).pdf (last visited November 10, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 16 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



State/Local Jurisdictions Legally Authorized to Share Their PMP Data with Other 
State/Local Jurisdictions or Users Located in other State/Local Jurisdictions 

(46 States, D.C., and St. Louis County, Missouri) 

.. _ 
·~ 

HI ~ 

. Q Oreg011 aDO\\"S presa iben in W~m Stale, Califomia, ldabo ODd Ne\ .. da to access Orep PMP Data. 

NH 

• Sl Louis County, Missouri Na=lia Coo110l Ad aDO\\"S cbe PMP aetwcd: to share data witb usm in otb« jurisdicticm. 

• Florida is ablt to rocoivt PMP data 6om ocbe< jurisdicticas ODd pnr.oide tiW data to autborizod......, in FIGrida. 

Public Records Exemption for Information in the PDMP Database 

MA 

Section 893.0551, F.S., 116 makes personal patient information and certain information concerning 
health care practitioners contained in the PDMP database confidential and exempt from s. 119.07(1 ), 
F.S., and Art. I, Sec. 24 of the Florida Constitution.117 The statute makes confidential and exempt 
identifying information, including, but not limited to, the name, address, telephone number, insurance 
plan number, government-issued identification number, provider number, Drug Enforcement 
Administration number, or any other unique identifying number of a patient, patient's agent, health care 
practitioner or practitioner as defined ins. 893.055, F.S., or an employee of the practitioner who is 
acting on behalf of and at the direction of the practitioner, a pharmacist, or a pharmacy, which is 
contained in the PDMP database. 

Any agency or person that obtains information pursuant to s. 893.0551, F.S., must maintain the 
confidential and exempt status of that information. 118 

11 6 The public records exemption was established in 2009 in conjunction with the POMP. Sees. 1, ch. 2009-197 , Laws of Fla. 
Additionally, the public records exemption was reauthorized in 2014. See .s 1 ch. 2014-156, Laws of Fla . 
117 Section 893.0551(2), F.S. 
11 8 Section 893.0551(6), F.S. However, a law enforcement agency with lawful access to such information is permitted to disclose 
confidential and exempt information received from DOH to a criminal justice agency as part of an active investigation of a specific 
violation of law. Section 893.0551(4). 
STORAGE NAME: h0021.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 17 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Effect of Proposed Changes 

Acute Pain Treatment with Opioids 

Prescription Limits for Acute Pain Treatment 

The bill limits a prescription of Schedule II opioids to alleviate acute pain to a 3-day supply, codifying 
the CDC guideline for the treatment of acute pain. However, a health care practitioner may prescribe up 
to a 7-day supply if the physician determines it is medically necessary, indicates "medically necessary" 
on the prescription , and documents the justification for deviating from the 3-day supply limit in the 
patient's medical record. The bill defines acute pain as the normal, predicted, physiological, and time
limited response to an adverse chemical, thermal, or mechanical stimulus associated with surgery, 
trauma, or acute illness. This definition reflects the definition currently in rule for physicians. 119 

Standards of Practice for Acute Pain Treatment 

The bill requires DOH to adopt rules establishing guidelines for prescribing controlled substances for 
acute pain, similar to guidelines established for the prescribing of controlled substances for chronic 
pain. Such rules must address: 

• Evaluation of the patient; 
• Creation of a treatment plan; 
• Obtaining informed consent and agreement for treatment; 
• Periodic review of the treatment plan; 
• Consultation; 
• Medical record review; and 
• Compliance with controlled substance laws and regulations. 

A health care practitioner who fails to follow the guidelines established by DOH is subject to disciplinary 
action against his or her license. 

Continuing Education on Controlled Substance Prescribing 

The bill requires a health care practitioner who is authorized to prescribe controlled substances to 
complete a board-approved 2-hour continuing education course, if not already required to complete 
such a course under his or her practice act. 120 All health care practitioners registered with the United 
States Drug Enforcement Agency to prescribe controlled substances must complete the continuing 
education course by January 31, 2019, and at each subsequent licensure renewal. The course must 
address: 

• Current standards on prescribing controlled substances, particularly opiates; 
• Alternatives to the current standards on controlled substance prescribing; and 
• Information on the risks of opioid addiction following all stages of treatment in the management 

of acute pain. 

11 9 See rr. 6488-9.013 and 64815-14.005, F.A.C. 
120 Pursuant to s. 464.013(3)(b), F.S., an advanced registered nurse practitioner must complete at least 3 hours of continuing education 
hours on the safe and effective prescribing of controlled substances each biennial renewal cycle . Rules 6488-30.005(6) and 64815-
6.0035(6), F.A.C., requires physician assistants who prescribe controlled substances to complete 3 hours of continuing education on 
the safe and effective prescribing of controlled substance medications. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021.HOS.DOCX PAGE: 18 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



The course may be taken in a long distance format and must be included in the continuing education 
required for the biennial renewal of a health care practitioner's license. DOH may not renew the 
individual's license of a prescriber who fails to complete this continuing education requirement. 

Pain Management Clinics 

The bill requires a pain management clinic that claims an exemption from the requirement to apply to 
DOH for a certificate of exemption. The bill authorizes DOH to adopt a form by rule that requires an 
applicant for a certificate of exemption to provide: 

• The name or names under which the applicant does business; 
• The address at which the pain management clinic is located; and 
• The specific exemption that the applicant is claiming, along with supporting documentation. 

DOH must approve or deny an application for a certificate of exemption with has 30 days after receipt. 
Each certificate must be renewed biennially, but the initial certificate may be issued for up to three 
years to allow DOH to establish renewal cycles. 

A pain management clinic must prominently display its certificate of exemption and make it available to 
DOH or the applicable board upon request. Each certificate of exemption is valid only for the applicant 
and for the exemption for which the certificate was issued. The certificate is not transferable or 
movable. A certificateholder must notify DOH at least 60 days before a change of ownership, name 
change, or if the certificateholder relocates and apply for a new certificate of exemption . The 
certificateholder must immediately notify DOH and either apply for a new certificate of exemption or 
register as a pain management clinic if the certificateholder becomes ineligible for the specific 
exemption claimed for in its certificate of exemption. 

All pain management clinics in the state must either be registered with DOH as a pain management 
clinic or hold a certificate of exemption by January 1, 2019. There is no fee for the certificate of 
exemption . 

Prescription Drug Monitoring Program 

The bill makes changes to and reorganizes s. 893.055, F.S., relating to the prescription drug monitoring 
program. Although many of the substantive provisions remain unchanged, the bill makes several 
amendments to the section. 

Mandatory Consultation 

The bill requires a prescriber or dispenser or his or her designee to consult the POMP to review a 
patient's controlled substance dispensing history prior to prescribing or dispensing a controlled 
substance. However, a prescriber or dispenser is not required to consult the POMP if the system is not 
operational, as determined by DOH, or cannot be accessed by the health care practitioner due to a 
temporary technological or electrical failure. In such cases, the health care practitioner must document 
in the patient's record the reason the POMP was not consulted and may prescribe or dispense no more 
than a 3-day supply of a controlled substance. A health care practitioner who fails to consult the system 
as required is subject to a nondisciplinary citation. 

Access to the POMP Database 

The bill expands direct access to the database to employees of the Department of Defense and the 
Indian Health Service who have authority to prescribe controlled substances, upon verification of such 

STORAGE NAME: h0021.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 19 



employment. Currently, only Florida-licensed health care practitioners and prescribers employed by the 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs may directly access the database. 

The bill also authorizes a medical examiner to have indirect access to the database when performing 
an investigation , examination , or autopsy, as deemed necessary or requested by a state attorney to 
determine the cause of death of individual. Under such circumstances, a medical examiner may 
request information from the POMP manager or program staff. 

The bill changes access to non-identifying information for the purpose of reporting on performance 
measures in its annual report from the department to the program manager. 

Data Sharing 

The bill authorizes DOH to enter into reciprocal agreements to share POMP information with other 
states or jurisdiction , as long as the other states' POMP systems are compatible with Florida 's. To 
determine compatibility, DOH must consider: 

• The other state's safeguards for the privacy of patient records and the program's success in 
protecting patient privacy; 

• The individuals authorized to view the information in the database and whether such access is 
comparable to the persons authorized in this state; 

• The schedules of controlled substances that are monitored in the other state's program; 
• The data reported to or included in the other state's system; 
• Any implementing criteria deemed essential for a thorough comparison; and 
• The costs and benefits to Florida of sharing prescription information. 

DOH must continue to monitor such compatibility on a periodic basis. Any agreement that DOH enters 
into for sharing POMP database information must contain the same restrictions on access as Florida 
law, including protection of privacy and public disclosure. 

The bill authorizes DOH to allow the POMP database to interface with a health care practitioner's 
electronic health care recordkeeping system through a secure connection. A health practitioner is 
responsible for ensuring that only authorized individuals may access information from the POMP 
database. 

Reporting Requirements 

Under current law, when controlled substances listed in Schedule II , Ill, and IV are dispensed, it must 
be reported to the POMP. The bill expands the reporting requirement to include controlled substances 
listed in Schedule V. The bill also requires the dispenser to report the following additional information 
that is not currently collected : 

• The telephone number of the person for whom the prescription was written , in addition to the 
demographic information the prescriber currently inputs; 121 

• Whether the prescription is an initial prescription or a refill, and the number of refills prescribed; 
• The name of the individual picking up the controlled substance prescription and the type and 

issuer of the identification provided ; and 
• For a dispensing practitioner, other than a pharmacist , the practitioner's DOH-issued license 

number. 

121 The dispenser must currently input the name, address, and date of birth of the person for whom the prescription is written (s. 
893.05(3)(c), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 20 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Public Records 

The bill retains the public records exemption for certain information held in the POMP database. The bill 
does not exempt any additional records from public disclosure or further restrict access to such 
information. However, the bill expands access to such information to certain individuals. The bill 
authorizes the POMP manager and designated staff to have access to such information for 
administration of the program and to provide information to prescribers, dispensers, and appropriate 
law enforcement agencies in accordance with state law. The bill also expands access to certain 
employees of the VA, the Department of Defense, and the Indian Health Service who prescribe 
controlled substances pursuant to employment with such entity. Finally, the bill authorizes a medical 
examiner to have indirect access to such information when determining the cause of death of an 
individual. The bill reorganizes and makes other non-substantive changes to s. 893.0551 , F.S., to 
improve readability. 

Identification Requirement for Dispensing of Controlled Substances 

The bill relocates from s. 893.055, F.S., to the pharmacy practice act (ch . 465, F.S.), an existing 
requirement that a pharmacist verifies the identity of an individual prior to dispensing a controlled 
substances. The bill does not make any substantive changes to this requirement. 

Controlled Substance Regulation 

The bill amends several sections of the 893.03, F.S., to align the state's Controlled Substance Act with 
the federal schedules of controlled substances. Specifically, the bill adds the following substances to 
Schedule II : 

o Dihydroetorphine; 
o Hydrocodone combination products; 
o Oripavine; 
o Remifentanil; 
o Tapentadol ; 
o Thiafentanil ; 
o Lisdexamfetamine; and 
o Dronabinol (synthetic THC) in oral solution in a drug approved by the United States 

Food and Drug Administration . 

Similarly, the bill adds the following substances to Schedule Ill : 

o Buprenorphine (which is being rescheduled from Schedule V) ; 
o Embutramide; and 
o Perampanel. 

The bill adds the following substances to Schedule IV: 

o Alfaxalone 
o Dexfenfluramine; 
o Dichloralphenazone; 
o Eluxadoline; 
o Eszopiclone; 
o Fospropofol; 
o Lorcaserin; 
o Modafinil ; 
o Petrichloral; 

STORAGE NAME: h0021.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 21 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 



o Sibutramine; 
o Suvorexant; 
o Zaleplon; 
o Zolpidem; and 
o Zopiclone. 

Finally, the bill adds the following substances to Schedule V: 

o Not more than 0.5 milligrams of difenoxin and not less than 25 micrograms of atropine 
per dosage unit; 

o Brivaracetam; 
o Ezogabine; 
o Lacosamide; and 
o Pregabalin. 

With these additions to Florida's Controlled Substance Act, the unauthorized sale, manufacture, 
possession, delivery, or purchase of these substances is subject to criminal penalties. Additionally, the 
dispensing of these controlled substances must be entered into the POMP database. 

Finally, the bill makes other conforming changes throughout statutes. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2018, except for provisions related to the certificate of 
exemption for pain management clinics, which are effective January 1, 2019. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Creates s. 456.0301, F.S. , relating to requirement for instruction on controlled substance 
prescribing. 

Section 2: Amends s. 456.072, F.S., relating to grounds for discipline; penalties; enforcement. 
Section 3: Amends s. 456.44, F.S., relating to controlled substance prescribing . 
Section 4: Amends s. 458.3265, F.S., relating to pain-management clinics. 
Section 5: Amends s. 459.0137, F.S., relating to pain-management clinics. 
Section 6: Amends s. 465.0155, F.S., relating to standards of practice. 
Section 7: Amends s. 465.0276, F.S., relating to dispensing practitioner. 
Section 8: Amends s. 893.03, F.S., relating to standards and schedules. 
Section 9: Amends s. 893.055, F.S., relating to prescription drug monitoring program . 
Section 10: Amends s. 893.0551, F.S., relating to public records exemption for the prescription drug 

monitoring program. 
Section 11: Amends s. 458.331 , F.S., relating to grounds for disciplinary action; action by the board 

and department. 
Section 12: Amends s. 459.015, F.S. , relating to grounds for disciplinary action; action by the board 

and department. 
Section 13: Amends s. 463.0055, F.S., relating to administration and prescription of ocular 

pharmaceutical agents. 
Section 14: Amends s. 782.04, F.S., relating to murder. 
Section 15: Amends s. 893.13, F.S., relating to prohibited acts; penalties. 
Section 16: Amends s. 893.135, F.S., relating to trafficking; mandatory sentences; suspension or 

reduction of sentences; conspiracy to engage in trafficking . 
Section 17: Amends s. 921.0022, F.S., relating to Criminal Punishment Code; offense severity ranking 

chart. 
Section 18: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2018, except as otherwise provided in the bill . 

STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 

PAGE : 22 



II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

DOH may realize costs savings associated with a reduction in the unlicensed activity investigations 
of pain management clinics. The average cost of an investigation is $2,100, and in the last 
biennium, DOH conducted 6 investigations for a total cost of $12,600. 122 The regulatory costs of 
associated with issuing the certificates of exemption (see expenditures below) is less than by the 
costs associated with unlicensed activity investigations resulting in a costs savings. 

2. Expenditures: 

Pain Management Clinics 

DOH estimates that 200 pain management clinics will apply for a certificate of exemption. Based on 
Fiscal Year 2016-2017 experience, the Board of Medicine can manage a licensee pool of 2,681 per 
FTE, which equates to .07 FTE to manage the anticipated workload associated with issuing the 
certificates of exemptions. 123 Based on the LBR standards (salary + 43% benefits), the cost for a 
Regulatory Specialist II would be $2,795. The department will incur non-recurring costs of $100 
associated with rulemaking . DOH will also incur nonrecurring costs associated with updating the 
Licensing Enforcement and Information Database System, which current resources are adequate to 
absorb.124 

Standards of Practice for the Treatment of Acute Pain 

DOH may incur insignificant, nonrecurring costs associated with rulemaking to establish standards 
of practice for treating acute pain . 

POMP 

DOH will incur costs associated with upgrading the POMP software to accommodate interstate data 
sharing , as well as integration with electronic health records systems. In its Fiscal Year 2018-2019 
legislative budget request, DOH requests $873,079 of recurring and $117,700 of nonrecurring 
general revenue funds to update the POMP to a new prescription monitoring platform and to access 
additional features offered by the current vendor. 125 

DOH has executed a contract extension with the current vendor which expires March 2018. DOH 
plans to execute another one-year contract extension in March 2018 while concurrently 
competitively procuring services to operate, host, and maintain the PDMP.126 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

122 Supra note 64. 
123 ld . According to DOH, this estimate takes into consideration expenditures required for prosecutions. E-mail correspondence with 
DOH staff dated November 28, 2017, on file with Health Quality Subcommittee. 
124 ld . 
125 DOH , 2018-2019 Legislative Budget Request, Exhibit D-3A, Expenditures by Issue and Appropriation , pp. 216-217 , available at 
http://floridafiscalportal.state.fl .us/Document.aspx?ID=17210&DocType=PDF (last visited November 20, 2017). 
126 Telephone conversation with DOH staff on November 15, 2017. 
STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX PAGE: 23 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Prescribers may incur additional costs to comply with the continuing education course on prescribing 
controlled substances. Prescribers may also incur additional labor costs to comply with the requirement 
to consult the POMP prior to prescribing a controlled substance. Health practitioner offices that 
currently do not have the technology needed to consult the system may incur costs associated with 
obtaining such technology. Additionally, if a health care practitioner decides to integrate the POMP 
database information with his or her patient electronic health records, the practitioner may incur costs 
associated with upgrading the software. 

Due to the three-day limit controlled substance prescription for acute pain, some patients may incur 
additional costs if a health care practitioner requires an additional patient visit prior to issuing a new 
prescription or a prescription refill. 

A pain management clinic that is exempt from registering with the department may incur minimal labor 
costs associated with applying for a certificate of exemption. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The rule-making authority created by the bill for the continuing education, prescribing guidelines, and 
certificates of exemption for pain management clinics is sufficient to implement those provisions of the 
bill. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0021 .HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 24 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 21 2018 

1 A bi l l to be entitled 

2 An act relating to controlled substances ; creating s . 

3 456 . 0301 , F . S .; authorizing certain boards to require 

4 practitioners to complete a specif i ed board- approved 

5 continuing educat i on course to obtain authorization to 

6 prescribe controlled substances as part of biennial 

7 renewal ; p r oviding exceptions ; providing course 

8 requirements ; prohibiting the department from renewing 

9 a license of a prescriber under specified 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

2 2 

23 

24 

25 

circumstances ; requiring a licensee to submit 

confirmation of course completion ; p r oviding for each 

licensing board requiring such continuing education 

course to include hours of completion with the total 

hours of continuing education required i n certain 

circumstances ; auth or i zing rulemaking ; amending s . 

456 . 072 , F . S .; authorizing disciplinary action against 

practitioners for violating specified provisions 

relating to contro l led s ubstances ; ame nding s . 456 . 44 , 

F . S .; defining the term " acute pain "; providing for 

the adoption of standards of practice for the 

treatment of acute pain ; providing that failure of a 

practitioner to follow specified guidelines is grounds 

for disciplinary action; limi ting opioid prescript i o n s 

f or the treatment of acute pain to a speci fi ed period 

under certain circums t ances ; authorizing prescript i ons 

Page 1 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB21 2018 

26 f or such opioids for an extended pe ri od if specified 

27 requirements are met ; amend i ng ss . 458 . 3265 and 

28 459 . 0137 , F .S.; requiring certain pain management 

29 clini c owners to register approved exempt i ons with the 

30 department ; requiring certain clinics to obtain 

31 certificates of exemption ; provi ding requirements for 

32 such certi ficates ; authorizing rulemaking relating to 

33 specified exemptions ; amending ss . 465 . 0155 and 

34 465 . 0276 , F . S .; providing requirements for pharmacists 

35 and practitioners for the dispensing of controlled 

36 substances to persons not known to them ; defining the 

37 t erm "proper i dentification"; amend i ng s . 893 . 03 , 

38 F.S .; conforming the state controlled substances 

39 schedule to the federal controlled substances 

40 schedule ; amending s . 893 . 055 , F . S .; revising and 

41 providing de fi nitions ; revising requirements for the 

42 prescription drug monitoring program; authorizing 

43 rulemaking ; requiring t he department to maintain an 

44 e l ectronic system for ce r tain purposes to meet 

45 specified requirements ; requiring certain information 

46 to be reported to the system by a specified time ; 

47 specifying direct access to sys tem information; 

48 authorizing department t o enter into reciprocal 

49 agreements or contrac ts to share pres cript i on drug 

50 monitoring information wi th certain entities ; 

Page 2 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R 0 A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 21 2018 

51 providing requirements for such agreements ; 

52 authorizing the department to e nter into agreements or 

53 contracts for secur e connections with practitioner 

54 electronic systems ; requiring specified person s to 

55 consul t the system for ce rtain purposes within a 

56 specified time ; providing exceptions to the duty of 

57 specified persons to consult the system under certain 

58 c ircumstances ; authorizing the department to issue 

59 nondisciplinary citations to specified entities for 

60 failing to meet certain requirements; prohibiting the 

61 failure to report the dispensing of a controlled 

62 substance when required to do so ; providing penalties; 

63 authorizing the department to enter into agreements or 

64 contracts for specif ied purposes ; providing for the 

65 release of informati on obtained by the system; 

66 allowing specified persons to have direct access to 

67 information for the purpose of reviewing the 

68 contro lled drug prescription history of a pati ent; 

69 providing prescriber or dispenser immunity from 

70 liability for review of pat ient history when acting in 

71 good faith; providing construction ; prohibiting the 

72 department from specified uses of funds ; authorizing 

73 the department to conduct or participate in studies 

74 for specified purposes; requiring a n annual report to 

75 be submitted to the Governor and Legislature by a 

Page 3 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

76 specif i ed date ; provi ding report requ irements ; 

77 providing exemptions ; es t ablish ing direct - support 

78 organizations for specif i ed purposes ; de f ining the 

79 term "direct - support organization"; requiring a 

80 direct - suppo r t organizati on to operate under wri t ten 

81 cont ract with the department ; providing contract 

82 requirements ; requ i r i ng the direct - support 

83 organization to obtain written approva l from the 

8 4 department for specified purposes ; authorizing 

85 ru l emaking; provid i ng for an independent a nnual 

86 financial audit by the direct - support organization ; 

87 providing that copies of such audit be provided to 

88 specified entities ; providing for fu t ure repeal of 

89 provisions re l ating to the direct-support 

90 organizat i on ; amending s . 893 . 0551 , F . S .; revising 

91 provisions concern i ng re l ease of information held by 

92 the prescription drug monitoring program; amending ss . 

93 458 . 331 , 459 . 015 , 463 . 0055 , 782 . 04 , 893 . 13 , 893 . 135 , 

94 and 921 . 0022 , F . S .; correcting cross - references ; 

95 conformi ng provis i ons to changes made by the act ; 

96 providing e f fective dates . 

97 

98 Be It Enacted by the Leg i s l ature of the State of Florida : 

99 

Page 4 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

100 Section 1 . Section 456 . 0301 , Flor ida Statutes , is created 

101 to read: 

102 456.0301 Requirement for instruction on controlled 

103 substance prescribing. -

104 

105 

( 1) (a) If not already required by the licensee's practice 

act , the appropriate board shall require each person registered 

106 with the United States Drug Enforcement Administration and 

107 authorized to prescribe controlled substances pursuant to 21 

108 U. S . C. s . 822 to complete a board- approved 2- hour continuing 

109 education course on prescribing controlled substances as part of 

110 biennial renewal . The course must include information on the 

111 current standards regarding for prescribing controlled 

112 substances , particularly opiates , alternatives to these 

113 standards , and in formation on the risks of opio i d addiction 

114 following all stages of treatment in the management of acute 

115 pain . The course may be offered in a distance learning format 

116 and must be included within the number of continuing education 

117 h ours required by law . The depar tment may not renew the license 

118 of any prescr i ber registered with the United States Drug 

119 Enforcement Administration to prescribe controlled substances 

120 that has failed to comp l ete the course . When required by this 

121 paragraph , the course shall be completed by January 31, 2019 , 

122 and at each subsequent renewal . 

123 (b) Each such licensee shall submit confirmation of having 

124 completed such course when applying for biennia l renewal. 

Page 5 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

125 (c) Each licensing boa r d that requires a l icensee to 

126 complete an educational course pursuant to this subsection may 

127 i nclude the hours required for comp l etion of the course in the 

128 total hours of continuing education required by l aw for such 

2018 

129 profession unless the continuing education requirements for such 

130 profession consist of fewer t han 30 hours biennially . 

131 (2) Each board may adopt ru l es to administer this section . 

132 Section 2 . Paragraph (gg) of subsect i on (1 ) of section 

133 456 . 072 , Florida Statutes , is amended to read : 

134 456 . 072 Grounds for d i scipline ; penalties ; enforcement . -

135 (1 ) The following acts shall const i tute grounds for which 

136 the disciplinary actions specified in subsection (2) may be 

137 taken : 

138 (gg) Engaging in a pattern of practice when prescribing 

139 med i cinal drugs or controlled substances which demonstrates a 

140 lack of reasonable skill or safety to patients , a violation of 

141 any provision of this chapter or ss . 893.055 and 893 . 0551 , a 

142 violation of the appl i cable practice act , or a v i olation o f any 

143 rules adopted under this chapter or the applicable practice act 

144 of the prescribing practitioner . Notwithstand i ng s . 456 . 073(13) , 

145 the department may init i ate an investigation and establish such 

146 a pattern from billing records , data , or any other informat i on 

147 obtained by the department. 

148 Section 3 . Paragraphs (a) through (g ) of subsection (1 ) of 

149 section 456.44 , Florida Statutes , are redesignated as paragraphs 

Page 6 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

150 (b) through (h) , respective ly, a new paragraph (a) is added to 

151 that subsection , subsection (3) is amended , and subsect i ons (4) 

152 and (5) are added t o that section , to read: 

153 456 . 44 Controlled substance prescribing.-

154 (1) DEFINITIONS.-As used in this section, the term : 

155 (a) "Acute pa i n " means the normal, predicted , 

156 physio l ogical, and time - limited response to an adverse chemical, 

157 thermal, or mechanical stimulus associated with surgery , trauma, 

158 or acute illness. 

15 9 ( 3) STANDARDS OF PRACTICE FOR TREATMENT OF CHRONIC 

160 NONMALI GNANT PAIN .-The s tandards of practice in this section do 

161 not supersede the level of care , skill , and treatment recognized 

162 in general law related to health care licensure. 

163 (a ) A complete medica l history and a physical examination 

164 must be conducted before beginning any treatment and must be 

165 documented in the medica l record. The exact components of the 

166 physical examination shall be left to the judgment of the 

167 registrant who is expect ed to perform a physical examination 

168 proportionate t o the diagnosis that justifies a treatment . The 

169 medical r ecord must, at a minimum, document the nature and 

170 intens ity of the pain, current and past treatments for pain, 

171 underlying or c oexisting diseases or condit i ons, the effect of 

17 2 the pain on physical and psycho l ogical function, a review of 

173 previou s medical records, previous diagnos ti c studies , and 

174 history of a l cohol and substance abuse . The medica l record shall 

Page 7 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

175 also document the presence of one or more recognized medical 

176 indications for the use of a controlled substance . Each 

177 registrant must develop a written plan for assessing each 

178 patient 's risk of aberrant drug- related behavior , which may 

179 include patient drug testing. Registrants must assess each 

180 patient ' s risk for aberrant drug- related behavior and monitor 

181 that risk on an ongoing basis in accordance with the plan . 

2018 

1 82 (b) Each registrant must develop a written individual ized 

183 treatment plan for each patient. The treatment plan shall state 

184 object ives that will be used to determine treatment success , 

185 such as pain relief and improved physical and psychosocial 

186 function , and shall indicate if any further diagnostic 

187 evaluations or other treatments are planned. After treatment 

188 begins , the registrant shall adjust drug therapy to the 

189 individual medical needs of each patient . Other treatment 

190 modalities , including a rehabilitation program , shall be 

191 considered depend ing on the etiology of the pain and the extent 

192 to which the pain is associated with physical and psychosoc i al 

193 impairment. The interdisciplinary nature of the treatment plan 

194 shall be documented . 

195 (c) The registrant shall discuss the risks and benefits of 

196 the use of controlled substances, including the risks of abuse 

197 and addiction , as well as physical dependence and its 

198 consequences , with the patient, persons designated by the 

199 patient, or the patient ' s surrogate or guardian if the patient 

Page 8 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 21 2018 

200 is incompetent. The registrant sha l l use a written controlled 

20 1 substance agreement between the registrant and the patient 

202 out l ining the patient ' s respons i bilities , including , but not 

203 limited to: 

204 1 . Number and fre quency of controlled substance 

205 prescriptions and refills . 

206 2 . Patient compliance and reasons for which drug therapy 

207 may be discontinued , such as a violation of the ag r eement. 

208 3 . An ag r eement that controlled subs t ances f or the 

209 treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain shall be prescribed by a 

2 10 singl e treating registrant unless otherwise author i zed by the 

211 treating registrant and documented in the medical record . 

212 (d) The patient shall be seen by the registrant at regu l ar 

2 13 intervals , not to exceed 3 months , to assess the efficacy of 

214 treatment , ensure that controlled substance therapy remains 

215 ind i cated , evaluate the patient ' s progress toward treatment 

216 ob jectives , cons i der adverse drug effects , and review the 

2 17 etiology of the pain . Continuat i on or modification of therapy 

218 shall depend on the registrant ' s evaluation of the patient ' s 

219 progress. If treatment goals are not being achieved , desp i te 

220 medication adjustments , the registrant sha l l reevaluate the 

221 appropriateness of continued treatment. The regist r ant shall 

222 monitor patient comp l i ance in medication usage , related 

223 treatment plans , controlled substance agreements , and 

224 indications of substance abuse or diversion at a minimum of 3-

Page 9 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

225 month intervals . 

226 (e) The registrant shall refer the patient as necessary 

227 for additional evaluation and treatment in order to achieve 

228 treatment objectives . Special attention shall be given to those 

229 patients who are at risk for misusing their medications and 

230 those whose living arrangements pose a risk for medication 

231 misuse or diversion . The management of pain in patients with a 

232 history of substance abuse or with a comorbid psychiatric 

233 disorder requires extra care , monitoring , and documentation and 

234 requires consultation with or referral to an addiction medicine 

235 specia l ist or a psychiatr i st . 

236 (f) A reg i strant must maintain accurate , current , and 

2 37 complete records that are accessible and readily available for 

238 review and comply with the requirements of this section , the 

239 applicable practice act , and applicable board rules . The medical 

240 records must include , but are not limited to : 

241 1. The complete medical history and a physical 

242 examination , including h i story of drug abuse or dependence . 

243 

24 4 

245 

2 . Diagnostic , therapeutic , and laboratory resu l ts . 

3 . Evaluations and consultations. 

4 . Treatment objectives . 

246 5 . Discussion o f risks and benefits . 

247 6 . Treatments. 

248 7 . Medications , inc l uding date, type , dosage , and quantity 

249 prescribed. 

Page 10 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

250 

251 

252 

2 53 

254 

255 

256 

257 

258 

259 

260 

261 

262 

263 

264 

2 65 

266 

267 

268 

269 

HB 21 

8 . Instructions and ag reements . 

9 . Periodic reviews. 

10. Results of any drug testing . 

11 . A photocopy o f the patient's government - issued photo 

identification . 

12 . If a written prescription for a controlled substance 

is given to the patient, a duplicate of the prescription. 

13. The registrant ' s fu ll name presented in a legible 

manner. 

2018 

(g) A registrant shall immediately refer patients with 

signs or symptoms of substance abuse to a board- certifi ed pain 

management physician, an addiction medicine specialist , or a 

mental health addiction facility as it pertains to drug abuse or 

addiction unless the registrant is a physician who is board

certified or board-eligible in pain management . Throughout the 

period of time before receiving the consultant' s report , a 

prescr ibing registrant shall clearly and completely document 

medical jus t ification for continued treatment with controlled 

substances and those steps taken to ensure medically appropriate 

use of controlled substances by the patient. Upon receipt of the 

270 consultant 's written report , the prescribing registrant shal l 

271 incorporate the consultant ' s recommendations for continuing , 

272 modifying , or discontinuing cont r olled substance therapy . The 

273 resulting changes in treatment shall be specifically documented 

274 in the patient ' s medical record. Evidence or behaviora l 

Page 11 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

275 indications of diversion shal l be f o llowed by d i scont inuat i on of 

276 controlled substance therapy , and the patient shall be 

277 discharged , and a ll result s o f testing and actions taken by the 

278 reg i s trant shall be documented in the patient's medical record . 

279 

280 Thi s subsection does not app l y to a board- eligible or board-

281 certified anes thesiologist, physiatrist , rheumatologist, o r 

282 neurologist , o r to a board- certi fied physician who has surgical 

283 privileges at a hospital or ambulatory surgery center and 

284 primaril y provides surgical services . This subsection does not 

285 apply t o a board- eligible or board- certified medical specialist 

286 who has also completed a fellowship in pain medicine approved by 

287 the Accreditation Counci l for Graduate Medical Educat ion or the 

288 Amer i can Osteopath i c Association , or who is board eligible or 

289 board cert ified in pain medicine by the American Board of Pain 

290 Med i c ine , the American Board of I nterventional Pain Physicians , 

291 the American Assoc i ation of Physician Specialists , or a board 

292 approved by the American Boa rd of Medical Specialties or t he 

293 American Osteopathic Association and performs interventional 

294 pain procedures o f the t ype r outinely billed using surgica l 

295 codes . This subsection does not apply to a regis trant who 

296 prescribes medically necessary controlled substances for a 

297 patient during an inpatient s t ay in a hospital licensed under 

298 chapter 395. 

Page 12 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

299 

300 

301 

302 

303 

304 

305 

306 

307 

308 

309 

310 

311 

312 

313 

314 

315 

316 

317 

318 

319 

320 

HB 21 2018 

(4) STANDARDS OF PRACTICE FOR TREATMENT OF ACUTE PAI N.-The 

department shall adopt rules establishing guidelines for 

prescribing controlled substances for acute pain , including 

evaluation of t he patient , creation of a treatment plan , 

obtaining informed cons ent and agreement for treatment , periodic 

review of the treatment p l an , consultation , medical record 

review , and compliance with controlled substance laws and 

regulations . Failure of a prescriber to follow such guidelines 

constitutes grounds for disciplinary action pursuant to s. 

456 . 072 (1) (gg) , punishable as provided ins. 456 . 072 (2) . 

(5) PRESCRIPTION SUPPLY .-

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b) , a prescription 

for a Schedule II opioid , as defined in s. 893 . 03 or 21 U.S . C. 

s. 812 , for the treatment o f acute pain must not exceed a 3- day 

supply. 

(b) An up to 7- day supply of an opioid described in 

paragraph (a) may be prescribed if : 

1 . The practitioner , in his or her professional judgment , 

believes that more than a 3- day supply of such an opioid is 

medically necessary to treat the patient ' s pain as an acute 

medical condition . 

2. The practitioner indicates "MEDICALLY NECESSARY " on the 

321 prescription. 

322 3 . Th e prescriber adequately documents in the patient ' s 

323 medica l records the acute medical condition and lack of 

Page 13 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

324 alternative treatment opt i ons that justify deviation from the 3-

325 day supply limit establ i shed in this subsection . 

326 Section 4 . Effective January 1 , 2019 , subsections (2) 

327 through (5) of section 458 . 3265 , Florida Statutes , are 

328 renumbered as subsections (3) through (6) , respective ly, 

329 paragraphs (a) and (g) of subsection (1) , paragraph (a) of 

330 present s ubsection (2) , paragraph (a) of present subsection (3) , 

331 and paragraph (a) o f present subsection (4) are amended , and a 

332 new subsection (2) i s added to that section , to read : 

333 458 . 3265 Pain- management clinics.-

334 (1 ) REGISTRATION .-

335 (a) 1. As used in this section , the term: 

336 a . "Board eligible " means successful completion of an 

337 anesthesia , physical medicine and rehabilitation , rheumatology , 

338 o r neurology residency program approved by the Accreditation 

339 Counci l for Graduate Medical Education or the American 

340 Osteopathic Association f or a period of 6 years from successful 

341 completion of such res idency program . 

342 b. "Chronic nonmalignant pain " means pain unrelated to 

343 cancer which persists beyond the usual course of disease or the 

34 4 injury that is the cause of the pain or more than 90 days after 

345 surgery . 

346 c . " Pain- management clin i c " or " clinic " means any publicly 

347 or privately owned facility : 

348 (I) That advertises in any medium for any type of pain-

Page 14 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

349 management services; or 

350 (II) Where in any month a majority of patients are 

35 1 prescribed opioids , benzodiazepines , barbiturates , or 

352 carisoprodol for the treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain . 

353 2 . Each pain-management c linic must register with the 

354 department or hold a va lid certificate of exemption pursuant to 

355 subsection (2) . unless : 

356 3 . The following cl i n i cs are exempt from the registration 

357 requirement of paragraph s (c) - (m) , and must apply to the 

358 department for a certificate of exemption : 

359 a. A ~ c linic ±5 licensed as a facili ty pursuant to 

360 chapter 395 ; 

361 b . A clinic in which the majority of the physicians who 

362 provide services in the clinic pr imari ly provide s urgi ca l 

3 63 services ; 

364 c . A ~ clinic ±5 owned by a publicly he l d corporat i on 

365 whose shares are traded on a national exchange or on the over -

366 t he - counter market and whose total assets at the end of the 

367 corporation ' s most recent fiscal quarter exceeded $50 million ; 

368 d. A ~ clinic ±5 a ffili ated with an accredited medica l 

369 school at which training is provided for medical students , 

370 residents , or fellows; 

371 e. A ~ c lini c that does not prescribe controlled 

372 substances for the treatment of pain ; 

373 f . A~ cl ini c ±5 owned by a corporate entity exempt from 

Page 15 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

374 federal taxation under 26 U. S . C. s . 501 (c) (3) ; 

375 g . ~ ~ clinic ±5 wholly owned and operated by one or 

376 more board- eligible or board-certified anesthesiologists , 

377 physiatrists, rheumato l ogist s , or neurologists; or 

378 h. A ~ c linic ±5 wholly owned and operated by a 

379 physician multispec i a lty practice where one or more board-

380 eligible or board- cert ified medical specialists , who have also 

38 1 completed fellowships in pain medi cine approved by the 

2018 

382 Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education or who are 

383 also board- certified in pain medicine by the American Board of 

384 Pain Medi cine or a board approved by the Ameri can Board of 

385 Medica l Specialties, the American Association of Physician 

386 Specialists , or the American Osteopathic Association , perform 

387 interventional pain procedures of the type routinely billed 

388 using surgical codes . 

389 (g) The department may revoke the clinic ' s certificate o f 

390 registration and prohibi t all physicians associated wit h t hat 

391 pain- management clinic from practicing at that clinic l ocation 

392 based upon an annua l i nspecti on and evaluation of the factors 

393 described in subsection ( 4) -f-3+. 

394 (2) CERTIFICATE OF EXEMPTI ON .-

395 (a) A pain management clinic c l aiming an exemption from 

396 the registration requirements of subsection (1) , must apply for 

397 a ce rtifi cate of exemption on a form adopted in rule by the 

398 department . The form shall require the applicant to provide : 

Page 16 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

399 1 . The name or names under which the applicant does 

400 business. 

401 2 . The address at which the pain management clinic is 

402 located . 

403 3. The specific exemption the applicant is claiming with 

404 supporting documentation . 

405 4 . Any other information deemed necessary by the 

406 department . 

407 (b) Within 30 days after the receipt of a complete 

408 application , the department must approve or deny the 

409 appl icat ion . 

410 (c) The certificate of exemption must be renewed 

41 1 biennially , except that the department may issue the initial 

412 certificates of exemption for up to 3 years in order to stagger 

413 renewal dates . 

414 (d) A certi fi cateholder must prominently display the 

415 certificate of exemption and make it available to the depa rtment 

416 or the board upon request . 

417 (e) A certificate of exemption is not movable or 

418 transferable. A cert ificate of exemption is valid only fo r the 

419 applicant , qualifying owners , licenses , reg i strations , 

420 certif ications , and services provided under a specific statutory 

421 exempt i on and is val id only to the speci fi c exemption claimed 

422 and g r anted . 

423 (f) A certif i cateholder must notify the department at 

Page 17 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 2018 

424 least 60 days before any anticipated relocation or name change 

425 of the pain management clinic or a change of ownership . 

426 

427 

428 

429 

430 

431 

432 

433 

434 

435 

436 

437 

438 

439 

440 

441 

442 

443 

444 

445 

446 

447 

44 8 

(g) If a pain management clinic no l onger qualifies for a 

certificate of exempt ion, the cert ificateho l der must immediately 

notify the department and register as a pain management c linic 

under subsection (1) . 

(3)~ PHYSICIAN RESPONSIBILITI ES .-These responsibilities 

app l y to any physician who provides professional services in a 

pain-management cl ini c that i s required to be registered in 

subsection (1) . 

(a) A physician may not practice med i cine in a pain

management clinic , as described in subsection ~+4+, if the 

pain- management clinic is not registered wi th the department as 

required by this section. Any physician who qualifies to 

practice medicine in a pain- management clini c pursuant to rules 

adopted by the Board of Medicine as of July 1 , 2012 , may 

continue to practice medicine in a pain- management clinic as 

l ong as the physician continues to meet the qualifications set 

forth in the board rules . A physician who v i olates this 

paragraph is subject to disciplinary action by his or her 

appropriate medical regulatory board . 

Jil+37 INSPECTION .-

(a) The department shall inspect the pain- management 

clinic annually , including a review of the patient records , to 

ensure that it complies with this section and the rules of the 

Page18of114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

4 4 9 Board of Medicine adopted pursuant to subsection ill-+4+ unless 

450 the clinic is accredited by a nationally recognized accrediting 

451 agency approved by the Board of Medicine. 

452 (5)-+4+ RULEMAKING .-

453 (a) The department shall adopt rules necessary to 

454 administer the registrat i on , exempt i on , and inspection of pain-

455 management clinics which establish the specific requirements , 

456 procedures, forms, and fees . 

457 Section 5 . Effective January 1 , 2019, subsections (2) 

45 8 through (5) of section 459 . 0137 , Florida Statutes, are 

459 renumbered as subsections (3) through (6) , respectively, 

460 paragraphs (a) and (g) of subsection (1) , paragraph (a) of 

461 present subsection (2) , paragraph (a) of present subsection (3) , 

462 and paragraph (a) of present subsection (4) are amended , and a 

463 new subsection (2) is added to that section , to read : 

464 459 . 0137 Pain- management cl inics . -

465 (1) REGISTRATION .-

466 (a)1 . As used in this section , the term : 

4 67 a . "Board eligible " means successful comp l etion of an 

468 anesthesia, physical medicine and rehabilitation, rheumatology, 

469 or neurology residency program approved by the Accreditation 

470 Council for Graduat e Medical Education or the American 

471 Osteopathic Association for a period of 6 years from successful 

472 completion of such residency program. 

473 b. " Chronic nonmalignant pain" means pain unrelated to 

Page 19 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

474 cancer which persists beyond the usual course of disease or the 

475 injury that is the cause of the pain or more than 90 days after 

4 7 6 surgery . 

477 c . " Pain- management clinic " or "clinic " means any publi c l y 

478 or privately owned fac ility: 

479 (I) That advertises i n any medium for any type of pain-

480 management services ; or 

481 (II) Where in any month a major it y of patients are 

482 prescribed opioids , benzodiazepines , barbiturates , or 

483 carisoprodol for the treatment of chronic nonmalignant pain . 

48 4 2. Each pain-management cl ini c must r egiste r wi th the 

485 department or hold a valid certi ficate of exemption pursuant to 

486 subsection (2) . unless : 

487 3 . The following clinics are exempt from the registration 

488 requirement of paragraphs (c) - (m), and must apply t o the 

489 department for a certif i cate of exemption : 

490 a . A ~ cl inic ±5 licensed as a facility pursuant to 

491 chapter 395 ; 

492 b . A clinic in wh i ch the majority of the phys i cian s who 

493 provide services in the c lini c primarily provide surgica l 

4 94 servi ces ; 

495 c. A ~ clinic ±5 owned by a publicly h e ld corporation 

496 whose shares are traded on a national exchange or on the over -

497 the - counter market and whose total asset s at the end of the 

498 corporati on ' s most recent fisca l quarter exceeded $50 million ; 

Page 20 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

499 d. A ~ clinic ±& affiliated with an accredited medical 

500 school at which training is provided for medical students , 

501 residents , or fellows; 

502 e . A~ clinic that does not prescribe controlled 

503 substances for the trea tment of pain; 

504 f . A~ clinic±& owned by a corporate entity exempt from 

505 federal taxation under 26 U. S . C. s. 501 (c) (3) ; 

506 g . ~~clinic ±&wholly owned and operated by one or 

507 more board- eligible or board- certified anesthesiologists , 

508 physiatrists , rheumatologists , or neurologists ; or 

509 h. A ~ clinic ±& wholly owned and operated by a 

510 physician multispecialty practice where one or more board-

511 eligible or board- certified medical specialists , who have also 

512 completed fellowships in pain medicine approved by the 

513 Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education or the 

514 American Osteopathic Association or who are also board-certified 

515 in pain medicine by the American Board of Pain Medicine or a 

516 board approved by the American Board of Medical Specialties, the 

517 American Association of Physician Specialists, or the American 

518 Osteopathi c Association , perform interventional pain procedures 

519 of the type routine l y billed using surgical codes . 

520 (g) The depar tment may revoke the clinic ' s cert ifi cate of 

521 registration and prohibit all physicians associated with that 

522 pain-management clinic from practicing at that clinic l ocation 

523 based upon an annual inspection and evaluation of the factors 

Page 21 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

524 described in subsection (4)~ . 

525 (2) CERTIFICATE OF EXEMPTION.-

526 (a) A pain management clini c claiming an exemption from 

527 the registration requirements of subsection (1), must apply for 

528 a certificate of exemption on a form adopted in rule by the 

529 department. The form shall require the applicant to provide: 

530 1. The name or names under which the applicant does 

531 business. 

532 2. The address at which the pain management clinic is 

533 located. 

534 3. The specific exemption the applicant is claiming with 

535 supporting documentation . 

536 4. Any other information deemed necessary by the 

537 department. 

538 (b) Within 30 days after the receipt of a complete 

539 application, the department must approve or deny the 

540 application . 

541 (c) The certificate of exemption must be renewed 

542 biennially, except that the department may issue the initial 

543 certificates of exemption for up to 3 years in order to stagger 

544 renewal dates. 

545 (d) A certificateholder must prominently display the 

546 certificate of exemption and make it available to the department 

547 or the board upon request . 

548 (e) A certificate of exemption is not movable or 

Page 22 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 

549 transferable . A certificate of exemption is valid only for the 

550 applicant , qualifying owners , licenses , registrations , 

2018 

551 certifications , and se rvices provided under a specific statutory 

552 exemption and i s valid only to the specific exemption cla imed 

553 and granted . 

554 (f) A certificateholder must notify the department at 

555 least 60 days before any anticipa t ed re l ocation or name change 

556 of the pain management clinic o r a change of ownership. 

557 (g) If a pain management clinic no longer qualif ies for a 

558 cert ificate of exemption , the certificateholder must immediately 

559 notify the department and register as a pain management clinic 

5 60 under subsection ( 1) . 

561 (3)~ PHYSICIAN RESPONSIBILITIES .-These responsibilities 

562 apply to any osteopathic physician who provides professional 

563 services in a pain-management clinic that is required to be 

564 registered in subsection (1) . 

565 (a) An osteopathic physician may not practice medic ine in 

566 a pain- management c linic , as described in subsection J2l+4+, if 

567 the pain- management cl inic is not registered with the depa rtment 

568 as required by this section. Any physician who qualifies to 

569 pract ice medicine in a pain-management clinic pursuant to rules 

570 adopted by the Board of Osteopathic Medicine as of July 1 , 2012 , 

571 may continue to practice medicine in a pain- management clinic as 

572 long as the physician continues to meet the qualifications set 

573 forth in the board rules . An osteopathic physician who violates 

Page 23 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

574 this paragraph is subject to disciplinary action by his or her 

575 appropriate medical regulatory board. 

576 (4)+3+ INSPECTION .-

577 (a) The department shall inspect the pain- management 

578 c l inic annually , including a review of the patient records , to 

579 ensure that it complies with this sect i on and the rules of the 

580 Board of Osteopathic Medic i ne adopted pursuant to subsection 

581 ~+4+ unless the clinic is accredited by a nationally 

582 recognized accrediting agency approved by the Board of 

583 Osteopathic Medicine . 

584 ~+4+ RULEMAKING . -

585 (a) Th e department shall adopt rules necessary to 

2018 

586 administer the registration , exemption , and inspection of pain-

587 management c linics which establish the specific requirements , 

588 procedures , forms , and fees. 

589 Section 6 . Section 465 . 0155 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

590 to read: 

59 1 465 . 0155 Standards of practice . -

592 Jll Cons i stent with the provisions of this act , the board 

593 shall adopt by rule standards of practice relating to the 

594 practice of pharmacy which shal l be binding on every state 

595 agency and shall be applied by such agenc i es when enforcing o r 

596 implementing any authority granted by any applicable statute , 

597 

598 

rule , or regulation , whether federal or state . 

(2) (a) Before dispensing a controlled substance to a 

Page 24 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 2018 

599 person not known to the pharmacist , the pharmacist must require 

600 the person purchasing , r eceiving , or otherwise acquiring the 

601 controlled substance to present valid photographic 

602 identification or other verification of his or her iden t ity . If 

603 the person does not have proper identification , the pharmac i st 

604 may verify the validity of the prescription and the identity of 

605 the patient with the prescriber or hi s or her authorized agen t . 

606 Verification of health plan eligibility through a rea l -time 

607 inquiry or adjudication system is considered to be proper 

608 identification . 

609 (b) This subsection does not apply in an institutiona l 

61 0 setting or to a long-term care facility , inc luding , but not 

611 limited to , an assisted living facility or a hospital to which 

612 patients are admitted . 

613 (c) As used in this subsection , the term "proper 

614 identificat i on " means an identification that is issued by a 

615 state or the Federal Government containing the person ' s 

616 photograph , printed name , and signature or a document cons i dered 

617 acceptable under 8 C. F . R. s . 274a . 2 (b ) (1) (v) (A) and (B) . 

618 Section 7 . Paragraph (d) is added to subsection (2) of 

619 section 465 . 0276 , Florida Statutes , to read : 

620 465 . 0276 Dispensing practitioner.-

621 (2) A practitioner who dispenses medicinal drugs for human 

622 consumption for fee or remuneration of any kind , whether d i rect 

623 or indirect , must : 

Page 25 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

624 (d) 1. Before dispensing a controlled substance to a person 

625 not known to the dispenser , require the person purchasing , 

626 receiving , or otherwi se acquiring the controlled substance to 

627 present valid photographic identification or other ver ification 

628 of his or her ide ntity. I f the person does not have prope r 

629 identification , the dispenser may verify the valid i ty of the 

630 prescription and the identity of the patient with the prescr i ber 

631 or his or her authorized agent . Verification of hea l th plan 

632 eligibility through a real - time inquiry or adjudication system 

633 is cons idered to be proper identification . 

634 2. This paragraph does not app l y in an institutional 

635 setting or to a long- term care facility , inc l uding , but not 

636 limited to , an assisted living facility or a hospital to which 

637 patients are admitted . 

638 3 . As used in this paragraph , the term "proper 

639 identification " means an i dent ification that is issued by a 

640 state or the Federal Government containing the person ' s 

641 photograph , pr inted name , and signature or a document cons idered 

642 acceptable under 8 C. F . R. s . 274a . 2 (b) (1) (v) (A) and (B) . 

64 3 Section 8. Subsections ( 2) , ( 3) , ( 4) , and ( 5) of section 

644 893 . 03 , Florida Statutes , are amended to read : 

645 893 . 03 Standards and schedul es . -The substances enumerated 

646 in this section are controlled by this chapter. The controlled 

647 substances listed or to be listed in Schedul es I , II, III , IV , 

648 and V are included by whatever official , common , usual , 

Page 26 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 2018 

649 chemical , trade name , or class designated . The provisions of 

650 thi s section shall no t be cons trued to include within any of the 

651 schedules contained in this section any excluded drugs listed 

652 within the purview of 21 C.F. R. s . 1308.22 , styled "Excluded 

653 Substances "; 21 C. F . R. s. 1308 . 24 , styled " Exempt Chemical 

654 Preparation s "; 21 C. F . R. s. 1308 . 32 , styled "Exempted 

655 Prescription Products "; or 21 C.F. R. s . 1308.34, styled "Exempt 

65 6 Anaboli c Steroid Products. " 

657 (2) SCHEDULE II .-A substance in Schedule II has a high 

658 potential for abuse and has a currently accepted but severe l y 

659 restr icted medical use in treatment in the United States , and 

660 abuse of the substance may lead to severe psychological or 

661 physical dependence . The following substances are controlled in 

662 Schedule II: 

663 (a) Unless specifically excepted or unless listed in 

664 another schedule , any of the following substances , whether 

665 produced directly or indirectly by extraction from substances of 

666 vegetable orig in or independently by means of chemi cal 

667 synthesis : 

668 1 . Opium and any salt , compound , derivative , or 

669 preparation of opium , except na l mefene or isoquinoline alkalo i ds 

670 of opium, including , but not limited to the following : 

671 a. Raw opium. 

672 

673 

b . Opium extracts . 

c . Opium fluid extracts . 

Page 27 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

674 

675 

676 

67 7 

678 

679 

680 

681 

682 

683 

HB 21 

d . 

e . 

f. 

g . 

h . 

i . k 

i.:_h 

~j-;

l.h 

m. h 

Powdered opium . 

Granulated opium. 

Tincture o f op i um . 

Code i ne . 

Dihyd r oetorphi n e . 

Ethylmorphine. 

Etorphine hydrochloride . 

Hydrocodone and hydrocodone combination products . 

Hydromorphon e . 

Levo- a l phacetylmethadol (also known as levo - a lpha -

684 acetylmethadol, l evomethadyl acetate, o r LAAM) 

685 n.ffi7 Metopon (methyldihyd r omorphinone ) 

686 

687 

688 

689 

o . &:- Mo rphine . 

p . Oripavi ne . 

.9_:_&7 Oxycodone . 

~~ Oxymorphone . 

690 ~~ Thebaine . 

69 1 2 . Any sal t , compound , derivat i ve , or preparati on o f a 

692 substance which is chemi cally equivalent t o or identica l with 

693 any of the substances re ferred to in subparagraph 1 . , except 

694 that these substances shall not include the isoqu inoline 

695 alkaloids of op ium. 

696 3 . An y part of the plant o f the species Papaver 

697 somniferum, L. 

698 4 . Co caine o r ecgonine , including any o f their 

Page 28 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2018 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB 21 2018 

699 stereoisomers , and any salt , compound , derivative, or 

700 preparation of cocaine or ecgonine , except that these substances 

70 1 shall not include ioflupane I 123 . 

702 (b) Unless specifica l ly excepted or unless listed in 

703 another schedule , any of the following substances , including 

704 their isomers , esters , ethers , salts , and salts of isomers , 

705 esters , and ethers, whenever the existence of such isomers , 

706 esters , ethers , and salts is possible within the specific 

707 chemical designation : 

708 

709 

710 

711 

712 

713 

714 

715 

716 

717 

718 

719 

720 

721 

722 

1. 

2 . 

3 . 

4 . 

5 . 

6 . 

7 . 

8 . 

9 . 

10 . 

11. 

12 . 

13 . 

14 . 

15 . 

Alfentanil . 

Alphaprodine . 

Anileridine . 

Bezitramide . 

Bulk propoxyphene (nondosage forms) . 

Carfentanil . 

Dihydrocodeine . 

Diphenoxyl ate. 

Fentanyl . 

Isomethadone . 

Levomethorphan . 

Levorphanol. 

Metazocine . 

Methadone . 

Methadone- Intermediate , 4- cyano- 2-

723 dimethylamino- 4 , 4- d i phen y l butane . 

Page 29 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 2018 

724 16. Moramide - Intermediate , 2- methy1 -

725 3- morpholoino- 1 ,1-diphenylpropane- carboxylic ac id. 

726 17. Nabilone . 

727 18 . Pethidine (meperidine) . 

728 19 . Pethidine-Intermediate - A, 4- cyano- 1-

729 methyl - 4- phenylpiper idine. 

730 20 . Pethidine - Intermediate - B, ethyl - 4-

731 phenylpiperidine- 4- carboxylate . 

732 21 . Pethidine - Intermediate - C,1-methyl - 4- phenylpiperidine -

733 4- carboxylic acid . 

734 22. Phenazocine. 

735 23. Phencyclidine . 

736 24. 1 - Phenylcyclohexylamine . 

737 

738 

739 

740 

741 

742 

743 

744 

745 

25 . Piminodine . 

26 . 1 - Piperidinocyclohexanecarbonitrile . 

27 . Racemethorphan . 

28 . Racemorphan. 

29 . Remifentanil. 

30 .~ Sufentanil. 

31 . Tapentadol . 

32 . Thiafentanil . 

(c) Unless specifically excepted or unless l isted in 

746 anothe r schedule , any material , compound, mixture , or 

747 prepara tion which conta ins any quantity of the following 

748 substances, including their salts , isomers, optical isomers , 

Page 30 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

749 salt s of their isomers , and salts of their optical isomers : 

750 1 . Amobarbital . 

751 2 . Amphetamine . 

752 3 . Glutethimide . 

753 

754 

755 

756 

757 

758 

4 . 

5 . 4-,-

6 . .§--;-

7 . .fr.--

8 . +-,-

9 . .g., 

Lisdexamfetamine. 

Methamphetamine. 

Methylphenidate. 

Pentobarbital . 

Phenmetrazine . 

Phenylacetone . 

759 10 .~ Secobarbital . 

2018 

760 (d) Dronabinol (synthetic THC) in oral solution in a drug 

761 product approved by the United States Food and Drug 

762 Administration. 

763 (3) SCHEDULE III . -A substance in Schedule I II h as a 

764 potential for abuse less than the substances contained in 

765 Schedu l es I and II a nd has a currently accepted medical use in 

76 6 treatment in the United States , and abuse of the substance ma y 

767 lead to moderate or low physical dependence or high 

768 psychological dependence or , in the case of anabolic steroids , 

769 may l ead to physical damage . The fo l lowing substances are 

770 controlled in Schedule III : 

771 (a) Unless specifica l ly excepted o r un less li sted in 

772 another schedule, any material , compound, mixture , or 

773 prepar ation which contains any quantity of the following 

Page 31 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 

774 substan ces having a depressant or stimulant effect on the 

775 nervous system : 

776 1 . Any substance which contains any quantity of a 

2018 

777 derivative of barbituric acid , including thiobarbituri c acid , or 

77 8 any salt of a der ivat ive of barbituric acid or thiobarbituric 

779 acid, inc luding , but not limited to , butabarbital and 

780 butalbital . 

781 

782 

783 

784 

785 

786 

787 

788 

789 

790 

791 

792 

793 

794 

795 

796 

797 

2 . Benzphetamine . 

3 . Buprenorphine . 

4 .~ Chlorhexadol. 

5.~ Chlorphentermine. 

6 .~ Clortermine . 

7 . Embutramide . 

8 . -6--,- Lysergic acid . 

9 .h Lysergic acid amide . 

10 .-8--.- Methypryl on . 

11. Perampanel . 

12 .-9--.- Phendimetrazine. 

1 3 .~ Sulfondiethylmethane . 

14.±±. Sulfonethylmethane . 

15.~ Sulfonmethane . 

16 .~ Tiletamine and zolazepam or any salt thereof . 

(b) Nalorphine. 

(c) Unless specif i cally excepted o r un less li sted in 

798 anothe r schedu l e , a ny material, compound , mixture , or 

Page 32 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

799 preparation containing limited quantities of any of the 

800 following controlled substances o r any sa l ts thereof : 

2018 

801 1 . Not more than 1 . 8 grams of code i ne per 100 milliliters 

802 or not more than 90 milligrams per dosage unit , with an equal or 

803 greater quantity of an i soquinoline alkaloid of opium. 

804 2 . Not more than 1 . 8 grams of codeine per 100 milliliters 

805 or not more than 90 milligrams per dosage unit , with recognized 

806 therapeutic amounts of one or more act i ve ingredients which are 

807 not controlled substances . 

808 3 . Not more than 300 milligrams of hydrocodone per 100 

809 mil lili ters or not more than 15 milligrams per dosage unit , with 

810 a fourfold or greater quantity of an isoquinoline alkaloid of 

811 opium . 

812 4 . Not more than 300 mill i grams of hydrocodone per 100 

813 millil i ters or not more than 15 milligrams per dosage unit , with 

814 recognized therapeutic amounts of one or more active ingredients 

815 that are not controlled substances . 

816 5 . Not more than 1. 8 grams of dihydrocodeine per 100 

817 millil i ters -or not more than 90 milligrams per dosage unit , with 

818 recognized therapeutic amounts of one or more active ingredients 

819 which are not controlled substances . 

820 6 . Not more than 300 milligrams of ethylmorph i ne per 100 

821 milli li ters or not more than 15 milligrams per dosage unit , with 

822 one o r more active , nonnarcot i c ingredients in recognized 

823 therapeutic amounts . 

Page 33 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 21 

824 7. Not more than 50 milligrams of morphine per 100 

825 mi l liliters or per 100 grams , with recogn i zed therapeutic 

826 amounts of one or more active ingredients which are not 

827 controlled substances. 

828 

201 8 

829 For purposes of charging a person with a violation of s. 893 . 135 

830 invo l ving any controlled substance described in subparagraph 3 . 

831 or subparagraph 4. , the controlled substance is a Schedule III 

832 controlled substance pursuant to this paragraph but the weight 

833 of the controlled substance per milliliters or per dosage unit 

834 is not re l evant to the charging of a vio l ation of s. 893 . 135 . 

835 The weight of the controlled substance shall be determined 

836 pursuant to s . 893 . 135(6 ) . 

(d) Anabolic steroids . 837 

838 1. The term "anabolic steroid " means any drug or hormonal 

839 substance , chemicall y and pharmacologically related to 

840 tes t osterone, other than estrogens , progestins, and 

841 corticosteroids , t hat promotes muscle growth and i nc l udes : 

842 

843 

844 

845 

846 

847 

848 

a. Androsterone. 

b. Androsterone acetate. 

c . Boldenone. 

d. Boldenone acetate. 

e. Boldenone benzoa t e . 

f. Boldenone undecylenate. 

g. Chlorotestosterone ( Clostebol) . 

Page 34 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

849 

850 

851 

852 

853 

854 

855 

856 

857 

858 

859 

860 

861 

862 

8 63 

8 64 

865 

866 

867 

868 

869 

870 

871 

872 

873 

HB 21 

h. Dehydrochlormethyltestosterone . 

i . Dihydrotestosterone (Stanolone) . 

j . Drostanolone . 

k. Ethylestrenol . 

1 . Fluoxymesterone . 

m. Formebulone (Formebolone) . 

n . Mesterolone . 

o . Methandrosteno l one (Methandienone) . 

p. Methandranone . 

q. Methandrio l. 

r. Methenolone . 

s . Methyltestos terone . 

t . Mibolerone . 

u . Nortestosterone (Nandrolone ) . 

v . Norethandro l o n e . 

w. Nortestosterone decanoate . 

x . Nortestosterone phenylpropionate . 

y . Nor testosterone propionate . 

z . Oxandrolone . 

aa . Oxymeste r one . 

bb . Oxymetholone. 

cc . Stanozolol. 

dd . Testolactone . 

ee. Testosterone . 

ff . Testosterone acetate . 

Page 35 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2018 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB21 2018 

87 4 gg . Testosterone benzoate . 

875 hh . Testosterone cypionate . 

876 ii . Testosterone decanoate . 

877 jj . Testosterone enanthate . 

878 kk . Testosterone i socaproate . 

879 11. Testosterone o l eate . 

880 nun . Testosterone phenylpropionate. 

881 nn . Testosterone propionate . 

882 00 . Testosterone undecanoate . 

pp . Trenbo l one . 883 

884 

885 

qq. Trenbo l one acetate . 

r r. Any salt, ester , or isomer of a drug or substance 

886 described or listed in this subparagraph if that salt , ester , or 

887 isomer promotes musc l e growth . 

888 2 . The term does not include an anabol i c steroid that is 

889 express l y intended for administrat i on through implants to cattle 

890 or other nonhuman spec i es and that has been approved by the 

891 United States Secretary of Health and Human Servi ces for such 

892 administration . However , any person who prescribes , dispenses , 

893 or distributes such a steroid for human use is considered to 

894 have prescribed , dispensed , or distributed an anabolic steroid 

895 within the meaning of this paragraph . 

896 (e) Ketamine , including any isomers , esters , e t hers , 

897 sa l ts , and salts of isomers , esters , and ethers , whenever the 

898 existence of such isomers , esters , ethers , and salts is possible 

Page 36 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

899 within the specific chemi cal designation . 

900 (f) Dronabinol (synthetic THC) in sesame oil and 

901 encapsulated in a soft gelatin capsule in a drug product 

902 approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration . 

2018 

903 (g) Any drug product containing gamma - hyd r oxybutyric acid , 

904 including its salts , isomers , and salts of isomers , for wh i ch an 

905 application is approved unde r s . 505 of the Federal Food , Drug , 

906 and Cosmetic Act . 

907 ( 4) (a) SCHEDULE IV .-A substance in Schedule IV has a low 

908 potential for abuse relative to the substances in Schedule III 

909 and has a c u rrently accepted medical use in treatment in the 

910 United States , and abuse of the substance may lead to limited 

911 physica l or psychologi cal dependence relative to the substances 

912 in Schedu l e III . 

913 (b) Unless specifically excepted or unless listed in 

914 another schedule , any material , compound , mixture , or 

91 5 preparation which contains any quantity of the following 

916 substances , inc l uding its salts , isomers , and salts of i somers 

917 whenever the exis t ence of such salts , isomers , and sa lt s of 

918 i somers is possible within the spec i fic chemical designation , 

919 are controlled in Schedule I V: 

920 1. Alfaxalone . 

921 2 . +a+ Alprazolam . 

922 3.+6+ Barbital . 

923 4 . +et Bromazepam . 

Page 37 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

924 

925 

926 

927 

928 

929 

930 

93 1 

932 

933 

934 

935 

936 

937 

938 

939 

940 

941 

942 

943 

944 

945 

946 

947 

948 

HB 21 

5 . (iii) 

6 .+a+ 

2...:_ (jjj) 

8 . -+e+-

Butorphanol tartrate . 

Camazepam . 

Carisoprodol. 

Cathine . 

Chloral betaine. 

Chloral hydrate. 

11 .-f-B+ 

12 . -f-i+ 

13.-tj+ 

14 ·+*+-
15 .+±+ 

1 6 . --\-ffi-1-

Chlordiazepoxide . 

Clobazam . 

Clonazepam. 

Cl orazepate . 

Clotiazepam . 

Cloxazolam . 

17 . Dexfenfluramine . 

18.~ Delorazepam. 

19 . Dichloralphenazone . 

20 .~ Dia zepam . 

21 .~ Diethylpropion. 

22 . Eluxadoline. 

23 .+rt Estazolam . 

24. Eszopiclone . 

25 . +&t Ethchlorvynol . 

~+t+ Ethinamate . 

27 .~ Ethyl loflazepate . 

28.~ Fencamfamin . 

29 .+wt Fenfluramine. 

Page 38 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2018 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTAT I VES 

HB 21 2018 

949 30 ·+*+- Fenpropo r ex . 

950 31.-f-yt Fludiazepam . 

951 32 .-trt- Flurazepam . 

952 33 . Fospropofo l . 

953 34 .+a-a+ Halazepam. 

954 35 .-fBB+ Haloxazo l am. 

955 36 .-teet Ketazolam . 

956 3 7 . --f-El-t=B- Loprazolam. 

957 38 . -fee+ Lorazepam . 

958 39 . Lorcaseri n . 

959 40 . -f-H+ Lormetazepam. 

960 il.:_~ Mazindol . 

961 4 2 . -f-fi-fi+ Mebutamate. 

962 43 .-+±-±-+- Medazepam . 

963 ~-+1-B- Mefenorex . 

964 4 5 . --f-*-*+ Meprobamate . 

965 46 . -f-H+ Methohexital . 

966 4 7 .-f-mm-1- Methyl phen obarbital . 

967 4 8 . -f-fH=t+ Midazolam . 

968 49 . Modafinil . 

969 50 . -f-ee+ Nimetazepam. 

970 51 .~ Ni trazepam . 

971 52 .+=w+- Nordiazepam . 

972 53 .-trrt Oxazepam . 

973 54 .+s-s+ Oxazo l am . 

Page 39 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

974 

975 

976 

977 

978 

979 

980 

98 1 

982 

983 

984 

985 

986 

987 

988 

989 

990 

991 

992 

993 

994 

995 

996 

997 

998 

HB 21 

55.+tt+ Paraldehyde. 

56.~ Pemoline . 

57.~ Pentazocine . 

58 . Petrichloral. 

59.+ww+ Phenobarbita l. 

Phentermine . 

Pinazepam. 

Pipradrol. 

63 . (aaa) Prazepam . 

64.+e+ Propoxyphene (dosage forms). 

65. (bbb) Propylhexedrine , excluding any patent or 

proprietary preparation containing propylhexedrine, unless 

otherwise provided by federal law. 

66 . (ccc) Quazepam. 

67 . Sibutramine. 

68. (eee) SPA [ (-)-1 dimethylamino-1, 2 

diphenylethane] . 

69. Suvorexant. 

70. (fff) Temazepam. 

71. (ddd) Tetrazepam. 

72. Tramadol. 

73. (ggg) Triazolam. 

74. Zaleplon. 

75. Zolpidem. 

76. Zopiclone. 

Page 40 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2018 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

999 

1000 

1001 

1002 

1003 

1004 

1005 

1006 

1007 

1008 

1009 

1010 

1011 

1012 

1013 

1014 

1015 

1016 

1017 

1018 

1019 

1020 

1021 

1022 

102 3 

HB 21 

77 . (hhh) Not more than 1 milligram of difenoxin and not 

less than 25 micrograms of at r opine sulfate per dosage unit. 

( 5) SCHEDULE V.-A substance, compound , mixture , or 

2018 

preparati on o f a substan ce in Schedul e V has a low potent ial for 

abuse relat i ve to the substances in Schedu le IV and has a 

currently accepted medica l use in treatment in the United 

States , and abuse of such compound , mixture , or preparation may 

lead to limited phys i ca l or psychological dependence r e l a tive to 

the substances in Schedule IV . 

(a) Substances cont rolled in Schedule V include any 

compound , mixture , or preparation containing any of the 

following limited quant i ties of controlled substances , which 

shall include one or more act ive medicinal ingredients which are 

not controlled substances in suffic i ent proportion to confer 

upon the compound , mixture, o r preparation valuab l e medicina l 

qualities other than those possessed by the contro lled substance 

a l one: 

1. Not more than 200 milligrams o f codeine per 100 

milliliters o r per 100 grams . 

2. Not more than 100 milligrams of dihydrocodeine per 100 

mil l iliters or per 100 grams . 

3 . Not more than 100 mill i grams of ethylmorphine per 1 00 

milliliters or per 100 grams . 

4. Not more than 2.5 milligrams of diphenoxy l ate and not 

less than 25 micrograms of atropine sulfate per dosage unit . 

Page41 of114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1024 

1025 

1026 

1027 

1028 

1029 

1030 

1031 

1032 

1033 

1034 

1035 

1036 

1037 

1038 

10 39 

1040 

1041 

1042 

1043 

1044 

1045 

1046 

1047 

1048 

HB 21 

5 . Not more than 100 milligrams of op i um per 100 

mil lili ters or per 100 grams. 

6 . Not more than 0 .5 milligrams of difenoxin and not less 

than 25 micrograms of atropine sulfate per dosage unit. 

7 . Brivaracetam. 

8. Ez ogabine. 

9 . Lacosamide. 

10 . Pregabalin . 

2018 

(b) Narcotic drugs . Unless specifically excepted or unless 

listed in another schedule , any material, compound , mi}cture , or 

preparation containing any of the follov.ing narcotic drugs and 

their salts : Buprenorphine . 

(b)+e+ Stimulants . Unless specifically excepted or unless 

listed in another schedule , any material , compound , mixture , or 

preparation which contains any quantity of the following 

substances having a stimulant effect on the central nervous 

system , including its salts, isomers , and salts of isomers : 

Pyrovalerone. 

Section 9 . Section 893.055 , Florida Statutes, is amended to 

read: 

(Substantial rewording of section . See 

s . 893 . 055 , F . S ., for present text . ) 

893 . 055 Prescript ion drug monitoring program.

(1) As used in this section, the term: 

(a) "Administration " means the obtaining and giving of a 

Page 42 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1049 

1050 

1 05 1 

1052 

1053 

1054 

1055 

1056 

1057 

1 058 

105 9 

1060 

1 061 

1 062 

1 063 

1 06 4 

1065 

1066 

106 7 

10 68 

1069 

1070 

1071 

1072 

1073 

HB 21 2018 

single dose o f medicina l drugs by a legally authorized person to 

a patient for her or his consumpt i on. 

(b ) "Ac tive inves t i gati on " means an investigation that i s 

be ing conducted with a r easonabl e , good faith belief that i t 

could l ead t o the fi ling of administrative , civil , or cr iminal 

p r oceedings , o r that is ongoing and cont inuing and f or wh i ch 

there is a reasonable , good faith anticipation o f securing an 

arrest or prosecut i on in the foreseeable future. 

(c) "Controlled substance " means a control led substance 

listed in Sche du le I I , Schedule I II , Schedule IV , o r Schedu l e V 

o f s . 893 . 03 or 21 U. S . C. s . 8 12 . 

(d) " Dispense " means the transfer of possess i on o f one or 

more doses of a medic inal d rug by a health care practit i oner to 

the u l timate consumer o r t o his or her agent . 

(e) " Dispenser " means a dispensing health care 

practitioner or pharmac i st li cens ed to dispense medicinal d r ugs 

in this state . 

( f) "Hea lth care p ractitioner " o r "practitioner" means any 

practitioner licensed under chapter 458 , chapter 45 9 , chapter 

461 , chapter 463 , c hapter 464 , chapter 465 , or chapter 466 . 

(g) " Health care regulatory board " means any board or 

commission as defined in s . 456 . 001(1) . 

(h) " Law enforcement agency " means the Department o f Law 

Enforcement , a sheriff ' s office in this state , a p o l ice 

department in t hi s state , or a law enforcement agency of the 

Page 43 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1074 

1075 

1076 

1077 

1078 

1079 

10 80 

1081 

1082 

1083 

1084 

1085 

1086 

1087 

1088 

1 089 

1090 

1091 

1092 

1093 

1094 

1095 

1096 

1097 

1098 

HB 21 2018 

Federal Government which enforces the laws of this state o r the 

United States relating to control l ed substances , and which i ts 

agents and off icers are empowered by law to conduct criminal 

investigations and make arrests . 

(i) "Pharmacy" includes a community pharmacy , an 

institutional pharmacy , a nuclear pharmacy , a special pharmacy , 

or an Internet pharmacy that is licensed by the department under 

chapter 465 and that dispenses or delivers medicinal drugs , 

inc l uding controlled substances to an individual or address in 

th i s state. 

( j) " Prescriber " means a prescribing physician, 

prescribing practitioner , or other prescribing health care 

practitioner authorized by the laws of this state to order 

medic inal drugs . 

(k) " Program manager " means an employee of or a person 

contracted by the depa rtment who i s designated to ensure the 

integrity of the prescription drug monitoring program in 

accordance with the requi rements established in this sect i on. 

(2) (a) The department shall maintain an electronic system 

to collect and store controlled substance dispensing information 

and sha l l release the information as authorized in s . 893 . 0551 . 

The e l ectronic system must : 

1. Not infringe upon the legitimate prescribing or 

dispensing o f a controlled substance by a prescriber or 

dispenser acting in good faith and in the course of professional 

Page 44 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1099 

1100 

1101 

1102 

1103 

1104 

1105 

1106 

1 107 

1108 

1109 

11 1 0 

1111 

1112 

1113 

1114 

1115 

1116 

1117 

1118 

1119 

1120 

1121 

1122 

1123 

HB 21 

practice . 

2 . Be consistent with standards of the American Society 

for Automation in Pharmacy (ASAP) . 

3 . Comply with the Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act (HIPAA) as it pertains to protected health 

information (PH I ) , electronic protected health information 

(EPHI) , and all other relevant state and federa l privacy and 

security laws and regulations. 

(b) The department may collaborate with professional 

health care regu latory boards , appropriate organizat i ons , and 

other state agencies to identify indicators of contro l led 

substan ce abuse. 

(c) The department shall adopt rules necessary to 

imp l ement this subsection . 

201 8 

( 3) For each controlled substance dispensed to a patient 

in the state , the following information must be reported by the 

dispenser to the system as soon thereafter as possible but no 

later than the c l ose of the next business day after the day the 

controlled substance is dispensed unless an extension or 

exemption is approved by the department : 

(a) The name of the prescribing practitioner, the 

practitioner ' s federal Drug Enforcement Administration 

registration number , the practitioner ' s National Provider 

Identification (NPI) or other appropriate identifier , and the 

date of the prescription . 

Page 45 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1124 

1125 

1126 

1127 

1128 

1129 

1130 

1131 

1132 

1133 

1134 

1 135 

1136 

1137 

1138 

1139 

1140 

1141 

1142 

1143 

1144 

1145 

1146 

1147 

1148 

HB 21 2018 

(b) The date the prescription was filled and the method of 

payment , such as cash by an individual , insurance coverage 

through a third party , or Medicaid payment. This paragraph does 

not authorize the department to inc l ude individual credit card 

numbers or other account n umbers in the system . 

(c) The fu l l name , address , telephone number , and date of 

birth of the person for whom the prescr i ption was written . 

(d) The name , national drug code , quantity , and strength 

of the controlled substance dispensed. 

(e) The full name , federal Drug Enforcement Administration 

regis t ration number , State of Florida Depa rtment of Health 

issued pharmacy permit number , and address of the pharmacy or 

other location from which the controlled substance was 

dispensed . If the con t rolled substance was dispensed by a 

practitioner other than a pharmacist , the practitioner ' s full 

name , address , federal Drug Enforcement Administration 

reg i stration number , State of Florida Department of Health 

issued license number , and National Provider Identification 

(NPI) . 

(f) Whether the drug was dispensed as an initial 

prescription or a refill , and the number of refills ordered . 

(g) The name of the individual picking up the contro l led 

substance prescription and type and issuer of the identification 

provide d . 

(h) Other appropriate identifying information as 

Page 46 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1149 

1150 

1151 

1152 

1153 

1 154 

1155 

1156 

1157 

1158 

1159 

1160 

1161 

1162 

1163 

1164 

1165 

1166 

1167 

1168 

1169 

1 1 70 

1171 

1172 

1173 

HB 21 

determined by department rule . 

(i) All acts of admi n i stration of controlled substances 

are exempt from the reporting requirements of this section . 

2018 

(4) The following shall have direct access to information 

in the system : 

(a) An authorized prescriber or dispenser or his or her 

designee . 

(b) An employee of the United States Department of 

Veterans Affairs , United States Department of Defense , or the 

Indian Hea l th Service who provi des health care service s pursuant 

to such employment and who has the author i ty to prescr i be 

controlled substances shall have access to the information in 

the program ' s system upon ve ri fication of employment . 

(c) The program manager or des i gnated program and support 

staff may have access to administer t he system . 

1 . The program manager or designated program and support 

staff must complete a l evel II background screening . 

2 . In order to ca l c u late performance measures pursuant to 

s ubsection (14) , the program mana ge r or program and support 

staff members who have been directed by t h e p r ogram manager to 

calcu l ate performance measures may have direct access to 

information that contains no identifying i nformation of any 

patient , physician , health care practitioner , prescriber , or 

dispenser . 

3 . The program manage r or designated program a nd support 

Page 47 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1174 

11 75 

1176 

1177 

1178 

1179 

1180 

1181 

1182 

1183 

1184 

1185 

1186 

1187 

1188 

1189 

1190 

1191 

1192 

1193 

1194 

1195 

1196 

1197 

1198 

HB 21 2018 

staff must provide the department , upon request, data that does 

not contain patient, physician , health care practitioner , 

prescriber , or dispenser identifying information for public 

health care and safety initiatives purposes. 

4. The program manager, upon determining a pattern 

consistent with the department 's rules establ ished under 

paragraph (2) (b) may provide relevant information to the 

prescriber and dispenser. 

5. The program manager , upon determining a pattern 

consistent with the rules established under paragraph (2) (b) a nd 

having cause to bel i eve a violation of s . 8 93 . 13 ( 7) (a) 8., 

( 8) (a) , or ( 8) (b) has occurred , may provide relevant information 

to the applicable law enforcement agency . 

( 5) The following entities may not directly access 

information in the system, but may request i nformation from the 

program manager or designated program and support staff: 

(a) The department for investigations involving licensees 

authorized to prescribe or dispense controlled substan ces . 

(b) The Attorney General for Medicaid fraud cases 

involving prescribed controlled substances. 

(c) A law enforcement agency during active investigations 

of potential crimina l act i v it y , fraud, or theft regarding 

prescribed controlled substances. 

(d) A medical examiner when conducting an autho rized 

investigation under s. 406.11, to determine the cause of death 

Page 48 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1 199 

1200 

1201 

1202 

1203 

1204 

1205 

1206 

1207 

1208 

1209 

1210 

1211 

1212 

1213 

1214 

1215 

1216 

1217 

1218 

1219 

1220 

1221 

1222 

1223 

HB 21 2018 

of an individual. 

(e) An impaired practitioner consultant who is retained by 

the department under s. 456 . 076 to review the system information 

of an impaired pract i tioner program participant or a referra l 

who has agreed to be evaluated or monitored through the program 

and who has separately agreed in writing to the consultant ' s 

access to and review of such informat i on. 

(f) A patient or the lega l guardian or designated health 

care surrogate of an incapacitated patient who submits a written 

and notarized request that inc l udes the patient ' s ful l name , 

address , phone number , date of birth , and a copy of a 

government - issued photo ident i f i cation. A legal guardian or 

health care surrogate must provi de the same information if he or 

she submits the request. 

( 6) The department may enter into a reciprocal agreement 

or contract to share prescription drug monitoring information 

with another state, district , or territory if the prescription 

drug monitor i ng programs of other states , districts , or 

territories a r e compatible with the Florida program. 

(a) In determining compatibi l ity , the department shall 

consider: 

1. The safeguards for privacy of patient records and the 

success of the program in protecting patient privacy. 

2. The persons authorized to view the data collected by 

the program . Comparable entities and licensed health care 

Page 49 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1224 

1 225 

1226 

1227 

1228 

1229 

1230 

1231 

1232 

1233 

1234 

1235 

1236 

1237 

1238 

1239 

1240 

1241 

1242 

1243 

1244 

1245 

1246 

1247 

1248 

HB 21 201 8 

practit i oners in other states , districts , or territories of the 

United States, law enforcemen t agencies, the Attorney General ' s 

Medicaid Fraud Control Unit, medical regulatory boards , and, as 

needed , management staff that have s i mi lar duties as management 

staff who work wi th the prescr i ption drug monitoring program as 

authorized in s . 893 . 0551 are authorized access upon approval by 

the department . 

3 . The schedul es of the controlled substances t h at are 

monitored by the program. 

4 . The data reported to or included in the program ' s 

system . 

5. Any implementing cr i teria deemed essential for a 

thorough comparison . 

6. The costs and benefits to the state of sharing 

prescription information . 

(b) The department must assess the prescription drug 

monitoring program ' s continued compatibility with the other 

state's , district ' s , or territory ' s program periodically. 

(c) Any agreement or contract for sharing of prescript i on 

drug monitoring information between the department and another 

state , district , o r territory shall contain the same 

restricti ons and requirements as this section or s . 893 . 0551 , 

and the information must be provided according to the 

department ' s det e rmination of compatibil i ty . 

(7) The depar tment may enter into agreements or contracts 

Page 50 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTA T IVES 

1249 

1250 

1251 

1252 

1253 

1254 

1255 

1256 

1257 

1258 

1259 

1260 

1261 

1262 

1263 

1264 

1265 

1266 

1267 

1268 

1269 

1270 

1271 

1272 

1273 

HB 21 2018 

to establ ish secure connections between the system and a 

prescribing or dispensing health care practitioner ' s electronic 

health recordkeeping system. The electronic health recordkeeping 

system owner or license holder will be responsible for ensuring 

that only authorized ind i viduals have access to prescription 

drug monitoring program information . 

(8) A prescriber or dispenser or a designee of a 

prescriber or dispenser must consult the system to review a 

patient ' s controlled substance dispensing history before 

prescribing or dispensing a controlled substance . 

(a) The duty to consu l t the system does not apply to a 

prescriber or dispenser or designee of a prescriber or dispenser 

if the system is not operational , as determined by the 

depar t ment , or when it cannot be accessed by a health care 

practitioner because of a temporary technological or elect r ical 

failure . 

(b) A prescriber or dispenser or designee of a prescr i ber 

or dispenser who does not consult the system under t hi s 

subsection shall document the reason he or she did not consult 

the system in the patient ' s medical record or prescription 

record , and shall not prescribe or dispense greater than a 3- day 

supply of a controlled substance to the patient. 

(c) The department shall issue a nondisciplinary citation 

to any prescriber or dispenser who fails to consult the system 

as required by this subsection. 

Page 51 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1274 

1275 

1276 

1277 

1278 

1279 

1280 

1281 

1282 

1283 

128 4 

1285 

1286 

1287 

1288 

1289 

1290 

1291 

1292 

1293 

1294 

1295 

1296 

1297 

1298 

HB 21 2018 

(9) A person who will fully and knowi ng l y fails to report 

the d i spensing of a con tro l led substance as required by th i s 

section commits a mi sdemeanor of the first degree , pun i shable as 

provi ded in s . 775 . 082 or s. 775 . 083 . 

(10) I nformati on in t h e prescription drug mo n itor i ng 

p r ogram ' s system may be released only as p r ovided in this 

subsec t ion and s . 893 . 0551 . The content of the system is 

intended to be informationa l only and imposes no obligation s of 

any nature or any legal duty on a prescriber , dispenser , 

pharmacy, or pat i ent . Information i n the system shal l be 

provided in accordance wi t h s . 893 . 13(7) (a)8 . and is not s ubject 

to discovery or introduction into eviden ce in any civ i l or 

administrative action against a prescriber , dispenser , pharmacy , 

or patient arising out of matte r s that are the subject of 

information in the system . The program manager and authorized 

persons who participate in preparing , rev i ewing , i ssuin g , or any 

other activity related t o management of the system may not be 

permitted or required to testify i n any s u ch c i vil or 

administrative action as to any f i ndings , recommendations , 

eva l uat i ons , opin ions , or other action s taken in connection with 

management of the system . 

(11 ) A prescriber or dispenser , or his or her designee , 

may have access to the information under this section wh i ch 

relates to a pat i e n t of t h at prescriber or dispenser as needed 

for the purpose of reviewi ng the pa t ient ' s controlled drug 

Page 52 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1299 

1300 

1301 

1302 

1303 

1304 

1305 

1306 

1307 

1 308 

1309 

13 1 0 

1311 

1312 

1313 

1314 

1315 

1316 

1317 

1318 

1319 

1320 

1321 

1322 

1323 

HB 21 2018 

prescription history . A prescriber or dispenser acting in good 

faith is i mmune from any civil , criminal , or admi n i strative 

liabil i ty that might otherwise be incurred or i mposed for 

receiving or using information from the prescription drug 

monitoring program . Th i s subsection does not create a priva t e 

cause of action , and a person may not recover damages against a 

prescriber or dispenser authorized to access information under 

this subsection for access i ng or fai l ing to access such 

information. 

( 12) (a) Al l costs incurred by the department i n 

admini stering the prescription drug monitor i ng program shall be 

funded through federal grants , private funding applied for or 

received by the state , or state funds appropriated in the 

General Appropriations Act . The department may not : 

1. Commit funds for the monitoring program without 

ensuring funding is available ; or 

2 . Use funds provi ded , directly or indirectly by 

prescription drug manufacturers to implement the program . 

(b) The department shall cooperate with the direct - support 

organization established under subsection (15) in seeking 

federal grant funds , other nonstate grant funds , gifts , 

donations , or other private moneys for the department if the 

costs of doing so are immaterial . Immaterial costs include , but 

are not limited to , the costs of mailing and personnel assigned 

to research or apply for a grant . The department may 

Page 53 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1324 

1325 

1326 

1327 

1328 

1329 

1330 

1331 

1332 

1333 

1334 

1335 

1336 

1337 

1338 

1339 

1340 

1341 

1342 

1343 

1 344 

1345 

1346 

1347 

1348 

HB 21 

competitively procure and contract pursuant to s. 287 . 057 for 

any goods and services required be this section. 

2018 

(13) The department shall conduct or participate in 

studies t o examine the feasibility of enhancing the prescription 

drug monitoring program for the purposes of public health 

initiatives and statist ical report ing. Such studies shall 

respect the privacy of the patient , the prescriber, a nd the 

dispenser. Such studies may be conducted by the department or a 

contracted vendor in order to: 

(a) Improve the quality of health care services and safety 

by improving the prescribing and dispensing practices for 

prescription drugs; 

(b) Ta ke advantage of advances in te chno l ogy ; 

(c) Reduce duplicative prescriptions and the 

overprescribing of prescription drugs; and 

(d) Reduce drug abuse . 

(14) The department shall annually report on performance 

measures to the Governor , the President of the Senate, and the 

Speaker of the House of Representatives by the department each 

December 1. Performance measures may include , but are not 

limited to , the following outcomes : 

(a) Reduction of the rate of inappropriate use of 

prescription drugs through department education and safety 

efforts. 

(b) Reduction of the quantity of pharmaceutical contro lled 

Page 54 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1349 

1350 

1351 

1352 

1353 

1354 

1355 

1356 

1357 

1358 

1359 

1360 

1361 

1362 

1363 

1364 

1365 

1366 

1367 

1368 

1369 

1370 

1371 

1372 

1373 

HB 21 2018 

substances obtained by individuals attempt i ng to engage in fraud 

and deceit . 

(c) Increased coordination among partners participat i ng in 

the prescription drug monitoring program . 

(d) Involvement o f stakeholders in achieving i mproved 

patient health care and safety and reduction of prescription 

drug abuse and prescription drug diversion . 

(15) The department may establish a direct-support 

organization to provide assistance , funding , and promotional 

support for the activit i es authorized for the prescription dru g 

moni t o r ing program . 

(a) As used in this s ubsection , the term "direct - support 

organization " means an organization that is : 

1 . A Florida corporation not fo r profit incorporated under 

chapter 617 , exempted f r om filing fees , and approved by the 

Department of State . 

2. Organized and operated to conduct programs and 

act i vities ; raise funds ; request and receive grants , gifts , and 

bequests of money ; acquire , receive , hold , and invest , in its 

own name , securities , f unds , objects of value , or other 

property , either real or personal ; and make expenditures or 

provide funding to or for the direct or indirect benefit of the 

department in the furtherance of the prescription drug 

monito r ing program . 

(b) The State Surgeon General shall appoint a board of 

Page 55 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRE S E N TATIVES 

1374 

1375 

1376 

1377 

1378 

1379 

1380 

1381 

1382 

1383 

1384 

1385 

1386 

1387 

1388 

1389 

1390 

1391 

1 392 

1393 

1394 

1395 

1396 

1397 

1398 

HB 21 

directors for the direct - support organizat i on . 

1. The board of directors shall consist of no fewer than 

five members who shall serve at the pleasure of the State 

Surgeon General . 

2018 

2. The State Surgeon General shall provide guidance to 

members of the board to ensure that moneys received by the 

direct - support organization are not received from inappropriate 

sources. Inappropriate sources include, but are not limited to , 

donors , grantors, persons , or organizations that may monetarily 

or substantively benefit from the purchase of goods or services 

by the department in furtherance of the prescr i ption drug 

monitoring program. 

(c) The direct - support organization shall operate under 

written contract with the department . The contract must, at a 

minimum, provide for: 

1 . Approval of the articles of incorporation and bylaws of 

the direct-support organization by the department. 

2. Submission of an annual budget for the approval of the 

department. 

3 . The reversion , without penalty , to the department's 

grants and donations trust fund for the administration of the 

prescription drug monitor i ng program of all moneys and property 

held in trust by the direct - support organization for the benefit 

of the prescription drug monitor i ng program if the direct 

support organization ceases to exist or if the contract is 

Page 56 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021 -00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1399 

1400 

1401 

1402 

1403 

1404 

1405 

1406 

1407 

1408 

1409 

1410 

1411 

1412 

1413 

1414 

1415 

1416 

1417 

1418 

1419 

14 20 

1421 

1422 

1423 

HB 21 

terminated. 

4. The fiscal year of the direct - support organizat i on , 

which must begin July 1 of each year and end June 30 of the 

following year. 

5 . The disclosure of the material provisions of the 

contract to donors of gifts , contributions , or bequests , 

including such disclosure on all promot i onal and fundraising 

publications , and an explanation to such donors o f the 

distinction between the department and the direct - support 

organization . 

2018 

6. The direct - support organization ' s collecting , 

expending , and providing of funds to the department for the 

development , implementat i on , and operation of the prescription 

drug monitoring program as described in this section . The 

direct - support organization may collect and expend funds to be 

used for the functions of the direct - support organization 's 

board of directors , as necessary and approved by the depa rtment. 

In add i tion , the direct - support organization may collect and 

provide funding to the department in furtherance of the 

prescription drug monitor ing program by : 

a . Establishing and administering the prescription drug 

monitoring program ' s electronic system, including hardware and 

softwa r e . 

b. Conducting studies on the efficiency and effectiveness 

of the program t o include feasibility studies as described in 

Page 57 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1424 

14 25 

1426 

1427 

1 428 

1429 

14 30 

1431 

1432 

1433 

1434 

1435 

1436 

1437 

1438 

1439 

1440 

1441 

1442 

1443 

1444 

1445 

1446 

1447 

1448 

HB 21 2018 

subsect i on (13) . 

c . Providing funds for future enhancements of the program 

within the intent of this section . 

d . Providing user training of the prescription drug 

monitoring program, including distribution of materia l s to 

promote public awareness and education and conducting workshops 

or other meetings , for hea l th care practitioners , pharmacists , 

and others as appropriate . 

e. Providing funds for travel expenses . 

f . Providing funds for administrative costs , including 

personnel, a udits , facilities , and equipment . 

g . Fulfilling all other requirements necessary to 

implement and operate the program as outlined in this section . 

7. Certification by the department that the direct -support 

organization is complying with the terms of the contract in a 

manner consistent with and in furtherance of the goals and 

purposes of the prescript i on d rug monitoring program and in the 

best interests of the state. Such certificat i on must be made 

annuall y and reported in the officia l minutes of a meeting of 

the direct - support organization . 

(d) The activities of the direct -support organization must 

be consistent with the goals and mission of the department , as 

determined by the department , and in the best interests of the 

state. The direct-support organization must obtain written 

approval from the department for any activities in support of 

Page 58 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

144 9 

1450 

14 5 1 

1452 

145 3 

1454 

14 55 

1456 

145 7 

1458 

1 459 

1 460 

1461 

1462 

1463 

14 64 

14 65 

1 466 

14 67 

1 468 

1469 

1470 

1 471 

1472 

1473 

HB 21 

the prescription drug monitor ing program before unde rt aking 

those activities . 

2018 

(e) The direct -support organization sha ll provide for an 

independent annual financial audit in accordance with s. 

215 . 981 . Copies o f the audit shall be provided to the department 

and the Off i ce o f Policy and Budget in the Executive Office of 

the Governor . 

(f) The direct - support organization may not exercise a n y 

power under s . 617 . 0302(12) or (16) . 

(g) The direct-support organization is not considered a 

l obbying firm within the meaning of s . 11 . 045 . 

(h) The department may permit , without charge , appropriate 

use of administrative services , property , and facilities of the 

department by the direct - support organization , subject to this 

section . The use must be directly in keeping with the approved 

purposes of the direct-support organization and may not be made 

at times or places that would unreasonably interfere with 

opportunities for the public t o use such facilities for 

established purposes . Any moneys received from rentals of 

facilities and p r opert ie s managed by the department may be h e ld 

in a separate depository account in the name of the direct 

support organization and subject to the provisions of the letter 

of agreement with the department . The letter of agreement must 

provide that any funds held in the separate depository account 

in the name of the direct - support organization must revert to 

Page 59 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1474 

1475 

1476 

1477 

1 478 

1479 

1480 

14 8 1 

1482 

1483 

1484 

1485 

1486 

1487 

1488 

1489 

1490 

1491 

1492 

1493 

1494 

14 95 

149 6 

1 497 

1498 

HB 21 

the department if the direct - support organization is no l onger 

approved by the department to operate in the best interests of 

the state . 

(i) The department may adopt rules under s . 120 . 54 to 

govern the use of administrative services , property , or 

facilities o f the depa rtment or off ice by the d irect - support 

o rganization . 

2018 

(j) The department may not permit the use of any 

administrative services , property, or facilitie s of the state by 

a direct - support organization if that organization does not 

provide equal membership and employment opportunities to all 

persons regardless of race , color , relig i on , gender , age , or 

national origin . 

(k) This subsection is repealed October 1 , 2027 , un less 

reviewed a n d saved from repeal by the Legislature. 

Section 1 0 . Section 893 . 0551 , Florida Sta t utes , is amended 

to read : 

893 . 0551 Public reco rd s exempt i on for the prescription 

d rug monitoring program .-

( 1 ) For purposes of this section, the terms used in this 

sect i on have the same meani n gs as provided in s. 893 . 055 . 

(2) The following information of a patient or patient ' s 

agent , a hea l t h care pract i tioner , a dispenser , an employee of 

the practiti o n er who is acting on behalf of and at the direction 

of the practi tione r, a pharmacis t , or a pharmacy that is 

Page 60 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1499 

1500 

1501 

1502 

1503 

1504 

1505 

1506 

1507 

1508 

1509 

1510 

1511 

1512 

1513 

1514 

1515 

1516 

1517 

1518 

1519 

1520 

1521 

1522 

1523 

HB 21 2018 

contained in records he l d by the department under s. 893 . 055 is 

confidential and exempt fr om s . 119 . 07(1) and s. 2 4(a) , Art . I 

of the State Constitution : 

(a) Name . 

(b) Address. 

(c) Telephone number . 

(d) Insurance plan number . 

(e) Government - issued identification number . 

(f) Provider number . 

(g) Drug Enforcement Administration number . 

(h) Any other unique identifying information or number . 

(3) The department shall disclose such eonfidential and 

eJcempt info rmation to the following persons or entities upon 

request and after using a verification process to ensure the 

legitimacy of the request as provided in s . 893 . 055 : 

(a) A health care practitioner , or his or her designee , 

who certi fies that the information is necessary to provide 

medical treatment to a current patient in accordance with ss. 

893 . 05 and 893.055. 

(b) An employee of the United States Department of 

Veterans Affairs , United States Department of Defense , o r the 

Indian Health Service who provides health care services pursuant 

to such employment and who has the authority to prescribe 

contro l led substances shall have access to the information in 

the program's system upon ver i fication of such employment . 

Page 61 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1524 

1525 

1526 

1527 

1528 

1529 

1530 

1531 

15 32 

1533 

1534 

1535 

1536 

1537 

1538 

1539 

1540 

1541 

1542 

1543 

1544 

1 545 

1546 

1547 

1548 

HB 21 

(c) The program manager and designated support staff for 

administration of the program, and to provide relevant 

information to the prescriber, dispenser , and appropriate law 

enforcement agencies , in accordance with s . 893 . 055. 

2018 

(d) The department for investigations involving licens ees 

authorized to prescribe or dispense controlled substances. The 

department may request information from the program but may not 

have direct access to its system. The department may provide to 

a law enforcement agency pursuant to ss. 456 . 066 and 456 . 073 

only information that is relevant to the specific controlled 

substances investigation that prompted t h e request for the 

information . 

(e)+a+ The Attorney General or his or her designee when 

working on Medicaid fraud cases involving prescribed controlled 

substances prescript i on drugs or when the Attorney General has 

initiated a review o f specifi c identifiers of Medicaid fraud or 

specific identi fiers that warrant a Medicaid investigation 

regarding prescribed contro l led substances prescription d rug s . 

The Attorney General ' s Medicaid fraud investigators may not have 

direct access to the department ' s system database. The Attorney 

General or his or her designee may disclose to a criminal 

justice agency , as defined in s . 119 . 011 , only the confidential 

and e2cempt information received from the department that is 

re l evan t to an identified active investigation that prompted the 

request for the information . 

Page 62 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1549 

1550 

1551 

1552 

1553 

1554 

1555 

1556 

1557 

1558 

1559 

1560 

1561 

1562 

1563 

1564 

1565 

1566 

1567 

1568 

1569 

1570 

1571 

1572 

1573 

HB 21 201 8 

(b) The department ' s relevant health care regulatory 

boards responsible for the licensure , regulation , or discipline 

of a practitioner , pharmacist , or other person vvho is authorized 

to prescribe , administer , or dispense controlled substances and 

vvho is involved in a spe cific controlled substances 

investigation for prescription drugs involving a designated 

person. The health care regulatory boards may request 

info r mation from the department but may not have direct access 

to its database. The health care regulatory boards may provide 

to a laH enforcement agency pursuant to ss . 156 . 066 and 156.073 

only i nformation that is relevant to the s p ecific control l ed 

substances investigation that prompted the request for the 

information . 

J!l+et A law enforcement agency that has initiated an 

active investigation involving a specific violation of law 

regarding prescription drug abuse or diversion of prescribed 

controlled substances and that has entered into a user agreement 

with the department. A law enforcement agency may request 

information from the department but may not have direct access 

to its system database . The law enforcement agency may disclose 

to a criminal justice agency , as defined in s. 119 . 011 , only 

confidential and eHempt informat i o n received fr om the department 

that is relevant to an identified active inves tigation that 

prompted the request for such information . 

(g) A medical examiner o r associate medical examiner , as 

Page 63 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1574 

1575 

1576 

1577 

1578 

1579 

1580 

1581 

1582 

1583 

1584 

1585 

1586 

1587 

15 88 

1589 

1590 

1591 

1592 

1593 

159 4 

1595 

1596 

1597 

1598 

HB 21 2018 

defined in s 406.06, pursuant to his or her official dut ies, as 

required by s . 406 . 11, to determine the caus e of death of an 

individual . A medical examiner may request informat i on from the 

department but may not have direct access to the system . 

( f ) A patient or the legal guardian or designated hea lth 

care surrogate for an incapacitated patient, if applicable , 

making a request as provided in s. 893 . 055 (7) (c) 4. 

(h) An impa ired p ract itioner consul t ant who has been 

author i zed in writing by a participant in, or by a referral to , 

the impaired practitioner program to access and review 

information as provi ded ins . 893 . 055(6) (e) 893 .055 (7) (c)5 . 

(i)+£+ A patient or the l ega l guardian or designated 

health care sur r ogate for an incapacitated patient , if 

applicable , making a request as provided in s . 8 93 . 055 ( 6) (f) 

893.055(7) (c)4 . 

(4) If the department determines cons istent wi th its rules 

that a pattern of controlled s ubst ance abuse exists , the 

department may disclose such confidentia l and exemp t information 

to the applicable law enforcement agency in accordance with s. 

893 . 055 . The law enforcement agenc y may disclose to a criminal 

justice agency , as defined in s . 119.011 , only confidential and 

e1cempt information received from the department that is relevant 

to an identified active investigation that is specific to a 

violat i on of s. 893 .1 3(7) (a)8 ., s . 893 . 13(8) (a) , or s . 

893 . 13 (8) (b) . 

Page 64 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1599 

1 600 

1601 

1602 

1603 

1604 

1605 

1606 

1607 

160 8 

1609 

1610 

1611 

1612 

1613 

1614 

1615 

1 616 

1617 

1618 

1619 

1620 

1621 

1622 

1623 

HB 21 2018 

( 5) Before disclosing confidential and ocempt information 

to a criminal justice agency or a law enforcement agency 

pursuant to this section , the disclosing person or entity must 

take steps to ensure the continued confidentiality of al l 

conf i dential and eHempt i nformation . At a minimum, these steps 

must inc lude redacting any nonrelevant information . 

(6) An agency or person who obtains any confidential and 

eJ{Cmpt information pursuant to this section must maintain the 

conf idential and exempt status of that information and may not 

disclose such information unless authorized by law . Info r mati on 

sha red with a state attorney pursuant to paragraph (3) (e) (3) (a) 

or paragraph (3) (f) (3) (c) may be r eleased only in response to a 

discovery demand if such information is d~rectly related to the 

criminal case for which the information was requested . Unrelated 

information may be released only upon an order of a court of 

competent jurisdiction. 

(7) A person who willfully and knowingly violates this 

section commits a felony of the third degree , punishable as 

provided ins . 775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , or s. 775 . 084. 

Section 11 . Paragraphs (pp) and (qq) of subsection (1) of 

section 458 . 331 , Florida Statutes , are amended to read : 

458 . 331 Grounds for disciplinary action; action by the 

board and department . -

(1) Th e following acts constitute grounds for denial of a 

license or disciplinary action , as specified ins . 456 . 072(2) : 

Page 65 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1624 

1625 

1626 

1627 

1628 

1629 

1 630 

1631 

1632 

1633 

1634 

1 635 

1636 

1 637 

1638 

1639 

1640 

1641 

1642 

1643 

1644 

1645 

1646 

1647 

1648 

HB 21 2018 

(pp) App l icable to a licensee who serves as the designated 

physician of a pain- management c linic as defined in s . 458 . 3265 

or s . 459 . 0137 : 

1. Registering a pain-management c linic through 

misrepresentation or fraud ; 

2 . Procuring, or attempting to procure, the registration 

of a pain-management cl ini c f or any othe r person by making or 

caus ing to be made , any false representation; 

3 . Failing to comply with any requirement of chapter 499 , 

the Florida Drug and Cosmetic Act ; 21 U.S. C . ss. 301 - 392 , the 

Federal Food , Drug , and Cosmetic Act; 21 U. S . C . ss. 821 et seq ., 

the Drug Abuse Prevention a nd Control Act ; or chapter 893 , the 

Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Contro l Act ; 

4. Being convi cted or found gu il ty of , regardless of 

adjudication to , a felony or any other crime involving moral 

turpitude , fraud, dishonesty , or dece it in any jurisdiction of 

the courts of this state, of any other state, or of the United 

States ; 

5 . Being convi cted of , or disciplined by a regulatory 

agency of the Federa l Government or a regulatory agency of 

anothe r state for, any offense that would cons titute a violation 

of this chapter ; 

6 . Bei ng convi cted of , or entering a plea of gui lt y or 

nol o contendere to , regardless of adjudication, a crime in any 

jurisdiction of the courts of th i s state , of any other state, o r 

Page 66 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1649 

1650 

1651 

1652 

1 653 

1654 

1655 

1656 

1657 

1658 

1659 

1660 

1661 

1662 

1663 

1664 

1665 

1666 

1667 

1668 

1669 

1670 

1671 

1672 

1673 

HB 21 

of the United States which relates to the practice of , or the 

ability to practice , a licensed health care profession; 

2018 

7 . Being convicted of , or entering a plea of gui l ty or 

nolo contendere to , regardless of adjudication , a crime i n any 

jurisdiction of the cour ts of this state, of any other state , or 

of the United States which relates to health ca re fraud ; 

8 . Dispensing any medicinal drug based upon a 

communication that purports to be a prescription as defined in 

s . 465 . 003(14) or s. 893.02 if the dispensing practitioner knows 

or has reason to believe that the purported prescription is not 

based upon a valid practitioner- patient r elationship ; or 

9 . Failing to timely notify the board of the date of his 

or her termi nation from a pain- management c l inic as required by 

s. 458 . 3265(3) 458 . 3265(2). 

(qq) Failing to time l y notify the department of the theft 

of prescription blanks from a pain- management clin i c or a breach 

of other methods for prescribing within 24 hours as required by 

s. 458.3265(3) 458 . 3265(2). 

Section 12. Paragraphs (rr) and (ss) of subsection (1) of 

section 459.015 , Florida Statutes , are amended to read: 

459 . 015 Grounds for disciplinary action; action by the 

board and department. -

( 1) The following acts constitute grounds for denial of a 

license or disciplinary action , as specified ins. 456 . 072(2) : 

(rr) Applicable to a licensee who serves as the designated 

Page 67 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1674 

1675 

1676 

1677 

1678 

1679 

1680 

1681 

1682 

1683 

1684 

1685 

1686 

1687 

1688 

1689 

1690 

1691 

1692 

1693 

1694 

1695 

1696 

1697 

1698 

HB 21 2018 

physician of a pain- management clinic as defined in s . 458 . 3265 

or s. 459 . 0137: 

1 . Registering a pain- management clinic through 

misrepresentation or fraud; 

2 . Procur i ng, or attempt i ng to procure , the registrati on 

of a pain- management c lin i c for any other person by making or 

causing to be made , any false representation; 

3. Failing to comp l y with any requirement of chapter 499 , 

the Florida Drug and Cosmetic Act; 21 U.S.C . ss. 301 - 392 , the 

Federa l Food , Drug , and Cosmetic Act; 21 U.S.C. ss . 821 et seq. , 

the Dru g Abuse Prevention and Control Act; o r chapter 893 , the 

Florida Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act; 

4 . Being convicted or found guilty of , regardless of 

adjudication to , a felony or any other crime involv i ng moral 

turpitude, fraud , dishonesty , or deceit in any jurisdiction of 

the courts of this state , of any other state , or of the Un i ted 

States; 

5 . Being convicted of , or disciplined by a regulatory 

agency of the Federa l Government or a regulatory agency of 

another state for , any offense that would constitute a violation 

of this chapter; 

6. Being convicted of , or entering a plea of guilty or 

nolo contendere to , regardless of adjudicat i on , a crime in any 

jurisdict i on of the courts of this state , of any other state, or 

of the Un i ted States which relates to the practice of, or the 

Page 68 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021 -00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1699 

1700 

1701 

1702 

1703 

1704 

1705 

1706 

1707 

1708 

1709 

1710 

1711 

1 712 

1713 

1714 

1715 

1716 

1717 

1718 

1719 

1720 

1721 

1722 

1723 

HB 21 2018 

ability to practice, a licensed health care profession; 

7 . Being convicted of , or entering a plea of guilty or 

nolo contendere to , regardless of adjudication , a crime in any 

jurisdiction of the courts o f this state, of any other state, or 

of the United States which relates to health care fraud; 

8 . Dispensing any medi cinal drug based upon a 

communication that purports to be a prescription as def ined in 

s. 465.003(14) or s. 893 . 02 if the dispensing practitioner knows 

or has reason to believe that the purported prescription is not 

based upon a valid practitioner- patient relationship; or 

9. Faili ng to timely notify the board of the date of his 

or her termination from a pain-management clinic as required by 

s. 459 . 0137(3) 459.0137(2). 

(ss) Failing to timely notify the department of the theft 

of prescription blanks from a pain-management clinic or a breach 

of other methods for prescribing within 24 hours as required by 

s. 459 . 0137(3) 459.0137(2). 

Section 1 3 . Paragraph (b) of subsection (4 ) of sect ion 

463.0055, Florida Statutes, i s amended to read : 

463 . 0055 Administration and prescription of ocular 

pharmaceutical agents .-

(4) A certified optometrist shall be issued a prescriber 

number by the board . Any prescription written by a certified 

optometrist for an ocular pharmaceutical agent pursuant to this 

section s ha ll have the prescriber number printed thereon. A 

Page 69 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1724 

1725 

1726 

1727 

1728 

1729 

1730 

1731 

1732 

1733 

1734 

1735 

1736 

1737 

1738 

1739 

1740 

1741 

1742 

1743 

1744 

1745 

1746 

1747 

1748 

HB 21 

certified optometrist may not administer or prescribe: 

(b) A controlled substance for the treatment of chronic 

nonmalignant pain as defined in s. 456.44 (1) (f) 456 . 44 (1) (e) . 

Section 14. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 

782.04, Florida Statutes , is amended to read: 

782 . 04 

( 1) (a) 

Murder . -

The unlawful killing of a human being: 

1. When perpetrated fr om a premeditated design to effect 

the death of the person kil led or any h uman being; 

2018 

2. When committed by a person engaged in the perpetration 

of , or in the attempt to perpetrate, any : 

a . Trafficking offense prohib i ted by s . 893.135(1), 

b . Arson , 

c. Sexual battery, 

d . Robbery , 

e . Burglary , 

f. Kidnapping , 

g . Escape , 

h. Aggravated child abuse , 

i. Aggravated abuse of an elderly person or disabled 

adult , 

j. Aircraft piracy, 

k. Unlawful throwing, placing , or discharging of a 

destructive device or bomb , 

1. Carjacking , 

Page 70 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1749 

1750 

1751 

1752 

1753 

1754 

1755 

1756 

1 757 

1758 

1759 

1760 

1761 

1762 

1763 

1764 

1765 

1766 

1767 

1768 

1769 

1770 

1771 

1 772 

1773 

HB 21 

m. Home-invasion r obbery , 

n. Aggravated stalking, 

o . Murder of ano ther h uman be ing , 

p . Resisting an officer with violence to his or her 

pe rson , 

q . Agg rava t ed fleeing or elud i ng with ser i ous bodily 

injury or death , 

2018 

r. Felony that is an act of terrorism or is in furtherance 

of an act of terrorism, including a felony under s . 775 . 30 , s . 

775 . 32 , s . 775 . 33 , s . 775 . 34 , or s . 775 . 35 , or 

s. Human trafficking ; or 

3 . Which resulted from the unlawful distribution by a 

person 18 years of age or older of any of the following 

substances , or mixture containing any of the following 

_substances , when such substance or mixture is proven to be the 

proximate cause of the death of the user: 

a . A substance controlled under s . 893 . 03(1) ; 

b . Coca ine , as described ins . 893.03(2) (a)4 .; 

c . Op ium or any synthetic or natural salt, compound , 

derivative, or preparation of opium; 

d . Methadone ; 

e . Alfentanil, as described ins . 893 . 03(2) (b) l.; 

f. Carfentanil , as described in s . 8 93 . 03 ( 2) (b) 6 .; 

g. Fentanyl , as descr ibed ins . 893 . 03(2) (b)9 .; 

h . Sufentani l, as descr ibed in s . 8 93 . 03 ( 2) (b) 30 . 

Page 71 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1774 

1775 

1776 

1777 

1778 

1779 

1780 

178 1 

1782 

1783 

1784 

1785 

1786 

1787 

1788 

1789 

1790 

1791 

1792 

1793 

1 794 

1795 

1796 

1797 

1798 

HB 21 2018 

893 . 03(2) (b)29 .; or 

i . A controlled substance analog , as described i n s . 

893 . 0356 , of any substa nce specif i ed i n sub- s ubparagraphs a .-h ., 

is murder i n t he f i rs t degree and constitutes a cap i ta l felony, 

punishable a s p r ovided in s . 775 . 082 . 

Sect i on 1 5 . Paragraphs (a) , (c) , (d) , (e) , (f) , and (h) of 

s ubsection (1) , subsect i on (2) , paragraphs (a) and (b) of 

subsection (4) , and subsect i on (5) of section 893 . 13 , Flor i da 

Statutes , are ame nded to read : 

89 3 .1 3 Proh ib i ted acts ; penalties .-

(1 ) (a) Except as authorized by this c hapter and chapter 

499 , a person may no t sell , manufacture , or deliver , or possess 

with intent to se ll, manufacture , or deliver , a control l ed 

substance . A person who violates this provision with respect to : 

1. A controlled substance named or described in s. 

893 . 03( 1 ) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d) , (2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c)5 . 

(2) (c) 4. commi ts a fe l ony of the second degree , punishable as 

provi ded in s . 775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , o r s . 775 . 084 . 

2 . A controlled substance named o r described in s . 

893 . 03(1) (c) , (2) (c)l. , (2) (c)2 ., (2) (c)3 ., (2) (c)5 ., (2) (c)6 ., 

(2) (c)7 ., (2) (c)8 ., (2) (c)9 ., (2) (c)10 ., (3) , or (4) commi ts a 

felo n y of the th i rd degree , punishable a s provided i n s . 

775 .082, s . 775 . 083 , or s . 775 . 084 . 

3 . A contro l led s ubstan ce named or desc r ibed in s . 

Page 72 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1799 

1800 

1801 

1802 

1 803 

1804 

1 805 

1806 

1807 

1808 

1809 

1810 

1811 

1812 

1813 

1814 

1815 

1816 

1817 

1818 

1819 

1820 

1821 

1 822 

1823 

HB 21 2018 

893.03(5) commits a misdemeanor of the first degree , punishable 

as provided in s . 775 . 082 or s . 775 . 083 . 

(c) Except as authorized by this chapter , a person may not 

sel l, manufacture , or deliver , or possess wi th intent to sell , 

manufacture , or de live r, a controll ed substan ce in , on , o r 

within 1 , 000 feet of the real property compr i sing a child care 

facility as defined in s . 402 . 302 or a public or private 

elemen tary , middle , or secondary school between the hours of 6 

a . m. and 12 midnight , or at any time in , on , or wi t hin 1 , 000 

feet of real property comp ris ing a state , county , or municipa l 

park , a community center , or a public l y owned recreational 

facility. As used in t his paragraph , the term " community cente r" 

means a facility operated by a nonprofit community- based 

organization for the p r ovision of recreational , social , o r 

edu cat i onal services to the public. A person who violates this 

paragraph with respect to : 

1. A controlled substance named o r described in s. 

893 . 03 (1) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d) , (2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c) 5. 

(2) (c)4 . commits a felo n y of the first degree , punishable as 

provided in s . 775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , or s . 775 . 084 . The defendant 

must be sentenced to a mi nimum term of imprisonment of 3 

calendar years unless the offense was commi tted within 1 , 000 

feet of the real property comprising a ch i ld care facility as 

d efined in s . 402 . 302 . 

2 . A controlled substance named or described in s . 

Page 73 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1824 

1825 

1826 

1827 

1828 

1829 

1830 

1831 

1832 

1833 

1834 

1835 

1836 

1837 

1838 

1839 

1 8 4 0 

1841 

1842 

1843 

1844 

1845 

1846 

1847 

1848 

HB 21 201 8 

893 . 03(1) (c) , (2) (c)l. , (2) (c)2 . , (2) (c)3. , (2) (c)5 . , (2) (c)6. , 

( 2) (c) 7 . , ( 2) (c) 8. , ( 2) (c) 9. , ( 2) (c) 1 0 . , ( 3) , or ( 4) commits a 

felony of the second degree , punishable as provided in s. 

775 . 082 , s. 775 . 083, or s. 775.084. 

3 . Any other cont r o l led substance , except as l awfully 

sold , manu factured , or delivered , mus t be sent enced to pay a 

$500 fine and to serve 100 hours of public service i n addi ti on 

to any other penalty prescribed by law. 

This paragraph does not apply to a child care facility unless 

the owner or operator of the facility posts a sign that is not 

less than 2 square feet in size with a word legend identifying 

the facility as a licensed child care facil i ty and that i s 

posted on the property of the ch i ld care facility in a 

conspicuous place where the sign is reasonably visible to t h e 

pub l ic . 

(d) Except as author i zed by th i s chapter, a person may not 

se l l , manufacture , or deliver , or possess with inten t to sel l , 

manufacture , or deliver , a controlled substance in , on , or 

within 1 , 000 feet of the real property comprising a p ublic or 

private col l ege , university , or other postsecondary educational 

institution . A person who violates this paragraph with respect 

to : 

1 . A controlled substance named or described in s. 

893.03(1) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d), (2) (a) , (2) (b), or (2) (c)5. 

Page 74 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underli ned are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1849 

1850 

1851 

1852 

1853 

1854 

1855 

1856 

1857 

1858 

1859 

1860 

1861 

1862 

1863 

1864 

1865 

1866 

1867 

1 868 

1869 

1870 

1871 

1872 

1873 

HB 21 

(2) (c) 4. commits a felony of the first degree, punishable as 

provided in s . 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775 . 084 . 

2018 

2. A controlled substance named or described in s. 

893 . 03( 1 )(c), (2)(c)l., (2)(c)2 ., (2)(c)3 ., (2)(e)5., (2)(c)6 ., 

(2) (c)7 ., (2) (c)8 ., (2) (c)9., (2) (c)10 ., (3) , or (4) commi t s a 

felony of the second degree , punishable as provided in s. 

775 . 082 , s . 775.083, or s. 775 . 084 . 

3 . Any other controlled substance, except as lawfully 

sold, manufactured, or delivered , mus t be sentenced to pay a 

$500 fine and to serve 100 hours of p ubl ic service in addition 

to any other penalty prescribed by l aw. 

(e) Except as authorized by this chapter, a pe rs on may not 

sell , manufacture , or deliver, or possess with intent to sell, 

manufacture, or delive r, a controlled s ubstance not authorized 

by law in, on , or within 1 , 000 feet of a physi ca l p l ace f or 

worship at which a church o r religious organi zati on regula rl y 

conduc ts relig i ous services o r within 1,00 0 feet of a 

conven i ence b usiness as defined in s . 812 .171. A person who 

violates this paragraph with r espect to: 

1. A controlled substance named or described i n s . 

893.03( 1 )(a) , (1)(b), (1)(d) , (2)(a) , (2)(b) , o r (2)(c)5. 

(2) (c) 4. commits a felony of the first degree , punishable as 

prov i ded in s. 775 . 082 , s . 775.083, or s. 775 . 084 . 

2. A control l ed subs t ance named or described in s . 

893.03(1)(c), (2)(c)l. , (2 )(c)2., (2)(c)3 ., (2)(c)5 ., (2)(c)6 ., 

Page 75 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

(2) (c)7 ., (2) (c)8 ., (2) (c)9 ., (2) (c)lO. , (3), or (4) commits a 

felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 

775 . 082 , s. 775.083, or s . 775 . 084. 

3 . Any other controlled substance , except as lawfully 

sold, manufactured , or delivered, must be sentenced to pay a 

$500 fine and to serve 100 hours of public service in add i tion 

to any other penalty prescribed by law. 

2018 

1874 

1875 

1876 

1877 

1878 

1879 

1880 

1881 (f) Except as authorized by this chapter, a person may not 

1882 sell, manufacture , or deliver , or possess with intent to sell , 

1883 manufacture , or deliver, a controlled substance in, on, or 

1884 within 1,000 feet of the real property comprising a public 

1885 housing facility at any time . As used in this section, the term 

1886 "real property compr i sing a public housing facility " means real 

1887 property , as defined ins. 421 . 03(12) , of a public corporation 

1888 created as a housing authority pursuant to pa r t I of chapter 

1889 421. A person who vio l ates this paragraph with respect to: 

1 890 1 . A controlled substance named or described in s . 

1891 893.03(1) (a), (1) (b) , (1) (d), (2) (a), (2 ) (b) , or (2) (c)5. 

1 8 92 (2) (c) 4. commits a felony of the first degree , punishable as 

1893 provided ins. 775.082 , s. 775 . 083 , or s. 775.084. 

1894 2. A controlled substance named or described in s . 

1895 893.03(l)( c ), (2)(c)l. , (2)(c)2. , (2) (c ) 3. , (2)(c)S ., (2)(c)6 ., 

18 9 6 ( 2) (c) 7 ., ( 2) (c) 8 . , ( 2) (c) 9. , ( 2 ) (c) 10. , ( 3) , or ( 4) commits a 

1897 felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 

1898 775 . 082 , s . 775.083, or s. 775 .08 4. 

Page 76 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1899 

1900 

190 1 

1902 

1903 

1 904 

1905 

1906 

1907 

1908 

1909 

1910 

191 1 

1912 

1913 

1914 

1915 

1916 

1 917 

1918 

1919 

1920 

1921 

1 922 

1923 

HB 21 

3. Any other controlled substance , except as lawfully 

sold, manufactured , or delivered , must be senten ced to pay a 

$500 fine and to serve 100 hours of public service in addition 

to any other penalty prescribed by law . 

2018 

(h) Except as authorized by this chapte r , a person may not 

se l l , manufacture, or deliver , or possess with intent to sell , 

manufacture , or delive r, a cont rolled substance in , on , o r 

within 1 , 000 feet of the rea l property comprising an assisted 

living facility , as that term is used in chapter 429. A pers on 

who violates this pa r agraph with respect to: 

1 . A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893.03(1) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d) , (2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c)5 . 

(2) (e)4. commits a felony of the f irst degree , punishable as 

provided i n s . 775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , or s . 775.084. 

2 . A control l ed substance named or described in s. 

893.03(1)(c) , (2)(c)l., (2)(c)2 . , (2)(c)3 . , (2)(e)5 . , (2)(c)6., 

(2) (c)7., (2) (c)8 ., (2) (c)9 ., (2) (c)10. , (3) , or (4) commits a 

felony of the second degree , punishable as provided in s. 

775.082 , s . 775 . 083, or s . 775 . 084 . 

3 . Any other contro l led substance , except as lawfully 

sold , manufactured , or delivered , must be sentenced to pay a 

$500 fine and to serve 100 hours of public service in addition 

to any other penalty prescr i bed by law . 

( 2) (a) Except as authorized by this chapter and chapter 

499 , a person may not purchase , or possess with intent to 

Page 77 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1924 

1925 

1926 

1927 

1928 

1929 

1930 

1931 

1932 

1933 

1934 

1935 

1936 

1937 

1938 

1939 

1940 

1941 

1942 

1943 

1944 

1945 

1946 

1947 

1948 

HB 21 

purchase , a control l ed substance . A person who violates th i s 

provision with respect to : 

1 . A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893 . 03(1) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d) , (2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c)5 . 

(2) (c) 4 . commits a fe l ony of the second degree , punishable a s 

p r ovided in s . 775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , or s . 775 . 084 . 

2018 

2 . A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893 . 03(1) (c) , (2) (c)l. , (2) (c)2. , (2) (c)3 . , (2) (c)S ., (2 ) (c)6 ., 

( 2 ) ( c) 7 . , ( 2 ) ( c ) 8 . , ( 2 ) ( c) 9 . , ( 2 ) ( c) 1 0 . , ( 3 ) , or ( 4 ) commits a 

felony of the third degree , punishable as provided in s . 

775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , or s . 775 . 084 . 

3 . A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893 . 03(5) commits a misdemeanor of the first degree , punishab l e 

as provided in s . 775 . 082 or s . 775 . 083 . 

(b) Except as provided in this chapter , a person may not 

purchase more than 10 grams of any substance named or described 

ins . 893 . 03(1) (a) or (1 ) (b) , or any combination thereof , or any 

mixture containing any such substance . A person who violates 

this paragraph commits a felony of the first degree , punishable 

as provided in s . 775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , o r s . 775.084 . 

(4) Except as authorized by this chapter , a person 18 

years of age or o l der may not deliver any controlled substance 

to a person younger than 18 years of age , use or hire a person 

younger than 18 years of age as an agent or employee in the sale 

or del i very of such a substance , or use such person to assist in 

Page 78 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1949 

1950 

1951 

1952 

1953 

1954 

1955 

1956 

1957 

1958 

1959 

1 960 

1961 

1962 

1963 

1964 

1965 

1966 

1967 

1968 

1969 

1970 

1971 

1972 

1973 

HB 21 2018 

avoiding detection or apprehension for a violation of this 

chapter . A person who violates t h i s subsection with respect to : 

(a) A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893.03(1) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d) , (2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c)5 . 

(2) (e)4 . commits a fe l ony of the first degree , punishable as 

provided in s . 775 . 082 , s. 775 . 083 , or s . 775 . 084 . 

(b) A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893 . 03(1)(c) , (2)(c)l. , (2)(c)2 ., (2)(c)3 ., (2)(e)S ., (2)(c)6 . , 

(2) (c)7 ., (2) (c)8 ., (2) (c)9 ., (2) (c)10 ., (3) , or ( 4 ) commits a 

felony of the second degree , punishable as provided in s . 

775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , or s . 775 . 084 . 

Imposition of sentence may not be suspended or deferred , and the 

person so conv i cted may not be placed on probation . 

(5) A person may not bring into this state any controlled 

substance unless the possession of such controlled substance is 

authorized by this chapter or un l ess such person is licensed to 

do so by the appropriate federal agency . A person who vio l ates 

this provision with respect to : 

(a) A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893.03(1) (a) , (1) (b) , ( 1 ) (d) , (2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c)5. 

(2) (e) 4 . commi ts a fe l ony of the second degree , punishable as 

provided in s . 775 . 082 , s. 775 . 083 , or s . 775.084 . 

(b ) A controlled substance named o r des cr ibed in s . 

893 . 03(1)(c) , (2)(c) l. , (2)(c)2. , (2)(c)3 ., (2)(e)S ., (2)(c)6 ., 

Page 79 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1974 

1975 

1976 

197 7 

1978 

1979 

1980 

1981 

1982 

1983 

1984 

1985 

1986 

1987 

1988 

1989 

1990 

1991 

1992 

1993 

1994 

1995 

1996 

1997 

1998 

HB 21 

(2) (c)7 ., (2) (c)8 ., (2) (c)9 ., (2) (c)lO ., (3), or (4) commits a 

fel ony of the third degree , punishable as provided in s . 

775 . 082 , s. 775 .0 83 , or s. 775 . 084 . 

2018 

(c) A controlled substance named or described in s . 

893 . 03(5) commits a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable 

as provided in s . 775 . 082 or s. 775.083 . 

Section 16. Paragraphs (c) and (f) of subsection (1) of 

section 893 . 135 , Florida Statutes , are amended to read: 

893.135 Trafficking ; mandatory sentences ; suspension or 

reduct i on o f sentences ; conspiracy to engage in trafficking .

(1) Except as authorized in this chapter or in chapter 499 

and notwithstanding the provisions of s . 893 . 13 : 

(c)l . A person who knowingly sells, purchases , 

manufactures, delivers , or br ings into t his state, or who is 

knowingly in actual o r constructive possession of , 4 grams or 

more of any morphine , opium, hydromorphone , or any salt, 

derivative , isomer , or salt of an isomer the reof , including 

heroin , as described ins. 893 . 03(1) (b) , (2) (a) , (3) (c)3., or 

(3) (c)4., or 4 grams or more of any mixture containing any such 

substance , but less than 30 kilograms of such substance or 

mixture, commits a felony of the first degree , which felony 

shal l be known as "trafficking in illegal drugs ," punishable as 

provided in s . 775 . 082 , s . 775.083 , or s. 775 . 084 . If the 

quantity involved : 

a. Is 4 grams or more, but less than 14 grams , such person 

Page 80 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

1999 

2000 

2001 

2002 

2003 

2004 

2005 

2006 

2007 

2008 

2009 

2010 

20 11 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2023 

HB 21 

shal l be sentenced to a mandatory min i mum term of imprisonment 

of 3 years and sha l l be ordered to pay a f i ne of $50 , 000 . 

b . Is 14 grams or more , but less than 28 grams , such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 15 yea r s and sha l l be ordered to pay a fine of 

$100 , 000 . 

c . I s 28 grams or more , but less than 30 kilograms , s u ch 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term o f 

impri s onment of 25 years and shall be ordered to pay a f i ne o f 

$500 , 000 . 

2018 

2 . A person who knowi ngly sells , pu r chases , manufactures , 

delivers , or brings into t h is state , or who is knowi ngly in 

actual or constructive possession of , 14 g r ams or more of 

hydrocodone , as descr i bed ins . 893 . 03(2) (a)l.k . 

893 . 03(2) (a) l. j ., codeine , as described ins . 893 . 03(2) (a) l.g ., 

or any salt thereof , or 14 grams or more of any mixtur e 

contain i ng any such substance , commits a felony of the first 

degree , which felony sha l l be known as " trafficking in 

hydrocodone ," punishable as provided ins . 775 . 082 , s . 775 . 083 , 

or s . 775 . 084 . If the quantity involved : 

a . Is 14 grams or more, but less than 28 grams , such 

person sha l l be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 3 years and shall be ordered to pay a fine of 

$50 , 000 . 

b . Is 28 grams or more , but less than 50 grams , such 

Page 81 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2024 

2025 

2026 

2027 

2028 

2029 

2030 

2031 

2032 

2033 

2034 

2035 

2036 

2037 

2038 

2039 

20 4 0 

2041 

2042 

2043 

2044 

2045 

2046 

2047 

2048 

HB 21 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 7 years and shall be ordered to pay a fine of 

$100 , 000 . 

c . Is 50 grams or more, but less than 200 grams , such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 15 years and shall be ordered to pay a fine of 

$500 , 000. 

2018 

d . Is 200 grams or more , but less than 30 kilograms , such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 25 years and shall be ordered to pay a fine of 

$750 , 000 . 

3 . A person who knowingly sel l s , purchases, manufactures , 

delivers , or brings into this state , or who is knowingly in 

actual or constructive possession of , 7 g r ams or more of 

oxycodone , as described in s. 893.03 (2) (a) l.q. 893 . 03 (2) (a) l. o ., 

or any salt thereof , or 7 grams or more of any mixture 

containing any such substance , commits a felony of the first 

degree , which fe l ony sha l l be known as " trafficking in 

oxycodone ," punishable as provided ins . 775 . 082 , s. 775 . 083 , or 

s . 775 . 084 . If the quant i ty invo l ved : 

a . Is 7 grams or more , but less than 14 grams , such person 

shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment 

of 3 years and shall be ordered to pay a fine of $50 , 000 . 

b . Is 14 grams or more , but less than 25 grams, such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

Page 82 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2049 

2050 

2051 

2052 

2053 

2054 

2055 

2056 

2057 

2058 

2059 

2060 

2061 

2062 

2063 

2064 

2065 

2066 

2067 

2068 

2069 

2070 

2071 

2072 

2073 

HB 21 

imprisonment of 7 years and shall be ordered to pay a fine of 

$1 00 , 000 . 

c. Is 25 g r ams or more , but less than 100 grams , such 

person shall b e sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

impr i sonment of 15 years and sha l l be ordered to pay a fine of 

$500 , 000 . 

2018 

d . Is 100 grams or more , but less than 30 kilograms , such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term o f 

imprisonment of 25 years and shall be ordered to pay a fine of 

$750 , 000 . 

4 . a . A person who knowingly sells , purchases , 

manufactures , delivers , or brings i nto this state , or who is 

knowingly in actual or constructive possession of , 4 grams or 

more of : 

(I) Alfentanil , as descr i bed ins . 893 . 03(2) (b)l. ; 

(II) Carfentanil , as described in s . 893 . 03 (2) (b) 6 .; 

(III) Fentanyl , as descr i bed ins . 893 . 03(2) (b)9 .; 

(IV) Sufent anil , as described in s . 8 93 . 03 ( 2) (b) 30 . 

893 . 03(2) (b)29 .; 

(V) A fentanyl derivative , as described in s . 

893 . 03(1) (a)62 .; 

(VI) A controlled substance analog , as described in s . 

893 . 0356 , of any substance described in sub-sub- subparagraphs 

(I) - (V) ; or 

(VII) A mixture conta i ning any substance described in sub-

Page 83 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2074 

2075 

2076 

2077 

2078 

2079 

2080 

2081 

2082 

2083 

2084 

2085 

2086 

2087 

2088 

2089 

2090 

2091 

2092 

2093 

2094 

2095 

2096 

2097 

2098 

HB 21 2018 

sub- subparagraphs (I) - (VI) , 

commits a felony of the first degree, which felony shall be 

known as " trafficking in fentanyl," punishabl e as prov i ded ins. 

775.082 , s . 775 . 083 , or s. 775.084. 

b. If the quantity involved under sub-subparagraph a .: 

(I) Is 4 grams or more, but less than 14 grams , such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 3 years, and shall be ordered to pay a fin e of 

$50,000. 

(II) I s 14 grams or more , but less than 28 grams , such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 15 years , and shall be o rdered to pay a fine of 

$100 , 000 . 

( III ) I s 28 grams or more, such person sha ll be sentenced 

to a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of 25 years, and 

sha ll be ordered to pay a fi ne of $500,000. 

5 . A person who knowingly se l ls , purchases, manufactures, 

de livers , or brings into this state, or who is knowingly in 

actual or constructive possession of , 30 kilograms or more of 

any morphine , opium, oxycodone , hydrocodone, codeine, 

hydromorphone, or any salt , der i vative , isomer, or salt of an 

isomer thereof , including heroin , as described in s . 

893.03(1) (b) , (2) (a) , (3) (c)3 ., or (3) (c)4 ., or 30 kilograms or 

more of any mixture containing any such substance , commits the 

Page 84 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2099 

2100 

2101 

2102 

2103 

2104 

2105 

2106 

2107 

2108 

2109 

2 110 

2111 

2 112 

2113 

2114 

211 5 

2116 

2117 

2118 

2119 

2120 

2121 

2122 

2123 

HB 21 2018 

first degree f elony of trafficking in illegal drugs. A person 

who has been convicted of the first degree felony of t r afficking 

in illega l drugs under this subparagraph shall be punished by 

life impris onment and is ineligible for any form of 

discretionary early rel ease except pardon or executive clemency 

o r conditional medical re lease under s . 947 . 149 . However , if the 

court determines that , in addition to commi tting any act 

specified in this paragraph : 

a . The person intentionally killed an individual or 

counseled , commanded , induced , procured , o r caused the 

intentiona l killing of an individual and such killing was the 

resu l t ; or 

b . The person ' s conduct in committing that act l ed to a 

natural , though not inevitable , lethal result , 

such person commits the capital felony of trafficking in illega l 

drugs , punishable as provided in ss. 775 . 082 and 921 . 142 . A 

person sent enced for a capital felony under this paragraph shall 

also be sentenced to pay the maximum fine provided under 

subparagraph 1 . 

6 . A person who knowingly brings into this state 60 

kilograms or more of any morphine , opium , oxycodone , 

hydrocodone , codeine , hydromorphone , or any salt , derivative , 

isomer , or sa l t of an isomer t hereof , including heroin , as 

described ins . 893 . 03(1) (b) , (2) (a) , (3) (c)3 ., or (3) (c)4 ., o r 

Page 85 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2124 

2125 

2126 

2127 

2128 

2129 

2130 

2131 

2132 

2133 

2134 

2135 

2136 

2 13 7 

2138 

2139 

2140 

2141 

2142 

2143 

2 1 44 

2145 

2146 

2147 

2 14 8 

HB 21 

60 kilograms or more of any mix tu re containing any such 

substance, and who knows that the probable resu l t of such 

importation would be the death of a person, commits cap i ta l 

importa tion of illegal drugs, a capita l fel ony punishable as 

provided in ss. 775.082 and 921 .14 2 . A pe r son sentenced for a 

c api ta l fe l ony under th is paragraph shall also be sentenced to 

pay t he maximum fine provided under s ubparagraph 1. 

(f) l. Any person who knowingly sells , purchases , 

manufactures, delivers , o r br ings int o this state , or who is 

knowing l y i n actual o r constructive possess i on of, 14 grams or 

more o f amphetamine, as descr ibed in s . 893 . 03(2) (c)2 ., o r 

methamphetamine, as descr ibed ins. 893 .0 3(2) (c)5 . 

2018 

8 93 . 03 ( 2) (e) 4., o r of any mixture conta ining amphetamine or 

methamphetamine, or phenylacetone, phenylacetic acid , 

pseudoephedrine, o r ephedr ine in con junc tion with other 

chemicals and equipment utilized i n the manu fa ctur e of 

amphetamine or methamphetamine , commits a felony of the fi rs t 

degree , which fel ony shal l be known as "trafficking i n 

amphetamine ," p uni s h ab le as provided ins. 775 . 082 , s . 775.083, 

o r s . 77 5 . 084 . If the quantity involved: 

a . Is 14 grams or more, but less than 28 grams, such 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 3 years , and the defendant shall be ordered to 

pay a fine of $50 ,0 00 . 

b. I s 28 grams or more, but les s than 200 grams , such 

Page 86 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

2149 

2150 

215 1 

2152 

2153 

2154 

2155 

2156 

2 1 57 

2158 

2159 

2160 

2161 

2162 

2163 

2164 

2165 

2166 

2167 

2168 

2169 

2170 

2171 

2172 

2 173 

HB 21 

person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of 

imprisonment of 7 years, and the defendant shall be ordered to 

pay a fine of $ 100 , 000 . 

2018 

c. Is 200 grams or more , such person shall be sentenced to 

a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of 15 calendar years 

and pay a fine of $250 , 000 . 

2 . Any person who knowingly manufactures or brings into 

this state 400 grams or more of amphetamine , as described in s. 

8 93. 03 ( 2) (c) 2 ., or methamphetamine, as described in s. 

893.03(2) (c ) 5 . 893 . 03(2) (e)4., or o f any mixture contain ing 

amphetamine or methamphetamine, or phenylacetone, phenylacetic 

acid , pseudoephedrine , or ephedrine in conjunction with other 

chemica l s and equipment used in the manufacture of amphetamine 

or methamphetamine, and who knows that the probable result of 

such manufacture or importation would be the death of any person 

commits capital manufacture or importation of amphetamine , a 

capital felony punishable as provided in ss. 775.082 and 

921 .14 2 . Any person sentenced for a capital felony under th i s 

paragraph shall also be sentenced to pay the maximum fine 

provided under subparagraph 1 . 

Section 17 . Pa rag raph s (b) , (c) , and (e) of subsection ( 3) 

of section 921.0 022 , Florida Statutes , are amended to read : 

921.0022 Criminal Punishment Code; offense severity 

ranking chart . -

(3) OFFENS E SEVERITY RANKING CHART 

Page 87 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2 174 

2175 

(b) LEVEL 2 

2176 

2177 

2178 

2179 

2 1 80 

Florida 

Statute 

379 .24 3 1 

( 1) (e) 3 . 

379.2431 

( 1) (e) 4. 

403.413(6) (c) 

517.07(2) 

590.28(1) 

Felony 

Degree 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Description 

Possession of 11 or fewer 

marine turtle eggs in violation 

of the Marine Turtle Protection 

Act. 

Possession of more than 11 

marine turt l e eggs in violation 

of the Marine Turtle Protection 

Act. 

Dumps waste litter exceeding 

500 lbs. in weight or 100 cubic 

feet in volume or any quantity 

for commercial purposes , or 

hazardous waste . 

Failure to furnish a prospec tus 

meeting requirements . 

Intentional burning of lands. 

Page 88 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2181 

784.05(3) 3rd 

2182 

787.04(1) 3rd 

2183 

806 .1 3( 1) (b)3. 3rd 

2184 

810 . 061(2) 3rd 

2185 

810 . 09(2) (e) 3rd 

2186 

812 .01 4(2) (c)1. 3rd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

Stor i ng or leaving a loaded 

firearm within reach of minor 

who uses it to inflict in j ury 

or death. 

In violation of court order, 

take , entice , etc ., minor 

beyond state limits. 

Cr iminal misch i ef ; damage 

$1 ,00 0 or more to public 

communication or any other 

public service . 

Impairing or impeding telephone 

o r power to a dwe l ling ; 

facilitating or furthering 

burglary. 

Trespassing on posted 

commerc ial horticulture 

prope rty. 

Grand theft, 3rd degree; $300 

Page 89 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2 1 87 

812 . 014 (2) (d) 3rd 

2188 

812 . 015(7) 3rd 

2189 

817 . 234(1) (a)2 . 3rd 

2190 

817.481 (3) (a) 3rd 

2191 

817 . 52(3) 3rd 

2192 

817.54 3rd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

or more but less than $5 , 000 . 

Grand theft , 3rd degree ; $100 

or more but less than $300 , 

taken from unenclosed curtilage 

of dwelling . 

Possession , use , or attempted 

use of an antishoplifting or 

inventory control device 

countermeasure . 

False statement in support of 

insurance claim . 

Obtain credit or purchase with 

false , expired , counterfeit , 

et c ., credit card , value over 

$300. 

Failure to redeliver hired 

vehicle. 

With intent to defraud , obtain 

mortgage note , etc. , by false 

Page 90 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 2018 

representation. 

2193 

817 . 60(5) 3rd Dea ling in credit cards of 

another . 

2194 

817 .60 (6) (a) 3rd Fo rgery ; purchase goods , 

serv i ces wi th false card . 

2195 

817 . 61 3rd Fraudulent use of c r edit cards 

over $100 or more within 6 

months . 

2196 

826 . 04 3rd Knowingly marri es or has sexua l 

intercourse with person t o whom 

related. 

2 1 97 

83 1. 0 1 3rd Forgery . 

2198 

831 . 02 3rd Uttering fo rged instrume nt ; 

utt e r s or publishes alterat i o n 

wi th intent to defraud. 

2199 

83 1 . 07 3rd Forging bank bills , checks , 

drafts , o r promissory notes. 

2200 

Page 91 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

831 . 08 3rd 

2201 

83 1. 09 3rd 

2202 

831. 11 3rd 

2203 

832 . 05 (3) (a) 3rd 

2204 

843 . 08 3rd 

2205 

893 . 13(2) (a)2 . 3rd 

2206 

893 . 147(2) 3rd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Possessing 10 or more f orged 

n ote s, bills , checks , or 

drafts . 

Utter ing forged notes , bills , 

checks , drafts , or promissory 

notes . 

Bringing into the state forged 

bank bills , checks , drafts , or 

notes. 

Cashing or depositing item with 

i nten t to defraud . 

Fa lse personat i on . 

Purchase of any s . 

893 . 03(1) (c) , (2) (c)l. , 

(2) (c)2 ., (2) (c)3 ., (2) (c )S. , 

(2) (c)6 ., (2) (c)7 ., (2) (c)8 ., 

(2) (c)9 ., (2) (c) 1 0 ., (3) , or 

(4) drugs other than cannabis . 

Manufacture or delivery of drug 

Page 92 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2207 

2208 

2209 

(c) LEVEL 3 

22 1 0 

2211 

2212 

2213 

2214 

2215 

Florida 

Statute 

119 . 10(2)(b) 

316 . 066 

(3) (b) - (d) 

316. 193 (2) (b) 

316 . 1935(2) 

319 . 30(4) 

Felony 

Degree 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

paraphernalia. 

Description 

Unlawful use of confidential 

information from pol i ce 

reports. 

Unlawfully obtaining or using 

confidential crash reports. 

Felony DUI, 3rd conviction . 

Flee i ng or attempting t o elude 

law enforcement officer in 

patrol vehicle with siren and 

lights activated. 

Possession by junkyard of motor 

vehicle with i dentification 

number plate removed. 

Page 93 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021 -00 



F L ORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

319 . 33(1) (a) 3rd 

2216 

319.33(1) (c) 3rd 

2217 

319.33(4) 3rd 

22 1 8 

327.35 (2) (b) 3rd 

22 1 9 

328.05(2) 3rd 

2220 

328.07(4) 3rd 

2221 

376 . 302(5) 3rd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

Alter or forge any certificate 

of title to a motor vehicle or 

mobile home . 

Procure or pass title on stolen 

vehicle. 

With intent to defraud, 

possess, sell, etc ., a blank , 

forged , or unlawfully obtained 

title or registration. 

Felony BUI . 

Possess , sell , or counterfeit 

fic t itiou s, stolen , or 

fraudulent tit l es or bills of 

sale of vessels. 

Manufacture , exchange , or 

possess vessel with counterfeit 

or wrong ID number. 

Fraud related to reimbursement 

for cleanup expenses under the 

Page 94 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA 

HB 21 

2222 

379 . 2431 

( 1) (e) 5 . 

2223 

379 . 2431 

( 1) (e) 6 . 

2224 

379 . 2431 

( 1) (e) 7 . 

2225 

400 . 9935(4) (a) 

H 0 U S E 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Inland Protection Trust Fund . 

Taking , disturbing , mutilating , 

destroying , causing to be 

destroyed , transferring , 

selling , o ffering to sell , 

mo l est i ng , or harassing marine 

turtles , marine turtle eggs , or 

marine turtle nests in 

violation o f the Marine Turtle 

Protection Act . 

Possessing any marine turtle 

species or hatchling, or parts 

thereof , or the nest of any 

marine turtle species described 

in the Marine Turtle Protect i on 

Act . 

Soliciting to commit or 

conspiring to commit a 

violation of the Marine Turtle 

Protection Act . 

Operating a clinic , or offering 

Page 95 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

or (b) 

2226 

400.9935(4) (e) 3rd 

2227 

44 0 .1 05 1 (3) 3 r d 

2228 

50 1.001 (2) (b) 2nd 

2229 

624.401 (4) (a) 3rd 

2230 

624 .4 0 1 (4) (b) 1. 3rd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

services requir ing li censure , 

without a license. 

Filing a fa l se license 

application or other required 

information or failing to 

repor t information. 

False repo rt of workers ' 

compensation fraud or 

retaliati on for making such a 

report. 

Tamper s with a consume r product 

or the container using 

materially f alse/mis l eading 

informat i on . 

Transacting insurance without a 

certificate of authority. 

Transacting ins ura nce without a 

cert ificate of author i ty ; 

p r emium collected less than 

$20 , 000 . 

Page 96 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021 -00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

2231 

2232 

2233 

2234 

2235 

2236 

2237 

HB 21 

626 . 902 (1) (a) & 

(b) 

697 . 08 

790 . 15(3) 

806 . 10(1) 

806 . 10(2) 

810 . 09(2) (c) 

812 . 014(2) (c)2 . 

3rd Representing an unauthorized 

insurer . 

3rd Equ i ty skimming . 

3rd Person directs another to 

discharge firearm from a 

veh i cle . 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

3rd 

Maliciously in j ure , destroy , or 

interfere with vehicles or 

equipment used in firefighting . 

Interferes wi th or assaults 

firefigh ter in performance of 

duty . 

Trespass on property other than 

structure or conveyance armed 

with firearm or dangerous 

weapon . 

Grand the f t ; $5 , 000 or more but 

less than $10 , 000 . 

Page 97 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2018 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2238 

812.0145 (2) (c) 3rd 

2239 

815 . 04(5) (b) 2nd 

2240 

817 . 034(4) (a)3 . 3rd 

2241 

8 17 . 233 3rd 

2242 

817 . 234 3rd 

(8) (b) & (c) 

2243 

817 . 234(11) (a) 3rd 

2244 

817 . 236 3rd 

2245 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Theft from person 65 years of 

age or o lder ; $300 or more but 

less than $10 , 000 . 

Computer offense devised to 

defraud o r obtain property . 

Engages in scheme to defraud 

(F l orida Communications Fraud 

Act) , property valued at less 

than $20 , 000 . 

Burning to defraud insurer . 

Unlawful solic i tation of 

persons i nvo l v e d i n motor 

vehic l e acc i dents. 

Insurance fraud ; property value 

less than $20 , 000 . 

Filing a false motor vehicle 

insurance app l ication . 

Page 98 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

817 . 2361 3rd 

2246 

817 . 413(2) 3rd 

2247 

828.12(2) 3rd 

2248 

831 . 28 (2) (a) 3rd 

2249 

831.29 2nd 

2250 

838 . 02 1 (3) (b) 3rd 

2251 

843 . 19 3rd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

Creating , marketing, or 

presenting a false or 

fraudulent motor vehicle 

insurance card . 

Sale of used goods as new . 

Tortures any animal with intent 

to inflict intense pain, 

serious physical injury, or 

death. 

Counter f ei t ing a payment 

instrument with intent to 

defraud or possessing a 

counterfe it payment instrument. 

Possession of instruments for 

counterfeiting driver licenses 

or identification cards. 

Threatens unlawful harm to 

public servant. 

Injure , disable , or ki ll police 

Page 99 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2252 

860 .1 5(3) 3rd 

2253 

870 . 01(2) 3rd 

2254 

893.13(1) (a)2 . 3rd 

2255 

893 . 13(1) (d)2 . 2nd 

2256 

893 .13(1) (f)2 . 2nd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

dog or horse. 

Overcharging for repairs a n d 

parts . 

Riot; inciting or encouraging . 

Sel l, manufacture , or deliver 

cannabis (or other s . 

893 . 03(1) (c) , (2) (c)l. , 

(2)(c)2 ., (2)(c)3 ., (2)(c)S ., 

(2) (c)6 ., (2) (c)7. , (2) (c)8 ., 

(2) (c)9 ., (2) (c)lO. , (3) , or 

( 4) drugs) . 

Sel l, manufacture, or deliver 

s . 893 . 03(1) (c) , (2) (c)l., 

(2)(c)2 ., (2)(c)3 ., (2)(c)5. , 

(2)(c)6 ., (2)(c)7. , (2)(c)8. , 

(2) (c)9 ., (2) (c)lO ., (3) , or 

(4) drugs within 1 , 000 feet of 

university. 

Sel l, manufacture , or del i ver 

s . 893 . 03(1) (c) , (2) (c)l. , 

Page100of114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2257 

893 .13 (4) (c) 3rd 

2258 

893.13(6) (a) 3rd 

2259 

893 . 13(7) (a)8 . 3rd 

2260 

893 . 13(7) (a)9 . 3rd 

2261 

893 .1 3(7) (a)10 . 3rd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

( 2) (c) 2 ., (2) (c) 3 ., ( 2) (c) 5. , 

( 2) (c) 6 ., (2) (c) 7 ., ( 2) (c) 8. , 

(2) (c) 9 ., (2)(c)10 ., ( 3) , or 

( 4) drugs with in 1, 000 feet o f 

publi c housing facility. 

Use or hire of minor ; deliver 

to minor other control l ed 

substances . 

Possession o f any controlled 

substan ce other than felony 

possession of cannabis . 

Withhold information from 

practitioner regarding previous 

r ece ipt of or prescription for 

a controlled substance . 

Obtain or attempt to obtain 

control l ed substance by fraud , 

forgery , misrepresentation , 

etc . 

Affix false or forged label to 

Page 101 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2262 

893 .1 3(7) (a)1 1. 3rd 

2263 

893 . 13(8) (a)l. 3 rd 

2264 

893 . 13(8) (a)2 . 3rd 

2265 

893 .1 3(8) (a)3 . 3rd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

package of controlled 

substance. 

Furnish false or fraudulent 

material information on any 

document or record required by 

chapter 893 . 

Knowingly ass i st a patient , 

other person , or owner of an 

animal in obtaining a 

controlled substance through 

deceptive , untrue , or 

fraudulent representations in 

or related to t he 

practitioner's practice . 

Employ a trick or scheme in the 

practitioner ' s practice to 

assist a patient , other person , 

or owner of an animal in 

obtaining a controlled 

substance. 

Knowingly wri t e a prescription 

Page 1 02 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2266 

893 . 13(8) (a)4 . 3rd 

2267 

918.13 (1) (a) 3rd 

2268 

944 . 47 3rd 

(l)(a)l. & 2 . 

2269 

944 . 47 (1) (c) 2nd 

2270 

985 . 721 3rd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

for a controlled substance f or 

a fictitious person . 

Write a prescr i ption for a 

controlled substance for a 

patient , other pe r son , or an 

animal if the sole purpose of 

wr iting the prescription is a 

monetary benefit for the 

practitioner . 

Alter, destroy , or conceal 

inves tigation evidence. 

Introduce contraband to 

correctional fac i lity. 

Possess contraband wh i le upon 

the grounds of a correctional 

institution . 

Escapes from a juvenile 

faci l ity (secure detention or 

residential commitment 

facility) . 

Page103of114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

2271 

2272 

2273 

2274 

2275 

2276 

2277 

2278 

2279 

HB 21 

(e) LEVEL 5 

Florida 

Statute 

316.027 (2) (a) 

3 1 6 .1 935(4) (a) 

316 . 80(2) 

322 . 34(6) 

327 . 30(5) 

379 . 365 (2) (c) 1. 

Fe l o n y 

Degree 

3 rd 

2nd 

2nd 

3rd 

3 r d 

3rd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Description 

Accidents involving personal 

injuries other than serious 

bodily i njury , f ai l ure to stop ; 

leaving scene . 

Aggravated fleeing or eluding. 

Unlawful conveyance of fuel ; 

obta ining fuel fraudulently. 

Careless opera t ion of moto r 

vehicle wi th suspended licen se , 

resulting in death o r se ri ous 

bodily injury. 

Vessel accidents involvi n g 

personal injury; leaving scene. 

Vi ol a tion of rules relating to: 

Page 1 04 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2280 

379 . 367(4) 3rd 

2281 

379.407(5) (b)3 . 3rd 

2282 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

wi l l ful molestat i on of stone 

crab traps , lines , or buoys ; 

illegal barter i ng , trading , or 

sa l e , conspiring or aiding i n 

s u c h barter , trade , or sale , or 

supplying , agre eing to supply , 

aiding in supplyi ng , or g i ving 

away stone crab t r ap tags or 

certificates ; making , altering , 

f orging , counte r feiting , or 

rep r oduc i ng s t one crab trap 

t ags ; possess i on of forged , 

counterfeit , or imitation stone 

crab trap tags ; and engaging in 

the commercial harvest of stone 

crabs while license is 

suspended o r revoked . 

Wi l lful molestation of a 

commercia l harvester ' s spiny 

lobster trap , l ine , or buoy . 

Possession of 100 or more 

undersized sp i ny lobsters . 

Page 105 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 2018 

38 1 . 0041 (11) (b) 3rd Donate blood , plasma, or organ s 

knowing HIV positive . 

2283 

440 . 10(1) (g) 2nd Failure t o obtain workers ' 

compensat i on coverage . 

2284 

440 . 105(5) 2nd Unl awful s ol icitation for the 

purpos e of making workers ' 

compensation claims . 

2285 

440.381( 2) 2nd Submi ss i on of false , 

mi s lead i ng , o r incomplete 

information with the purpose of 

avoidi ng o r reducing workers ' 

compensation premi ums . 

2286 

624 . 401(4) (b) 2 . 2nd Transact ing insurance wi thout a 

certificate or authority; 

premium collected $20 , 000 or 

more but less than $100 , 000 . 

2287 

626 . 902(1) (c) 2nd Representing an unauthor i zed 

insure r ; repeat offender . 

2288 

790 . 01(2) 3rd Carrying a concea led f i rearm . 

Page 106 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2289 

790. 1 62 2nd 

2290 

790.163(1) 2nd 

2291 

790 . 221(1) 2nd 

2292 

790 . 23 2nd 

2293 

796.05(1) 2nd 

2294 

800 . 04(6) (c) 3rd 

2295 

800.04 (7) (b) 2nd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Threat to throw or discharge 

destructive device. 

False report of bomb , 

exp l osive , weapon of mass 

destruction, or use of firearms 

in violent manner . 

Possession of short - barreled 

shotgun or machine gun . 

Felons in possession of 

firearms , ammunition , or 

electronic weapons or devices. 

Live on earnings of a 

prostitute ; 1st of f ense. 

Lewd or lascivious conduct; 

offender less than 1 8 years of 

age . 

Lewd or lascivious exhibition; 

offender 18 years of age or 

Page 107 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2296 

806 . 111(1) 3rd 

2297 

812 . 0145(2) (b) 2nd 

2298 

812 . 01 5(8) 3rd 

2299 

812 . 019(1) 2nd 

2300 

812 . 131 (2) (b) 3rd 

2301 

812 . 16(2) 3rd 

2302 

817 . 034(4) (a)2 . 2nd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

older . 

Possess , manu f acture , or 

dispense fire bomb with intent 

to damage any structure or 

proper t y . 

Theft fr om person 65 years of 

age or older ; $10 , 000 or more 

but less than $50 , 000 . 

Retail theft ; property stolen 

is valued at $300 or more and 

one o r more specified acts . 

Stolen property ; dealing in or 

traf fi cking in . 

Robbery by sudden snatching . 

Owning , operating , or 

conducting a chop shop . 

Communications fraud , valu e 

$20 , 000 to $50 , 000. 

Page 108 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA 

2303 

2304 

2305 

2306 

HB 21 

817 . 234(11) (b) 

8 1 7 . 2341(1) , 

(2) (a) & 

( 3) (a) 

817 . 568(2) (b) 

817 . 611(2) (a) 

H 0 U S E 

2nd 

3rd 

2nd 

2nd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

I nsurance fraud; property value 

$20 , 000 or more but less than 

$100 , 000 . 

Filing false f i nanc i al 

statements , mak i ng false 

entries of material fact or 

false statements regarding 

property values relating to the 

solvency of an insuring entity . 

Fraudulent use of personal 

identification information ; 

value of benefit , services 

received , payment avoided , or 

amount of injury o r fraud , 

$5 , 000 or more or use of 

personal identification 

information of 10 or more 

persons . 

Traffic in or possess 5 to 14 

counterfeit credit cards or 

re l ated documents . 

Page 1 09 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2307 

817 . 625(2) (b) 2nd 

2308 

825 . 1025(4) 3rd 

2309 

827 . 071(4) 2nd 

2310 

827 . 071(5) 3rd 

2311 

839 . 13(2) (b) 2nd 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Second or subsequent fraudulent 

use of scanning device , 

skimming device , or reencoder. 

Lewd or lascivious exhibition 

in the presence of an elderly 

person or disabled adult . 

Possess with intent to promote 

any photographic material , 

motion p i cture , etc ., which 

includes sexual conduct by a 

child . 

Possess , control , or 

intent i onall y view any 

photographi c mater i al , motion 

picture , etc ., which includes 

sexual conduct by a child . 

Falsifying records of an 

individual in the care and 

cus t ody of a state agency 

involving great bodily harm or 

Page 110 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA 

HB 21 

2312 

843 . 01 

2313 

847 . 0135(5) (b) 

2314 

847 . 01 37 

(2) & ( 3) 

2315 

847 . 0138 

(2) & (3) 

2316 

874 . 0 5 (1) (b) 

2317 

874 . 05(2) (a) 

H 0 U S E 

3rd 

2nd 

3rd 

3rd 

2nd 

2nd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

death . 

Resist officer with violence to 

person ; resist arrest with 

vio l ence . 

Lewd o r lascivious exhib i tion 

using computer ; offender 18 

years or older . 

Transmission of pornography by 

electronic device or equipment . 

Transmission of material 

harmful to minors to a minor by 

electronic device or equipment . 

Encouraging or recruiting 

another to join a criminal 

gang ; second or subsequent 

offense . 

Encouraging or recruiting 

person under 13 years of age to 

join a criminal gang . 

Page 111 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2318 

893 .1 3( 1 ) (a) l. 2nd 

23 1 9 

893 .1 3( 1 ) (c)2 . 2nd 

2320 

893 . 13 (1) (d) 1. 1st 

0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

Se l l , manu f ac ture , or del i ver 

cocaine (or o t her s . 

893 . 03(1) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d) , 

(2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c) 5 . 

(2) ( c ) 4. drugs) . 

Se l l , manufacture , or de l iver 

c a nnabis (or other s . 

893 . 03(l)(c) , (2)(c)l. , 

(2) (c)2 ., (2) (c)3 ., (2) (c)S ., 

(2)(c)6 ., (2)(c)7 ., (2)(c)8 ., 

(2) (c) 9 ., (2) (c) 10 ., (3) , or 

(4) drugs) within 1 , 000 fee t of 

a child care facility , school , 

or state , county , or municipal 

park or pub l ic l y owned 

recreationa l facil i ty or 

community center . 

Sell, ma nufacture , or deliver 

cocaine (or other s . 

893 . 03(1) (a) , (1 ) (b) , (1) (d) , 

(2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c) 5 . 

(2) (c) 4. drugs ) within 1 , 000 

Page 112 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 

HB 21 

2321 

893 . 13(1) (e)2 . 2nd 

2322 

893 . 13(1) (f) l. 1st 

2323 

893.13(4) (b) 2nd 

0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

feet of un i vers i ty . 

Se l l , manufacture , or deliver 

cannabis or othe r drug 

proh ibited under s . 

893.03(1)(c) , (2)(c)l. , 

(2)(c)2 ., (2)(c)3 ., (2)(c)S ., 

(2) (c)6 ., (2) (c)7 ., (2) (c)8 ., 

(2) (c) 9 ., (2) (c) 10 ., (3) , o r 

( 4 ) wi th in 1 , 000 f ee t of 

property used for re ligious 

servi ces or a specif i ed 

business s i te . 

Sell , manufact u re , or deliver 

cocaine (or other s . 

893 . 03( 1 ) (a) , (1) (b) , (1) (d) , 

or (2) (a) , (2) (b) , or (2) (c) 5 . 

(2) (c) 4. drugs) within 1 , 000 

feet of public hou sing 

fac il ity. 

Use or h i re of minor ; delive r 

to mi nor other controlled 

subs t ance . 

Page 113 of 114 

2018 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 21 

2324 

893 . 1351(1) 

2325 

3rd Ownership , lease , or rental for 

trafficking in or manufacturing 

of controlled substance . 

2018 

2326 Sect i on 18 . Except as otherwise provided in this act , this 

2327 act shall take effect July 1 , 20 18 . 

Page 114 of 114 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0021-00 



1111111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No . 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 21 (2018) 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE ACTION 

ADOPTED (Y/N) 

ADOPTED AS AMENDED (Y/N) 

ADOPTED W/0 OBJECTION (Y/N) 

FAILED TO ADOPT 

WITHDRAWN 

OTHER 

(Y/N) 

(Y/N) 

1 Committee/Subcommittee hearing bill: Health Quality 

2 Subcommittee 

3 Representative Boyd offered the following: 

4 

5 Amendment 

6 Remove line 1190 and insert: 

7 (a) The department or the relevant health care regulatory 

8 board for investigations involving licensees 

9 

10 Remove line 1528 and insert: 

11 (d) The department or the relevant health care regulatory 

12 board for investigations involving licensees 

13 

14 

858463 - h0021-linell90 .docx 

Published On: 1/9/2018 3 : 02:59 PM 

Page 1 of 1 



I 
OJ 
U1 ....... 
w 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 513 Distributing Pharmaceutical Drugs and Devices 
SPONSOR(S): Rommel 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee Langston Glt/McEiroytfh 

2) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

Third-party logistics providers act as an intermediary between the manufacturer or distributor of prescription 
drugs and the consumer by providing supply chain logistics services and transportation . These entities do not 
take title to or have responsibil ity to direct the sale or disposition of the prescription drug. 

The Florida Drug and Cosmetic Act, requires the Department of Business and Professional Regulation (DBPR) 
to regulate drugs, devices, and cosmetics. Most of the regulations relate to the distribution of prescription drugs 
into and within Florida. In particular, the regulations require various entities in the distribution chain , such as 
prescription drug manufacturers and wholesale distributors, medical device manufacturers, and third-party 
logistics providers to obtain permits. 

The Board of Pharmacy recognizes six types of pharmacy permits, including Special Pharmacy- End Stage 
Renal Dialysis (ESRD). An ESRD permit is required for any person who provides dialysis products and 
supplies to persons with chronic kidney failure for self-administration at the person 's home or specified 
address. Section 465.027(2), F.S. , provides an exemption from pharmacy permitting requirements, including 
ESRD permits, for a manufacturer, or its agent, holding an active permit as a manufacturer under ch. 499, F.S., 
who is engaged solely in the manufacturer or distribution of dialysate, drugs, or devices necessary to perform 
home renal dialysis on patients with chronic kidney failure . 

Third-party logistics providers must obtain a third-party logistics provider permit to operate in Florida . Third
party logistics providers that provide dialysis products and supplies to persons with chronic kidney failure for 
self-administration at the person's home must also obtain an ESRD permit. 

HB 513 expands the exemption from permitting requirements ins. 465.027(2), F.S. , to third-party logistics 
providers who are engaged in the distribution of dialysate, drugs, or devices necessary to perform home renal 
dialysis on patients with chronic kidney failure . 

The bill also removes the requirement that a manufacturer or its agent be engaged solely in the manufacture or 
distribution of dialysate, drugs, or devices necessary to perform home renal dialysis on patients with chronic 
kidney failure to qualify for the 465.027(2), F.S. , exemption. 

The bill has no fiscal impact on local government, and may have a negative, indeterminate, insignificant impact 
on the Board of Pharmacy. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0513.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Kidne'i Disease and Renal Dialysis 

Chronic kidney disease is a condition in which a person gradually loses kidney function over time, and 
includes conditions that damage the kidneys and decrease their ability to process waste. 1 Renal 
dialysis is a common treatment for individuals with chronic kidney failure, and is used to:2 

• Remove waste, salt, and extra water to prevent build up in the body. 
• Maintain a safe level of certain chemicals in the blood, such as potassium, sodium, and 

bicarbonate. 
• Control blood pressure. 

Renal dialysis can be performed in a hospital , in a dialysis unit that is not part of a hospital, or in a 
person 's home.3 Additionally, there are two types of dialysis , hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. 

In hemodialysis, an artificial kidney, called a hemodialyzer, is used to remove waste and extra 
chemicals and fluid from the blood.4 Blood is pumped out of the body and into the hemodialyzer to be 
cleaned. The dialyzer, or filter, has two parts, separated by a thin membrane: one for blood and one for 
a washing fluid, called dialysate.5 Blood cells and proteins remain in the blood because they are too 
large to pass through the membrane; however, smaller waste products, such as urea, creatinine, 
potassium and extra fluid pass through the membrane and are washed away.6 The filtered blood is 
returned to the body when the process is complete. 7 

In peritoneal dialysis the inside lining of the stomach acts as a natural filter and wastes are taken out 
with dialysate, which is washed in and out of the stomach in cycles.8 A catheter is surgically inserted 
into the stomach and is used to transfer the dialysate into and out of the stomach.9 There are two kinds 
of peritoneal dialysis, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis and automated peritoneal dialysis. 10 

These are the same basic treatment; however, the former is manual and done while the person 
receiving treatment goes about normal daily activities, and the latter is a machine cycler that is usually 
done overnight, while the person is asleep. 11 

Regulation of Drugs, Devices, and Cosmetics in Florida 

Part I of ch. 499, F.S., the Florida Drug and Cosmetic Act, requires the Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation (DBPR) to regulate drugs, devices, and cosmetics. 12 Most of the regulations 

1 National Kidney Foundation , About Chronic Kidney Disease, available at https://www.kidney.org /kidneydisease/aboutckd (last visited 
January 7, 2018). 
2 National Kidney Foundation, Dialysis, https://www.kidney.org/atoz/content/dialysisinfo (last visited January 7, 2018). 
3 1d. 
4 National Kidney Foundation , Hemodialysis , https://www.kidney.org/atozlcontent/hemodialysis (last visited January 7, 2018). 
5 National Kidney Foundation , Peritoneal Dialysis: What You Need to Know, https://www.kidney.org /atoz/content/peritoneal (last visited 
January 7, 2018). 
6 Supra, note 4. 
7 Supra, note 5. 
8 ld . 
9 ld . 
10 ld . 
11 ld. 
12 S. 27 , ch. 2010-161, Laws of Fla. , shifted responsibility for operation and enforcement of the Florida Drugs, Devices, and Cosmetics 
Act from the Department of Health to the Department of Business and Professional Regulation. 
STORAGE NAME: h051 3.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 



relate to the distribution of prescription drugs into and within Florida. The chapter also regulates 
manufacturing and distributing medical devices. In particular, the regulations require various entities in 
the distribution chain , such as prescription drug manufacturers and prescription drug wholesale 
distributors, to obtain permits. Florida has 18 distinct permits for these entities.13 

Manufacturer Permits 

DBPR offers nine different manufacturer and repackager permits for prescription drugs, over the 
counter drugs, cosmetics, and medical devices. 

Prescription drug manufacturer permits are required for anyone that manufactures or distributes 
prescription drugs in Florida. 14 If someone manufactures prescription drugs outside of Florida, but 
distributes their prescription drugs in Florida, a nonresident prescription drug manufacturer permit is 
required, unless that person is permitted as a third party logistics provider. 15 Virtual permits are 
available for those who engages in the manufacture of prescription drugs but do not make or take 
physical possession of any prescription drugs. 16 An over-the-counter drug manufacturer permit is 
required for anyone manufacturing or repackaging over-the-counter drugs17 and a cosmetic 
manufacturer permit is required for anyone manufacturing or repackaging cosmetics in Florida. 18 

A device manufacturer permit is required for anyone engaging in the manufacture, repackaging, or 
assembly of medical devices for human use unless the person only manufactures, repackages, or 
assembles medical devices or components: 19 

• Pursuant to a practitioner's order for a specific patient; or, 
• That are registered with the federal Food and Drug Administration and satisfy specified statutory 

requirements . 

Regulation of Pharmacies and Pharmacists 

Pursuant to ch . 465, F.S., the Florida Board of Pharmacy, within the Department of Health, licenses 
and regulates the practice of pharmacy. The term "pharmacy" includes a community pharmacy, 20 an 
institutional pharmacy, 21 a nuclear pharmacy,22 a special pharmacy, 23 and an internet pharmacy.24 The 

13 A permit is required for a prescription drug manufacturer; a prescription drug repackager; a nonresident prescription drug 
manufacturer; a prescription drug wholesale distributor; an out-of-state prescription drug wholesale distributor; a retail pharmacy drug 
wholesale distributor; a restricted prescription drug distributor; a complimentary drug distributor; a freight forwarder; a veterinary 
prescription drug retail establishment; a veterinary prescription drug wholesale distributor; a limited prescription drug veterinary 
wholesale distributor; an over-the-counter drug manufacturer; a device manufacturer; a cosmetic manufacturer; a third party logistics 
provider; or a health care clinic establishment. S. 499.01 (1 ), F.S. 
14 S. 499.01 (2)(a), F .S. 
15 S. 499.01(2)(c), F.S. 
16 S. 499.01(2)(a)1 ., F.S. and S. 499.01(2)(c), F.S. 
17 S. 499.01(2)(n), F.S . 
18 S. 499.01 (2)(p) , F.S . Someone that only labels or changes the labeling of a cosmetic but does not open the container sealed by the 
manufacturer of the product is exempt from obtaining a cosmetic manufacturer permit. 
19 S. 499.01(2)(o), F.S. 
20 A community pharmacy includes every location where medicinal drugs are compounded, dispensed, stored, or sold, or where 
prescriptions are filled or dispensed on an outpatient basis. 8.465.003(11 )(a)1 ., F.S. 
21 An institutional pharmacy includes every location in a hospital, clinic, nursing home, dispensary, sanitarium, extended care facility, or 
other facility where medicinal drugs are compounded, dispensed, stored , or sold. S. 465.003(11 )(a)2., F.S. 
22 A nuclear pharmacy includes every location were radioactive drugs and chemicals within the classification of medicinal drugs are 
compounded, dispensed, stored, or sold, but does not include hospitals or the nuclear medicine facilities of hospitals. 
S. 465 .003(11 )(a)3., F.S. 
23 A special pharmacy includes every location where medicinal drugs are compounded , dispensed, stored, or sold , if not otherwise 
classified as a community pharmacy, institutional pharmacy, nuclear pharmacy, or internet pharmacy. S. 465 .003(11 )(a)4., F .S. 
24 An internet pharmacy includes locations not otherwise licensed or issued a permit pursuant to statute, within or outside of this state, 
which use the Internet to communicate with or obtain information from consumers in this state and use such communication or 
information to fill or refill prescriptions or to dispense, distribute , or otherwise engage in the practice of pharmacy. S. 465.003(11 )(a)5. , 
F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0513.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



board regulates the operation of pharmacies and disciplines pharmacies for failure to comply with state 
and federal regulations. 25 

The Board of Pharmacy recognizes six types of pharmacy permits, including Special Pharmacy - End 
Stage Renal Dialysis (ESRD). 26 An ESRD permit is required for any person who provides dialysis 
products and supplies to persons with chronic kidney failure for self-administration at the person's 
home or specified address.27 To obtain an ESRD permit, an applicant must: 28 

• Complete an application and pay a $250 initial payment fee; 
• Submit a legible set of fingerprint cards and $48 fee for each person having an ownership 

interest of at least 5 percent and any person who, directly or indirectly, manages, oversees, or 
controls the operation of the pharmacy, including officers and members of the board of 
directors, if the applicant is a corporation; 

• Pass an on-site inspection; 
• Provide written policies and procedures for preventing and controlled substance dispensing 

based on fraudulent representations or invalid practitioner-patient relationships; and 
• Designate a prescription department manager or consultant pharmacist of record. 

Florida law provides an exemption to pharmacy permitting requirements, including ESRD permits, 
under limited circumstances. Specifically, s.465.027(2), F.S., exempts a manufacturer, or its agent, 
holding an active permit as a manufacturer under ch . 499, F.S., who is engaged solely in the 
manufacturer or distribution of dialysate, drugs, or devices necessary to perform home renal dialysis on 
patients with chronic kidney failure from pharmacy permitting requirements if the dialysate, drugs, or 
devices are: 

• Approved by the federal Food and Drug Administration, and 
• Delivered in the original , sealed packaging to the patient for self-administration, to a health care 

practitioner, or an institution. 

Regulation of Third-Party Logistics Providers 

Third-party logistics providers act as an intermediary between the manufacturer or distributor of 
prescription drugs and the consumer by providing supply chain logistics services and transportation. A 
third party logistics provider contracts with a prescription drug wholesale distributor or prescription drug 
manufacturer to provide warehousing, distribution, or other logistics services on behalf a manufacturer, 
wholesale distributor, or dispenser, but does not take title to or have responsibility to direct the sale or 
disposition of the prescription drug.29 Third-party logistic providers must obtain a DBPR permit before 
operating in Florida and out-of-state third-party logistics providers must also be licensed in the state or 
territory from where it distributes the prescription drug.30 Third-party logistics providers that provide 
dialysis products and supplies to persons with chronic kidney failure for self-administration at the 
person 's home must also obtain an ESRD permit. 

25 See ss. 465 .022 and 465.023, F.S. 
26 Rule 64B16-28.100(5)(d), F.A.C. 
27 Rule 64816-28.850(1), F.A.C. 
28 Rule 64b16-28.1 00(1) and (5), F.A.C. 
29 S. 499.01(2)(q), F.S. 
30 I d. If the state or territory from which the third party logistics provider originates does not require a license to operate as a third party 
logistics provider, the third party logistics provider must be licensed as a third party logistics provider as required under federal law. 
STORAGE NAME: h0513.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Effect of Proposed Changes: 

HB 513 expands the eligibility for the exemption from pharmacy permitting requirements in 
s. 465.027(2), F.S., to include third-party logistics providers who are engaged in the distribution of 
dialysate, drugs, or devices necessary to perform home renal dialysis on patients with chronic kidney 
failure. Third-party logistics provides will no longer be required to obtain an ESRD permit. 

The bill also removes the requirement that a manufacturer be engaged solely in the manufacture or 
distribution of dialysate, drugs, or devices necessary to perform home renal dialysis on patients with 
chronic kidney failure. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 465.027, F.S., relating to exceptions. 
Section 2: Provides an effective date. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

The bill may have a negative, indeterminate, insignificant impact on the Board of Pharmacy from 
the loss of permitting revenues from third-party logistics providers that will no longer be required to 
hold an ESRD permit. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Third-party logistics providers made exempt from ch . 465, F.S., under the bill will no longer be required 
to pay an ESRD permitting fee, and as a result will realize a savings. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

STORAGE NAME: h0513.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 5 



2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

None. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0513.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 

--- --

PAGE: 6 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 513 2018 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to distribut ing pharmaceutical drugs 

3 and dev i ces ; amending s. 465 . 027 , F.S .; revi sing an 

4 exception to pharmacy regulations for certain 

5 manufacturers a nd di str i but ors of dialysis drugs o r 

6 supplies ; providing an effect i ve date . 

7 

8 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Flor i da : 

9 

10 Section 1 . Subsect i on (2) of section 465 . 027 , Florida 

11 Statutes , is amended to read : 

12 4 65 . 027 Exceptions . -

13 (2) This chapter does shall not apply to a manufacturer , 

14 o r its agent , holding a n active manufacturer or third- party 

15 logisti cs provi der permit as a manufacturer under chapter 499~ 

1 6 to the extent the manu facturer , o r its agent , is ~ engaged 

17 so lely in the manufactu r e or distribut i on of dialysate , drugs , 

18 or devi ces necessary to perform h ome rena l d ialys i s on patients 

19 wi th chronic kidney failure, if the dialysate , drugs , o r devices 

2 0 are : 

21 

22 

23 

(a) Approved or c leared by the United States Food and Drug 

Administration ; and 

(b) Delivered in the original, sea l ed packagi ng after 

24 receipt of a physician's order to dispense t o : 

25 1 . A pat i ent wit h chronic kidne y failure , or the patient ' s 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0513-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 513 2018 

26 designee , for the patient ' s self- administration o f the dialysis 

27 therapy ; or 

28 2 . A health care practitioner or an institution for 

29 administration or delivery of the dialysis therapy to a patien t 

30 with chroni c kidney fa ilure . 

31 Section 2 . This act shall take effect July 1 , 2018 . 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0513-00 





------

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 573 Involuntary Examinations Under the Baker Act 
SPONSOR(S): Daniels and others 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 112 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee Siples 

2) Civil Justice & Claims Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

McElroy 

In 1971, the Legislature passed the Florida Mental Health Act ("Baker Act") to address the mental health needs 
of individuals in the state. The Baker Act allows for voluntary and, under certain circumstances, involuntary, 
examinations of individuals suspected of having a mental illness, and establishes procedures for courts, law 
enforcement, and certain health care practitioners to initiate such examinations. 

Currently, the following health care practitioners may initiate the involuntary examination of a person under the 
Baker Act (some subject to certain training and experience requirements): a physician , a clinical psychologist, 
a psychiatric nurse, a mental health counselor, a marriage and family therapist, and a clinical social worker. 

HB 573 adds advanced registered nurse practitioners and physician assistants to the list of health care 
practitioners who may initiate the involuntary examination of a person under the Baker Act. 

The bill does not appear to have a fiscal impact on state or local government. 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0573.HQS.DOCX 
DATE : 1/8/2018 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Current Situation 

Involuntary Examination under the Baker Act 

In 1971, the Legislature passed the Florida Mental Health Act (also known as "The Baker Act"1 ), 

codified in part I of ch. 394, F.S., to address mental health needs in the state.2 The Baker Act provides 
the authority and process for the voluntary and involuntary examination of persons who meet certain 
criteria, and the subsequent inpatient or outpatient placement of such individuals for treatment. 

The Department of Children and Families (DCF) administers the Baker Act through receiving facilities 
which are designated by DCF. The receiving facility may be public or private and provides the initial 
examination and short-term treatment of persons who meet the criteria under the Baker Act.3 A person 
who requires longer term treatment may be transported to a DCF-designated treatment facility. 
Treatment facilities are state owned, operated, or supported that hospitals, centers, or clinics that are 
provide extended treatment and hospitalization beyond what is provided in a receiving facility. 4 

Current law allows an involuntary examination if there is reason to believe a person has a mental 
illness and; because of the illness, the person: 5 

• Has refused a voluntary examination after explanation of the purpose of the exam or is unable 
to determine for himself or herself that an examination is needed; and 

• Is likely to suffer from self-neglect or substantial harm to her or his well-being, or be a danger to 
himself or herself or others. 

A person who is subject to an involuntary examination may not be held longer than 72 hours in a 
receiving facility. 6 

Courts, law enforcement officers, and certain health care practitioners are authorized to initiate such 
involuntary examinations.7 A circuit court may enter an ex parte order stating a person meets the 
criteria for involuntary examination.8 A law enforcement officer9 may take a person into custody who 

1 "The Baker Act" is named for its sponsor, Representative Maxine E. Baker, one of the first two women from Dade County elected to 
office in the Florida Legislature. As chair of the House Committee on Mental Health, she championed the treatment of mental illness in 
a manner that would not sacrifice a patient's rights and dignity. Baker served five terms as a member of the Florida House of 
Representatives from 1963-1972 and was instrumental in the passage of the Florida Mental Health Act. See University of Florida 
Smathers Libraries, A Guide to the Maxine E. Baker Papers, available at http://www.librarv .ufl.edu/spec/pkyonge/baker.htm (last visited 
December 13, 2017), and Department of Children and Families and University of South Florida, Department of Mental Health Law and 
Policy, 2014 Baker Act User Reference Guide: The Florida Mental Health Act (2014), available at 
http ://www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/samh/mentalhealth/laws/BakerActManual.pdf (last visited December 13, 2017). 
2 Chapter 71-131, s. 1, Laws of Fla. 
3 Section 394.455(39), F.S . 
4 Section 394.455(47), F.S . 
5 Section 394.463(1 ), F.S. If the examination period ends on a weekend or a holiday, the person must be released no later than the 
next working day. 
6 Section 394.463(2)(g), F.S . For those under the age of 18, the examination must be initiated within 12 hours of arrival at the receiving 
facility. 
7 Section 394.463(2)(a), F.S. 
8 ld . 
9 "Law enforcement officer" means any person who is elected , appointed , or employed full time by any municipality or the state or any 
political subdivision thereof; who is vested with authority to bear arms and make arrests; and whose primary responsibility is the 
prevention and detection of crime or the enforcement of the penal, criminal, traffic, or highway laws of the state. This definition includes 
all certified supervisory and command personnel whose duties include, in whole or in part, the supervision, training, guidance, and 
management responsibilities of full-time law enforcement officers, part-time law enforcement officers, or auxiliary law enforcement 
officers but does not include support personnel employed by the employing agency. Section 943.10(1 ), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0573.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



appears to meet the criteria for involuntary examination and transport them to a receiving facility for 
examination. 10 Health care practitioners may initiate an involuntary examination by executing the 
Certificate of Professional Initiating an Involuntary Examination, an official form adopted in rule by 
DCF .11 The health care practitioner must have examined the person within the preceding 48 hours and 
state that the person meets the criteria for involuntary examination. 12 The Baker Act currently 
authorizes the following health care practitioners to initiate an involuntary examination by certificate: 13 

• A physician licensed under ch . 458, F.S., or ch. 459, F.S., who has experience in the diagnosis 
and treatment of mental and nervous disorders, or a physician employed by the United States 
Department of Veterans Affairs or Department of Defense. 14 

• A clinical psychologist, as defined in s. 490.003(7), F.S., with three years of postdoctoral 
experience in the practice of clinical psychology, inclusive of the experience required for 
licensure, or a psychologist employed by a facility operated by the United States Department of 
Veterans Affairs that qualifies as a receiving or treatment facility. 15 

• A psychiatric nurse who is certified as an advanced registered nurse practitioner under s. 
464.012, who has a master's degree or a doctorate in psychiatric nursing, holds a national 
advanced practice certification as a psychiatric mental health advance practice nurse, and has 
two years of post-master's clinical experience under the supervision of a physician.16 

• A mental health counselor licensed under ch. 491, F.S. 
• A marriage and family therapist licensed under ch. 491, F.S. 
• A clinical social worker licensed under ch. 491, F.S. 

Between July 1, 2015 and June 30, 2016, there were 194,354 involuntary examinations initiated in the 
state. Law enforcement initiated half of the involuntary examinations (50.86 percent), followed closely 
by mental health professionals (47.27 percent), with the remaining initiated pursuant to ex parte orders 
by judges (1.88 percent)Y 

Physician Assistants 

Physician assistant (PA) licensure in Florida is governed by ss. 458.347(7) and 459.022(7), F.S. The 
Department of Health (DOH) licenses PAs and the Florida Council on Physician Assistants (Council) 
regulates them. 18 PAs are also regulated by either the Florida Board of Medicine for PAs licensed 
under ch. 458, F.S., or the Florida Board of Osteopathic Medicine for PAs licensed under ch. 459, F.S. 
The duty of a board and its members is to make disciplinary decisions concerning whether a doctor or 
PA has violated the provisions of his or her practice act. 19 There are 9,118 PAs who hold active 
licenses to practice in Florida.20 

10 Supra note 7. 
11 The Certificate of Professional Initiating an Involuntary Examination is a form created by the DCF which must be executed by health 
care practitioners initiating an involuntary examination under The Baker Act. The form contains information related to the person 's 
diagnosis and the health care practitioner's personal observations of statements and behaviors that support the involuntary examination 
of such person . See rule reference in Rule 65E-5.280, F.A.C. The form is also available at: 
http://www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/samh/Menta1Health/laws/3052b.pdf (last visited December 13, 2017). 
12 Section 394.463(2)(a)3., F.S. 
131d. 
14 Section 394.455(32), F.S. 
15 Section 394.455(5), F.S. 
16 Section 394.455(35), F.S. 
17 Christy, A., et al., Baker Act Reporting Center, Louis de Ia Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, Department of Mental Health Law & 
Policy, University of South Florida, Fiscal Year 2015/2016 Report Annual Report (March 2017), available at 
http://www.usf.edu/cbcs/baker-acUdocuments/annual report.pdf (last visited December 21, 2017). 
18 The Council consists of three physicians who are members of the Board of Medicine; one member who is a member of the Board of 
Osteopathic Medicine, and a physician assistant appointed by the State Surgeon General. (Sections 458.347(9) and 459.022(8), F.S.) 
19 Sections 458.347(12) and 459.022(12), F.S. 
20 Email correspondence with the Department of Health , dated December 14,2017 (on file with the Health Quality Subcommittee). 
STORAGE NAME: h0573.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



- --- - ----

PAs may only practice under the direct or indirect supervision of a medical doctor or doctor of 
osteopathic medicine with whom they have a clinical relationship. 21 A supervising physician may only 
delegate tasks and procedures to the PA that are within the supervising physician's scope of practice .22 

The supervising physician is responsible and liable for any acts or omissions of the PA and may not 
supervise more than four PAs at any time. 23 

To be licensed as a PAin Florida, an applicant must:24 

• Submit a completed application and appropriate fees. 25 

• Complete of an approved PA training program; 
• Obtain a passing score on the National Commission on Certification of Physician Assistant 

exam; 
• Acknowledge any prior felony convictions; 
• Submit to a background screening and have no disqualifying offenses;26 

• Acknowledge any previous revocation or denial of licensure in any state; and 
• A copy of course transcripts and a copy of the course description from a PA training program 

describing the course content in pharmacotherapy if the applicant is seeking prescribing 
authority. 

Licenses are renewed biennially. At the time of renewal, must submit an acknowledgement that he or 
she has not been convicted of any felony in the previous two years and complete a physician assistant 
workforce survey. 27 

Florida law does not expressly allow PAs to refer for or initiate involuntary examinations under the 
Baker Act; however, in 2008, Attorney General Bill McCollum issued an opinion stating: 

A physician assistant pursuant to Chapter 458 or 459, Florida Statutes, may refer 
a patient for involuntary evaluation pursuant to section 394.463, Florida Statutes, 
provided that the physician assistant has experience regarding the diagnosis and 
treatment of mental and nervous disorders and such tasks are within the 
supervising physician's scope of practice.28 

PAs are not required by law to have experience in the diagnosis and treatment of mental and nervous 
disorders. 

Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners 

Nurses are licensure are licensed by DOH and regulated by the Board of Nursing pursuant to part I of 
ch. 464, F.S. Licensure requirements to practice nursing include completion of an approved educational 
course of study, passage of an examination approved by DOH, and acceptable criminal background 
screening results. 29 

21 Sections 458.347(2)(f) and 459.022(2)(f), F.S. , define supervision as responsible supervision and control which requires the easy 
availability or physical presence of the licensed physician for consultation and direction of the PA. 
22 Rules 6488-30.012 and 64815-6.010, F.A.C. 
23 Sections 458.347(15) and 459.022(15), F.S . 
24 Sections 458.347(7) and 459.022(7), F.S . 
25 The application fee is $100 and the initial license fee is $205 . See rr. 6488-30.019, and 64815-6.013, F.A.C. 
26 Section 456.0135, F.S . 
27 Sections 458.347(7)(b)-(c) and 459.022(7)(b)-(c), F.S. 
28 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla . 08-31 (2008), available at http://www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/samh/MentaiHealth/laws/aqopinion .pdf (last visited 
December 13, 2017). 
29 Sections 464.008 and 464.009, F.S . As an alternative to licensure by examination, a nurse may also be eligible for licensure by 
endorsement. 
STORAGE NAME: h0573.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



A nurse who holds a current license to practice professional nursing may apply to be certified as an 
Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioner (ARNP), under s. 464.012, F.S., if the nurse meets one or 
both of the following requirements: 

• Certification by a specialty board; or 
• Graduation from a program leading to a master's degree in a nursing clinical specialty area with 

preparation in specialized practitioner skills. 

Current law defines three categories of ARNPs: certified registered nurse anesthetists, certified nurse 
midwives, and nurse practitioners.30 All ARNPs, regardless of practice category, may only practice 
within the framework of an established protocol and under the supervision of an allopathic or 
osteopathic physician or dentist.31 ARNPs may carry out treatments as specified in statute, including:32 

• Prescribing, dispensing, administering, or ordering any drug;33 

• Initiating appropriate therapies for certain conditions; 
• Ordering diagnostic tests and physical and occupational therapy; 
• Ordering any medication for administration patients in certain facilities; and 
• Performing additional functions as determined by rule. 34 

In addition to the above-allowed acts, an ARNP may also perform other acts as authorized by statute 
and within his or her specialty. 35 Further, if it is within an ARNP's established protocol, the ARNP may 
establish behavioral problems and diagnosis and make treatment recommendations. 36 There are 
27,588 ARNPs who hold active licenses to practice in FloridaY 

Currently, only ARNPs who are "psychiatric nurses" may initiate involuntary examinations under the 
Baker Act. 38 To qualify as a psychiatric nurse, an ARNP must have a master's or doctoral degree in 
psychiatric nursing, hold a national advance practice certification as a psychiatric mental health 
advanced practice nurse, and have two years post-master's clinical experience. 39 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

HB 573 authorizes PAs and ARNPs to initiate involuntary examinations under the Baker Act. A PA or 
ARNP must execute a certificate stating that a person he or she examined within the preceding 48 
hours appears to meet the criteria for an involuntary examination. Under current law, only a physician, 
clinical psychologist, psychiatric nurse, mental health counselor, marriage and family therapist or 
clinical social worker may initiate an involuntary examination by executing such a certificate. 

The bill defines a "physician assistant" and an "advanced registered nurse practitioner" in the same 
manner as their respective practice acts (ss. 458.347, 459.022, and 464.003, F.S.). 

The bill makes necessary conforming changes due to the statutory changes made by the bill. 

30 Section 464.012(2), F .S . 
31 Section 464.012(3), F.S. 
32 ld. 
33 An ARNP may only prescribe controlled substances if he or she has graduated from a program leading to a master's or doctoral 
degree in a clinical nursing specialty area with training in specialized practitioner skills. An ARNP is limited to prescribing a 7-day supply 
of Schedule II controlled substances. Only a psychiatric nurse may prescribe psychotropic controlled substances for the treatment of 
mental disorders and psychiatric mental health controlled substances for children younger than 18. 
34 Section 464.003(2), F.S. , defines "advanced or specialized nursing practice" to include additional activities that an ARNP may 
perform as approved by the Board of Nursing . 
3s Section 464.012(4), F.S. 
36 Section 464.012(4)(c)1 ., F.S. 
37 Email correspondence with the Department of Health , dated December 14, 2017 (on file with the Health Quality Subcommittee). 
38 Section 394.463(2)(a), F.S. 
39 Section 394.455(35). F .S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0573.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 394.455, F.S., relating to definitions. 
Section 2: Amends s. 394.463, F.S., relating to involuntary examinations. 
Section 3: Amends s. 39.407, F.S., relating to medical, psychiatric, and psychological examination and 

treatment of child; physical, mental, or substance abuse examination of person with or 
requesting child custody. 

Section 4: Amends s. 394.495, F.S. , relating to child and adolescent mental health system care; 
programs and services. 

Section 5: Amends s. 394.496, F.S., relating to service planning . 
Section 6: Amends s. 394.9085, F.S., relating to behavioral provider liability. 
Section 7: Amends s. 409.972, F.S., relating to mandatory and voluntary enrollment. 
Section 8: Amends s. 744.2007, F.S., relating to powers and duties. 
Section 9: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

None. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h0573.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 6 



B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

No additional rule-making authority is necessary to implement the provisions of the bill. 

·c. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0573.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 7 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 573 2018 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to involuntary examinations under the 

3 Baker Act; amending s. 394.455 , F.S.; defining terms; 

4 amending s. 394.463, F. S .; authorizing physician 

5 assistants and advanced registered nurse practitioners 

6 to execute a certificate under certain cond i tions 

7 s t ating that they have examined a person and find the 

8 person appears to meet the criteria for involuntary 

9 examination; amending ss. 39.407, 394.4 95 , 394.496, 

10 39 4.90 85, 409 .9 72 , and 744.2007, F.S.; conforming 

11 cross-re ferences; providing an effective date. 

12 

13 Be It Ena cted by the Legis l ature of the State of Florida : 

14 

15 Section 1. Present subsections (5) through (48) o f section 

16 394 .45 5 , Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsecti ons (6) 

17 through (49) , respe c tively, a new subsection (5) is added to 

18 that section, and present subsection (33) is amended, to read: 

1 9 394 .455 Definitions.-As used in this part, the term: 

20 (5) "Advanced registered nurse pract itioner " means a 

21 person licensed in this state to practice professional nursing 

22 

23 

24 

25 

and certif i ed in advanced or specialized 

defined in s. 464 . 003 . 

Jlil-+3-3+ "Physician assistant" has 

p rovided in s. 458 .34 7(2) means a person 

Page 1 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

nursing :erac tice , as 

the same meaning as 

licensed under chapter 

hb0573-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 573 

26 458 or chapter 459 Hho has eHperience in the diagnosis and 

27 treatment of mental disorders . 

28 Section 2. Paragraph (a) of subsection (2) of section 

29 394 . 463 , Florida Statutes , is amended to read : 

30 394 . 463 Invo l unta r y exami nation .-

31 (2) I NVOLUNTARY EXAMINATION . -

201 8 

32 (a) An involuntary examination may be initiated by any one 

33 of the following means : 

34 1. A c i rcuit or county court may e nter an ex parte order 

35 stating that a person appears to meet the criteria for 

36 involuntary examination and specifying the findings on which 

37 that conclusion is based. The ex parte order for involuntary 

38 examination must be based on written or oral sworn testimony 

39 that includes specific facts that support the findings. If other 

40 les s restrictive means are not avai l able , such as voluntary 

41 appearance for outpatient evaluation , a law enforcement offi cer , 

42 or other designated agent of the court , shall take the person 

43 into custody and deliver him or her to an appropriate , or the 

44 nearest , facility within the designated receiving sys tem 

45 pursuant to s . 39 4.46 2 f or involuntary examinat i on . The orde r of 

46 the court shall be made a part o f the patient ' s clinical record . 

47 A fee may not be charged for the fi l ing of an order under this 

48 subsection . A facility accepting the patient based on this order 

49 must send a copy of the order to the department the next working 

50 day . The order may be submitted electronically through existing 

Page 2 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb0573-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 573 2018 

51 data systems , if available . The order shal l be va lid only until 

52 the person is delivered to the facility or for the period 

53 specified in the orde r i tself , whichever comes first . If no time 

54 limit is specified in the orde r, the order shall be valid for 7 

55 days after the date that the order was signed . 

56 2 . A law en f orcement officer shall take a person who 

57 appears to meet the criteria for involuntary examination into 

58 custody and deliver the person or have him or her de livered to 

59 an appropriate , or the nearest , facili ty within the designated 

60 receiving system pursuant t o s . 39 4.4 62 for examination . The 

61 officer shall execute a written report de tail ing the 

62 circumstances under which the person was taken into cus tody, 

63 which must be made a part of the patient ' s clinica l record . Any 

64 fac ility accept i ng the patient based on this report must send a 

65 copy of the report to the department the next working day . 

66 3 . A physician , physician assistant , c l inical 

67 psychologist , psych i at ric nurse, mental hea l th counselor , 

68 marriage and family therapist , er c linical social worker , o r an 

69 advanced registered nurs e practitioner may execute a certif icate 

70 stat ing that he or she has examined a person within the 

71 preced ing 48 hours and finds that the person appears to meet the 

72 criteri a for involuntary examinat ion and stating the 

73 obse rvati ons upon which that conc l usion is based. If o ther less 

74 restrictive means , such as voluntary appearance for outpa tient 

75 evaluation , a re not available , a l aw enfo r cement office r shall 

Page 3 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0573-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 573 2018 

76 take into custody the person named in the certificate and 

77 deliver him or her to the appropriate , or nearest , facility 

78 within the designated receiving system pursuant to s. 394.462 

79 for involuntary examination . The law enforcement of ficer shall 

80 execute a written report detailing the circumstances under which 

81 the person was taken into custody . The report and ce rti ficate 

82 sha ll be made a part of the patient's clinical record . Any 

83 facility accepting the patient based on this certificate must 

84 send a copy of the certif i cate to the department the next 

85 working day. The document may be submitted electronical l y 

86 through existing data systems , if applicab l e. 

87 Section 3. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of sect ion 

88 39.407 , Florida Statutes , is amended to read: 

89 39 . 407 Medical , psychiatric , and psychological examinati on 

90 and treatment of child ; physical, mental , or substance abus e 

91 examination of person with or request ing chi ld custody .-

92 ( 3) (a) 1 . Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph 

93 (b) 1 . or paragraph (e), before the department provides 

94 psychotropic medications to a ch i ld in i ts custody , the 

95 prescribing physician shall attempt to obtain express and 

96 informed consent , as defined ins . 394 .455 s. 394.455(15) and as 

97 described ins. 394 .45 9(3) (a) , from the child's parent or legal 

98 guard i an. The depar tment must take steps necessary to facilitate 

99 the inclusion of the parent in the child 's consulta tion with the 

100 physician. However , if the parental rights of the parent have 

Page 4 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0573-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 573 2018 

10 1 been terminated , the parent ' s locat i on or identity is unknown or 

102 cannot reasonably be ascertained , or the parent dec lines to give 

103 express and informed consent , the department may , after 

104 consultation with the prescribing phys i cian , seek court 

105 authorization to provide the psychotropic medications to the 

106 chi ld. Unless parental rights have been terminated and if it is 

107 possible to do so , the department shall continue to involve the 

108 parent in the decisionmaking process regarding the provision of 

109 psychotropic medications. If , at any time, a parent whose 

11 0 parental rights have not been terminated provides express and 

111 i nformed consent to the provision of a psychotropic medication , 

112 the requirements of this section that the department seek court 

113 authorization do not apply to that medication until such time as 

114 t he parent no longer consents. 

115 2 . Any time the department seeks a medical evaluation to 

116 determine the need to initiate or continue a psychotropic 

117 medication for a child , the department must provide to the 

118 eva l uating physician al l pertinent medical information known to 

119 the department concerning that child. 

120 Sect i on 4 . Subsection (3) of section 394.495 , Florida 

121 Statutes , is amended to read: 

122 394.495 Child and adolescent mental hea l th system of care; 

123 programs and services.-

124 (3) Assessments must be performed by: 

125 (a) A professional as defined i ns . 394.455(6) , (8) , (33) , 

Page 5 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0573-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 573 

126 (36), or (37) s. 394.455(5), (7) , (32) , (35), or (36); 

127 (b) A professional licensed under chapter 491; or 

128 (c) A person who is under the direct supervision of a 

129 qualified professional as def i ned ins. 394.455(6), (8), (33) , 

130 (36), or (37) s. 394.455(5), (7), (32) , (35) , or (36) or a 

131 professional licensed under chapter 491 . 

132 Section 5 . Subsection (5) of section 394 . 496 , Florida 

133 Statutes, is amended to read : 

134 394.496 Service planning.-

2018 

135 (5) A profess ional as defined in s. 394.455 (6), (8) , (33), 

136 (36) , or (37) s. 394.455(5), (7), (32) , (35), or (36) or a 

137 professional licensed under chapter 491 must be included among 

138 those persons developing the services plan . 

139 Section 6 . Subsection (6) of section 394 . 9085 , Florida 

140 Statutes, is amended to read: 

141 394.9085 Behavioral provider liability.-

142 (6) For purposes of this section, the terms 

143 "detoxification services," "addictions receiving facility," and 

144 "receiving facility" have the same meanings as those provided in 

145 ss . 397.311(26) (a)4. , 397.311(26) (a)l. , and 394 . 455(40) 

146 394 .45 5 (39), respectively. 

147 Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 

148 409.972 , Florida Statutes, is amended to read : 

149 409.972 Mandatory and voluntary enrollment .-

150 (1) The following Medicaid-eligible persons are exempt 

Page 6 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0573-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 573 2018 

15 1 from mandatory managed care enrollment required by s. 409 . 965 , 

152 and may voluntari l y choose to participate in the managed medical 

153 assistance program: 

154 (b) Med i caid recipients residing in residential commitment 

155 facilities opera ted through the Department of Juvenile Just i ce 

15 6 or a treatment facility as defined ins . 394 . 455(48) B. 

157 394 . 455(17) . 

158 Section 8 . Subsect ion (7) of section 744 . 2007 , Florida 

159 Statutes , is amended to read : 

160 744 . 2007 Powers and duties . -

161 (7) A pub l ic guardian may not commit a ward to a treatment 

162 facility , as defined ins . 394 . 455(48) s . 394.455(47) , without 

163 an invo l untary placement proceeding as provided by law . 

164 Section 9 . This act shall take effect July 1 , 2018 . 

Page 7 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0573-00 



I 
OJ 

"' -....! 
w 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 673 Reporting Of Adverse Incidents In Planned Out-Of-Hospital Births 
SPONSOR(S): Magar 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: CS/SB 510 

REFERENCE ACTION 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST 

Siples 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

McElroy 

When planning for the birth of child, prospective parents may make a number of decisions about their childbirth 
experience, including where they want the child to be born and who they want to provide obstetrical care. 
There are several types of health care practitioners who may provide obstetric care: a physician, a physician 
assistant, a certified nurse midwife (an advanced registered nursing practitioner (ARNP) with specialized 
training in obstetric care), or a licensed midwife. A prospective parent may choose to have labor and childbirth 
occur in a hospital, birthing center, or home setting . 

HB 673 requires a physician, certified nurse midwife, or licensed midwife attending a planned out-of-hospital 
birth to submit an adverse incident report to the Department of Health (DOH), within 15 days of the occurrence 
of the incident. 

The bill defines an adverse incident as an event over which the physician, certified nurse midwife, or licensed 
midwife could exercise control and one of the following occurs during the process of childbirth: 

• A maternal death that occurs after delivery or within 42 days after delivery; 
• A maternal patient is transferred to a hospital intensive care unit; 
• A maternal patient experiences hemorrhagic shock or requires a transfusion of more than four 

units of blood or blood products; 
• A fetal or newborn death, including a still birth, attributable to an obstetrical delivery; 
• A newborn patient is transferred to a hospital neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) due to a 

traumatic birth injury; 
• A newborn patient is transferred to a hospital NICU 72 hours after birth if the newborn remains 

in the NICU for more than 72 hours; or 
• Any other injury as determined by department rules. 

The attending health care practitioner must provide a medical summary of the events in the adverse incident 
report. DOH must review each adverse incident report to determine whether the incident involves conduct for 
which the health care practitioner may be subject to disciplinary action by the appropriate regulatory board or if 
there is no board, DOH. 

The bill authorizes DOH to adopt rules to develop the adverse incident form and to implement the provisions of 
the bill. 

The bill will have an indeterminate, negative fiscal impact on the DOH related to the review of the adverse 
incident reports and any subsequent investigation and disciplinary cases that may result. The bill has no fiscal 
impact on local governments. 

The bill takes effect upon becoming a law. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Prior to giving birth, expectant parents will make a number of decisions in planning their childbirth 
experience. The parents may decide the location at which they would like to give birth, as well as the 
type of health care practitioner they would like to provide obstetrical services. 1 The decision on the type 
of practitioner may dictate the place where the birth may occur, and vice versa. In Florida, the health 
care practitioners that may attend a childbirth include a physician,2 certified nurse midwife (CNM), and 
licensed midwife. Typically, there are three settings in which childbirths occur: hospitals, birthing 
centers, and home.3 

Regulation of Health Care Practitioners 

The Department of Health (DOH), Division of Medical Quality Assurance (MQA), is charged with the 
regulation of health care practitioners in this state.4 MQA works in conjunction with regulatory boards to 
adopt rules and regulate health care practitioners. 5 For all health care professions regulated by MQA or 
regulatory boards, ch. 456, F.S., provides the general framework for licensure and regulation; however, 
the individual practice acts provide greater specificity for the regulation of a health care profession . 

Each practice act provides licensure requirements, the scope of practice in which the health care 
practitioner may engage, as well disciplinary guidelines. To be licensed in this state, an applicant must 
meet the minimum licensure standards as provided in the practice act and any rules adopted by the 
regulatory board or DOH, if there is no board. 

Physicians 

Both allopathic and osteopathic physicians have a broad scope of practice; they may diagnose, treat, 
operate, or prescribe for any human disease, pain, injury, deformity, or other physical or mental 
condition.6 However, a physician may be required to meet additional standards to practice in certain 
settings or perform certain medical acts. For example, physicians who wish to practice in a pain 
management clinic must meet certain training requirements. 7 

1 American Pregnancy Association, Birthing Choices: Health Care Providers and Birth Locations, (Sept. 6, 2016), available at 
http://americanpregnancy.org/labor-and-birth/birthing-choices/ {last visited on December 14, 2017). 
2 A physician may delegate the performance of medical acts to a physician assistant under his or her supervision unless such 
delegation is expressly prohibited by law. (Sections 458.347(4), and 459.022(e), F.S.) The physician remains liable for any acts or 
omissions of the physician assistant acting under his or her supervision or control. See ss. 458.347{15), and 459.022(15), F.S. 
3 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention , Trends in Out-of-Hospital Births in the United States, 1990-2012, (March 4, 2014 ), 
available at https:l/www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db144.htm {last visited December 18, 20 17). 
4 Pursuant to s. 456.001(4), F.S., health care practitioners are defined to include acupuncturists, physicians, physician assistants, 
chiropractors, podiatrists, naturopaths, dentists, dental hygienists, optometrists, nurses, nursing assistants, pharmacists, midwives, 
speech language pathologists, nursing home administrators, occupational therapists, respiratory therapists, dieticians, athletic trainers, 
orthotists, prosthetists, electrologists, massage therapists, clinical laboratory personnel, medical physicists, dispensers of optical 
devices or hearing aids, physical therapists, psychologists, social workers , counselors, and psychotherapists, among others. 
5 Section 456.001(1), F.S. 
6 Sections 458.305(3), and 459.003(3), F.S. However, an osteopathic physician's practice is based in part on education which 
emphasizes the importance of the musculoskeletal structure and manipulative therapy in the maintenance and restoration of health. 
7 Rules 6488-9.0131 and 6415-14.0051 , F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



A physician is expected to practice in a safe and competent manner.8 A physician who fails to do so 
may be subject to discipline against his or her license to practice in this state.9 For example, a 
physician 's license may be disciplined for, among, other things: 

• Committing medical malpractice; 10 

• Practicing outside his or her scope of practice or performing professional responsibilities that he 
or she knows or has reason to know that he or she cannot perform competently; 11 

• Delegating a professional responsibility to a person he or she knows or has reason to know that 
such person is not qualified to perform; 12 or 

• Failing to adequately supervise a physician assistant, advanced registered nurse practitioner 
(ARNP), or other health care practitioner acting under his or her supervision. 13 

Adverse Incident Reporting 

A physician or physician assistant is required to report to DOH, any adverse incident occurring in an 
office practice setting within 15 days after the occurrence of the adverse incident.14 DOH must review 
each report to determine if discipline against the practitioner's license is warranted. 15 

An adverse incident in an office setting is defined as an event over which the physician or licensee 
could exercise control and which is associated with a medical intervention and results in one of the 
following patient injuries: 16 

• The death of a patient; 
• Brain or spinal damage to a patient; 
• The performance of a surgical procedure on the wrong patient; 
• If the procedure results in death; brain or spinal damage; permanent disfigurement; the fracture 

or dislocation of bones or joints; a limitation of neurological, physical, or sensory functions; or 
any condition that required the transfer of a patient, the performance of: 

o A wrong-site surgical procedure; 
o A wrong surgical procedure; or 
o A surgical repair of damage to a patient resulting from a planned surgical procedure 

where the damage is not a recognized specific risk as disclosed to the patient and 
documented through the informed consent process; 

• A procedure to remove unplanned foreign objects remaining from a surgical procedure; or 
• Any condition that required the transfer of a patient to a hospital from an ambulatory surgical 

center or any facility or any office maintained by a physician for the practice of medicine which 
is not licensed under ch. 395, F.S. 

There is no statutory requirement for a physician to report an adverse incident that occurs outside of an 
office or hospital setting . 

Certified Nurse Practitioners 

8 Sections 458.301 and 459.001, F .S. 
9 Sections 458.331 and 459 .015, F.S., provide the grounds for which disciplinary action may be taken against a physician 's license. 
Section 456.072, F.S., provides grounds for discipline that apply to all licensed health care practitioners. 
10 Sections 456.331 ( 1 )(t), and 459.015{ 1 )(x), F .S. Medical malpractice is the failure to practice medicine in accordance with the care, 
skill , and treatment recognized in general law related to health care licensure (s. 456.50(1 )(g), F.S. 
11 Sections 458.331(1 )(v) and 459.015(1 )(z), F.S. 
12 Sections 458.331(1 )(w) and 459.015(1 )(aa), F.S. 
13 Sections 458.331 (1 ){dd) and 459.015{1 ){hh), F.S. 
14 Sections 458.351 and 459.026, F.S. 
15 Sections 458.351{5) and 459.026(5), F.S. 
16 Sections 458.351(4) and 459.026(4), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



An advanced registered nurse practitioner (ARNP) may perform advanced-level nursing acts approved 
by the Board of Nursing which, by virtue of postbasic specialized education, training, and experience 
are appropriately performed by an ARNP, in addition to the professional nursing acts that registered 
nurses are authorized to perform. 17 In addition to advanced or specialized nursing practices, ARNPs 
are authorized to practice certain medical acts, as opposed to nursing acts, as authorized within the 
framework of an established supervisory physician's protocol. 18 

To be eligible to be certified as an ARNP, the applicant must be licensed as a registered nurse, and 
have a master's degree in a nursing clinical specialty area with preparation in specialized practitioner 
skills or submit proof that the applicant holds a current national advanced practice certification from a 
board-approved nursing specialty board. 19 In Florida, an ARNP may be categorized as a certified nurse 
practitioner (CNP), certified nurse midwife (CNM), or certified registered nurse anesthetist (CRNA).20 

A CNM may, to the extent authorized under a supervisory protocol, perform the following acts in a 
healthcare facility where midwifery services are performed or in the patient's home: 21 

• Superficial minor surgical procedures; 
• Manage the patient's labor and delivery to include amniotomy, episiotomy, and repair; 
• Order, initiate, perform appropriate anesthetic procedures; 
• Perform postpartum examinations; 
• Order appropriate medications; 
• Provide family-planning services and well-woman care; and 
• Manage the medical care of the normal obstetrical patient and the initial care of a newborn 

patient. 

An ARNP is expected to practice in a safe and competent manner. 22 An ARNP who fails to do so may 
be subject to discipline against his or her license to practice in this state.23 For example, an ARNP may 
be disciplined for failing to meet the minimum standard of care for nursing practice, including engaging 
in acts for which he or she is not qualified by training or experience.24 

There is no statutory requirement for an ARNP or a CNM to report adverse incidents to DOH. 

Licensed Midwives 

DOH is responsible for the licensure and regulation of the practice of midwifery in this state. The 
Council of Licensed Midwifery assists and advises DOH on midwifery, including the development of 
rules relating to regulatory requirements, including but not limited to training requirements, the licensure 
examination, responsibilities of midwives, emergency care plans, and reports and records to be filed by 
licensed midwives.25 

To be licensed as a midwife, an applicant must graduate from an approved midwifery program, and 
pass the licensure examination. 26 Along with an application for licensure or licensure renewal, a 
licensed midwife must submit a general emergency care plan which addresses consultation with other 

17 Section 464.003(2)-(3), F.S. 
18 ld . 
19 Section 464.012(1 ), F.S ., and Rule 6489-4.002, F.A.C. 
20 Section 464.012(4), F.S. 
21 Section 464.012(4)(b), F.S. 
22 Section 464.002, F.S. 
23 Section 464.018, F.S., provide the grounds for which disciplinary action may be taken against the license. Section 456.072, F.S., 
provides grounds for discipline that apply to all licensed health care practitioners. 
24 Section 464.018(1)(n), F.S. 
25 Section 467.004, F.S. 
26 Section 467.011, F.S. Section 467.0125, F.S. , provides for licensure by endorsement for applicants who hold a valid license to 
practice midwifery in another state. 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



health care providers, emergency transfer protocols, and access to neonatal intensive care units and 
obstetrical units or other patient care areas.27 

A licensed midwife is responsible for ensuring the following conditions are met:28 

• Accepting only those patients who are expect to have a normal pregnancy, labor, and delivery; 
• Ensuring that each patient has signed an informed consent form developed by DOH, which 

informs the patient of the qualifications of the licensed midwife, the nature and risk of the 
procedures to be performed by the licensed midwife, and to obtain the patient's consent for the 
provision of midwifery services; 

• Determining if the home is safe and hygienic if the patient is delivering at home; 
• Voluntarily entering into a collaborative agreement with a physician for prenatal and postpartal 

care to women who are not expected to have a normal pregnancy, labor, and delivery within the 
framework of a written protocol ; 

• Administering prophylactic ophthalmic medication, oxygen, postpartum oxytocin, vitamin K, rho 
immune globulin, local anesthetic, or other medicinal drugs pursuant to a prescription issued by 
a practitioner licensed under ch. 458, F.S., or ch . 459, F.S. 

• Providing care to mothers and infants throughout the prenatal , intrapartal , and postpartal 
periods in compliance with the law; 

• Preparing a written plan of action with the family to ensure continuity of medical care throughout 
labor and delivery and to provide for immediate medical care if an emergency arises; 

• Instructing the patient and family regarding the preparation of the environment and ensure the 
availability of equipment and supplies needed for delivery and infant care if a home birth is 
planned; 

• Instructing the patient in the hygiene of pregnancy and nutrition as it relates to prenatal care; 
• Maintaining appropriate equipment and supplies, as requ ired by rule ; 
• Determining the progress of labor, and when birth is imminent, be immediately available until 

delivery is accomplished , including: 
o Maintaining a safe and hygienic environment; 
o Monitoring the progress of labor and the status of the fetus ; 
o Recognizing the early signs of distress or complications; and 
o Enacting the written emergency plan when indicated; 

• Remaining with the postpartal mother until the mother and neonate are stabilized ; and 
• Instilling a prophylactic into each eye of the newborn infant within one hour after birth for the 

prevention of neonatal ophthalmia.29 

Annually, licensed midwives must file an "Annual Report of Midwifery Practice," by July 31 .30 The report 
requires each licensed midwife to detail information regarding the number of clients seen in the 
previous fiscal year (July 1 to June 30), the types of births performed , maternal and newborn transfers, 
fetal deaths (stillbirths and neonatal), and maternal deaths. 

There is no statutory requirement for a licensed midwife to report adverse incidents to DOH. However, 
by rule, a licensed midwife must report maternal and fetal deaths, as well as maternal and newborn 
transfers as a part of the annual report. 

Childbirth Settings 

27 Section 467.017, F.S. 
28 Section 467 .015 , F.S. 
29 Section 383.04, F.S. 
30 Rule 64824-7.014, F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 

PAGE : 5 



In 1900, almost all childbirths in the United States occurred outside of hospital; however, by 1969 that 
figure had fallen to one percent of all births.31 In 2015, 1.5 percent of all births in the U.S. occurred 
outside of a hospital. 32 Of those, 63.1 percent occurred in a home or residence, and 30.9 percent 
occurred in a freestanding birthing center.33 In Florida, 0.9 percent of births occurred at home in 2015.34 

Hospitals 

Hospitals are licensed and regulated under ch . 395, F.S., and part II of ch. 408, F.S., by the Agency for 
Health Care Administration (AHCA). 

Every licensed hospital is required to establish and maintain an internal risk management program that 
is overseen by a health care risk manager.35 As a part of its risk management program, a hospital must 
have an incident reporting system which places an affirmative duty on all health care providers, as well 
the agents and employees of the hospital, to report adverse incidents to the risk manager within 3 
business days after their occurrence.36 The hospital must annually submit a report to AHCA 
summarizing the incident reports filed in the facility for that yearY 

An adverse incident is defined as an event over which health care personnel could exercise control and 
which is associated with a medical intervention which results in :38 

• One of the following patient injuries: 
o Death; 
o Brain or spinal damage; 
o Permanent disfigurement; 
o Fracture or dislocation of bones or joints; 
o A resulting limitation of neurological, physical, or sensory functions which continue after 

discharge from the facility 
o Any condition that requires specialized medical attention or surgical intervention 

resulting from a nonemergency medical intervention to which the patient has not given 
his or her informed consent; or 

o Any condition that required the transfer of a patient, within or outside the facility, to a unit 
providing a more acute level of care due to the adverse incident, rather than the patient's 
condition prior to the adverse incident; 

• The performance of a surgical procedure on the wrong patient, a wrong surgical procedure, a 
wrong-site surgical procedure, or a surgical procedure otherwise unrelated to the patient's 
medical condition; 

• Required surgical repair of damage resulting from a planned surgical procedure, where the 
damage was not a recognized specific risk , as disclosed to the patient through the informed 
consent process; or 

• A procedure to remove unplanned foreign objects remaining from a surgical procedure. 

Any of the following adverse incidents, whether occurring in the hospital or arising from health care 
prior to admission, must be reported to AHCA within 15 calendar days after occurrence:39 

• Death of a patient; 

31 National Center for Health Statistics, Trends in Out-Of-Hospital Births in the United States, 1990-2012, NCHS DATA BRIEF, No. 144, 
(March 2014 ), available 
32 Joyce A. Martin , et. al. , Births: Final Data for 2015, NATIONAL VITAL STATISTICS REPORTS, 66:1 (Jan . 5, 2017), available at 
https:l/www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr66/nvsr66 01.pdf (last visited December 18, 2017). 
33 ld 
34 ld . 
35 Section 395.0197, F.S . 
36 Section 395.0197(1)(e), F.S. 
37 Section 395.0197(6), F.S. 
38 Section 395.0197(5), F.S. 
39 Section 395 .0197(7), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 6 
DATE: 1/8/201 8 



• Brain or spinal damage to a patient; 
• The performance of a surgical procedure on the wrong patient; 
• The performance of a wrong-site surgical procedure; 
• The performance of a wrong surgical procedure; 
• The performance of a surgical procedure that is medically unnecessary or otherwise unrelated 

to the patient's medical condition ; 
• The surgical repair of damage resulting to a patient from a planned surgical procedure, where 

the damage was not a recognized specific risk, as disclosed to the patient through the informed 
consent process; or 

• The performance of a procedure to remove unplanned foreign objects remaining from a surgical 
procedure. 

Birth Centers 

A birth center is any facility, institution, or place, which is not an ambulatory surgical center, a hospital 
or in a hospital, in which births are planned to occur away from the mother's usual residence following a 
normal, uncomplicated, low-risk pregnancy.40 Birth centers are licensed and regulated by AHCA under 
ch. 383. F.S., and part II of ch. 408, F.S. 

A birth center may only accept those patients who are expected to have normal pregnancies and 
deliveries; and prior to being accepted for care, the patient must sign an informed consent form. 41 A 
mother and her infant must be discharged from a birth center within 24 hours after giving birth, except 
when: 42 

• The mother is in a deep sleep at the end of the 24-hour period; in which case, the mother must 
be discharged as soon after waking as feasible; or 

• The 24-hour period is completed during the middle of the night. 

If a mother or infant must remain in the birth center for longer than 24 hours after giving birth for a 
reason other than those listed above, the birth center must file a report with AHCA within 48 hours of 
the birth describing the circumstances and the reasons for the decision.43 

A birth center is required for maintaining the quality of care by: 44 

• Having at least one clinical staff5 member for every two clients in labor; 
• Having a clinical staff member or qualified personnel46 available on site during the entire time a 

client is in the birth center. Services during labor and delivery must be provided by a physician, 
certified nurse midwife, or licensed midwife, assisted by at least one other staff member under 
protocols developed by clinical staff; 

• Ensuring all qualified personnel and clinical staff are trained in infant and adult resuscitation and 
requiring qualified personnel or clinical staff who is able to perform neonatal resuscitation to be 
present during each birth; 

• Maintaining complete and accurate medical records; 
• Evaluating the quality of care by reviewing clinical records; 

40 Section 383.302(2), F.S. 
41 Section 383.31 , F.S . The informed consent form must advise the patient of the qualifications of the clinical staff, the risks related to 
out-of-hospital births, the benefits of out-of-hospital births, and the possibility of referral or transfer if complications arise during 
pregnancy or childbirth with additional costs for services rendered (r. 59A-11 .01 0, F.A.C.) 
42 Section 383.318{1), F.S., and Rule 59A-11 .016(6), F.A.C. 
43 Section 383.318(1), F.S . 
44 Rule 59A-11.005(3), F.A.C. 
45 Section 383.302(3), F.S., defines "clinical staff' as individuals employed full-time or part-time by a birth center who are licensed or 
certified to provide care at childbirth. 
46 Rule 59A-11 .002(6), F.A.C., defines "qualified staff' as an individual who is trained and competent in the services that he or she 
provides and is licensed or certified when required by statute or professional standard . 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 7 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



• Reviewing admissions with respect to eligibility, course of pregnancy and outcome, evaluation 
of services, condition of mother and newborn on discharge, or transfer to other providers; and 

• Surveillance of infection risk and cases and the promotion of preventive and corrective program 
designed to minimize hazards. 

A birth center must be equipped with those items needed to provide low-risk maternity care and readily 
available equipment to initiate emergency procedures in life-threatening events to a mother and baby. 47 

Each facility must have an arrangement with a local ambulance service for the transport of emergency 
patients to a hospital, which must be documented in the facilities policy and procedures manual.48 

A birth center must submit an annual report to AHCA by July 30 of each year that details, among other 
things: 49 

• The number of deliveries by birth weight; 
• The number of maternity clients accepted for care and length of stay; 
• The number of surgical procedures performed at the birth center by type; 
• Maternal transfers, including the reason for the transfer, whether it occurred intrapartum or 

postpartum, and the length of the hospital stay; 
• Newborn transfers, including the reason for the transfer, birth weight, days in hospital, and 

APGAR score at five and ten minutes; 
• Newborn deaths; and 
• Stillborn/Fetal deaths. 

Home Births 

The home delivery setting is not regulated. However, the health care practitioners who perform such 
services, including physicians, physician assistants, certified nurse midwives, and licensed midwives 
are regulated by their respective regulatory boards, or in the case of licensed midwives, DOH. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

HB 673 requires that a physician, certified nurse midwife, or licensed midwife attending a planned out
of-hospital birth submit an adverse incident report to the Department of Health (DOH), within 15 days of 
the occurrence of the incident. 

The bill defines an adverse incident as an event over which the physician, certified nurse midwife, or 
licensed midwife could exercise control and one of the following occurs during the process of childbirth: 

• A maternal death that occurs after delivery or within 42 days after delivery; 
• A maternal patient is transferred to a hospital intensive care unit; 
• A maternal patient experiences hemorrhagic shock or requires a transfusion of more than four 

units of blood or blood products; 
• A fetal or newborn death, including a still birth, attributable to an obstetrical delivery; 
• A newborn patient is transferred to a hospital neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) due to a 

traumatic birth injury; 
• A newborn patient is transferred to a hospital NICU 72 hours after birth if the newborn remains 

in the NICU for more than 72 hours; or 
• Any other injury as determined by department rules. 

In the adverse injury report, the attending health care practitioner must provide a medical summary of 
the events. DOH must review each adverse incident report to determine whether the incident involves 

47 Section 383.308(2)(a), F.S . 
48 Section 383.316, F.S. 
49 Rule 59A-11.019, F .A. C., and AHCA Form 3130-3004, (Feb. 2015). 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 8 



conduct for which the health care practitioner may be subject to disciplinary action by the appropriate 
regulatory board or if there is no board, DOH. 

The bill authorizes DOH to adopt rules to develop the adverse incident form and to implement the 
provisions of the bill. 

The bill takes effect upon becoming law. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Creates s. 456.0495, F.S., relating to reporting adverse incidents occurring in planned out
of-hospital births. 

Section 2: Provides that the act takes effect upon becoming law. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

DOH will incur a recurring, indeterminate negative fiscal impact related to the increase in workload 
associated with the review of adverse incident reports required to be submitted under the provisions 
of the bill , as well associated complaints and investigations that may be generated. 5° 

DOH will incur an insignificant, nonrecurring negative fiscal impact for developing the adverse 
incident report form and rule-making ; however, current resources are adequate to absorb such 
costs. 51 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Health care practitioners who provide planned childbirth services outside of a hospital may incur 
administrative costs to comply with the adverse incident reporting required by the bill. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

50 DOH , 2018 Agency Legislative Bill Analysis for Senate Bill 510, (Nov. 20, 2017), on file with the Health Quality Subcommittee. 
Senate Bill510 is substantively similar to House Bill673. 
51 ld. 
STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 9 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable . 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The bill provides DOH with sufficient rulemaking authority to adopt rules relating to the reporting of 
adverse incidents that occur in planned out-of-hospital births, as well as a form for reporting such 
adverse incidents. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0673.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 10 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 673 2018 

1 A bi ll to be enti t led 

2 An act relating to reporting of adverse incidents i n 

3 planned out - of-hospita l b i rths ; creat i ng s . 456 . 0495 , 

4 F . S .; defining the term "adverse incident" ; requ iring 

5 licensed physic i ans , ce rtifi ed nurse midwives , or 

6 licensed midwives to report an adverse incident and a 

7 medical summary of events to the Department of Health 

8 within a specified timeframe ; requiring the department 

9 to rev i ew adverse incident reports and determine i f 

10 conduct occurred that is subject to disciplinary 

11 

12 

1 3 

action ; requiring the appropr i a t e regu l atory board or 

the department to take disciplinary action under 

certain circumstances ; requiring the department to 

14 adopt rules; requiring the department to develop a 

15 f orm to be used for the reporting of adverse 

1 6 incidents ; providing an effective date. 

17 

18 Be It Enacted by the Leg i slature of the State of Florida : 

19 

20 Section 1. Section 456 . 0495 , Florida Statutes , i s created 

21 to read : 

22 456 . 0495 Reporting adverse incidents occur ring i n p l anned 

23 out - of - hospital births . -

24 ( 1) For purposes of this section , the term "adverse 

25 incident " means an even t over which a physician licensed under 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0673-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 673 2018 

26 chapter 458 or chapter 459 , a nurse midwife certified under part 

27 I of chapter 464, or a midwife licensed under chapter 467 could 

28 exercise control and which is as s ociated with an attempted or 

29 completed planned out - of - hospital birth , and results in one or 

30 more of the following injuries or conditions : 

31 (a) A maternal death that occurs dur i ng delivery or wi thin 

32 42 days after delivery ; 

33 (b) The transfer of a maternal patient to a hospi tal 

34 intensive care unit ; 

35 (c) A maternal pa t ient who experiences hemorrhagic shock 

36 or who requires a transfus i on of more than 4 units of blood or 

37 blood products ; 

38 (d) A fetal or newborn death , including a stillbirth, 

39 associated with an obstetrical delivery; 

40 (e) A transfer of a newborn to a neonatal intensive care 

41 unit due to a traumatic physical or neurological birth injury , 

42 including any degree of a brachial plexus injury; 

43 (f) A transfer of a newborn to a neonatal intensive care 

44 unit within the first 72 hours after birth if the newborn 

45 remains in such unit for more than 72 hours; or 

46 (g) Any other injury as determined by departmen t rule . 

47 (2) A physician licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459, 

48 a nurse mi dwi fe certified under part I of chapter 464 , or a 

49 midwife licensed under chapter 467 who performs an a ttempted or 

50 completed planned out - of- hospital birth must report an adverse 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0673-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 673 2018 

51 incident , along with a medical summary of events , t o the 

52 department within 15 days after the adverse incident occurs. 

53 (3) The department shall review each incident report and 

54 determine whether the incident involves conduct by a health care 

55 practitioner which i s s ubject to disciplinary action under s . 

56 456 . 073. Disciplinary action , if any , must be t aken by the 

57 appropriate regulatory board or by the department i f no such 

58 board exists . 

59 (4) The department shall adopt rules to implement this 

60 section and shall develop a form to be used for the reporting of 

61 adverse incidents . 

62 Section 2 . This act shall take ef fect upon becoming a law . 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0673-00 



I 
OJ 
00 
U1 
U1 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 855 Genetic Information Used for Insurance 
SPONSOR(S): Brodeur 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 1106 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee Grabowski t' 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

McElroy CrY) 

The availability and use of genetic tests has increased dramatically in recent years. The resulting genetic 
information is generally used by individuals or their physicians to determine whether any action should be 
taken to improve long-term wellbeing . 

Since the advent of genetic testing, there have been concerns about the use of personal genetic information by 
third parties. In particular, there is a concern that insurers may discriminate against individuals who have 
genetic markers indicating a heightened risk of developing certain diseases or health conditions. 

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 prohibits health insurers from making 
coverage decisions solely based on personal genetic information. The federal Genetic Information 
Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 extended this concept by prohibiting health insurers from using genetic 
information in the underwriting process, and in the setting of premiums. 

Florida law also prohibits health insurers from considering genetic information, both when issuing insurance 
policies and when setting applicable premium rates. This prohibition, however, does not extend to issuers of 
life insurance, disability income insurance, and long-term care insurance policies. 

HB 855 expands existing prohibitions on the use of genetic information by insurers to include entities that issue 
policies for life insurance, long-term care insurance, and disability income insurance. Specifically, the bill 
prohibits issuers of life insurance, long-term care insurance, and disability income insurance from canceling, 
limiting, or denying coverage and from setting differential premium rates based on personal genetic 
information. This prohibition is not applicable in situations where there has been a diagnosis of a condition 
directly related to an individual's personal genetic information. 

The bill also prohibits life insurers and long-term care insurers from requiring or soliciting genetic information 
and from using genetic information for insurance purposes. 

The bill has no fiscal impact on state or local government. 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0855.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Regulation of Insurance in Florida 

The Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) is responsible for all activities concerning insurers and other 
risk bearing entities, as provided under the insurance code. OIR regulates life insurers under parts Ill 
and V of ch. 627, F.S. 

OIR regulates health insurers under part VI of ch. 627, F.S., and health maintenance organizations 
(HMOs) under part I of ch. 641, F.S. The Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) regulates the 
quality of care provided by HMOs under part Ill of ch. 641, F.S. Before receiving a certificate of 
authority from OIR, an HMO must receive a Health Care Provider Certificate from AHCA. 1 Long-term 
care insurance is coverage for medical and personal care services provided in a setting other than in 
an acute care unit of a hospital.2 OIR regulates long-term care insurance under part XVIII of ch. 627, 
F.S. 

Genetic Testing 

The availability and use of genetic tests has increased dramatically in recent years. As of March 2017, 
there were nearly 70,000 genetic testing products on the market, with an average of 10.6 new testing 
products entering the market a day since 2015.3 A 2016 survey indicated that 5.5% of adults in the 
U.S. had had genetic testing. Over half of those tested did so based on a concern about future health 
problems for them or their children, while 18% were tested to learn more about family heritage.4 The 
U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recognizes the development of genomic tests 
for thousands of diseases and health conditions, while also acknowledging that such tests are not 
necessarily a conclusive indication that an individual will develop a particular disease or condition. 5 

A wide range of health-related DNA screenings are available. The National Institutes for Health (NIH) 
categorizes these tests as follows. 

• Diagnostic testing - identifies a genetic condition or disease that is making or in the future will 
make a person ill. The results of diagnostic testing can help in treating and managing the 
disorder. 

• Predictive and pre-symptomatic genetic testing - identifies genetic variations that increase a 
person 's chance of developing specific diseases. This type of genetic testing may help provide 
information about a person's risk of developing a disease, and can help in decisions about 
lifestyle and health care. 

1 S. 641.21(1) and 641.48, F.S. 
2 S. 627.9404, F.S . Long-term care services may encompass a wide array of medical, social, and personal care services required by 
an individual with a chronic disability. American Academy of Actuaries, The Use of Genetic Information in Disability Income and Long
Term Care Insurance, Issue Brief, Spring 2002, available at https://www.actuarv.org/files/publications/genetic 25apr02.pdf (last visited 
January 7, 2018). 
3 The Current Landscape of Genetic Testing, Concert Genetics, March 2017, available at https://www.concertgenetics.com/wp
content/uploads/2017/05/1 0 ConcertGenetics CurrentLandscapeofGeneticTesting 2017Update .pdf (last viewed Jan. 8, 2018). 
4 Harvard University T.H. Chan School of Public Health, The Public and Genetic Editing, Testing, and Therapy, Jan. 2016, available at 
https://cdn 1 .sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/94/2016/01 /ST AT-Harvard-Poii-Jan-2016-Genetic-Technology.pdf (last viewed 
Jan. 8, 2018). Genetic testing has also given rise to a novel industry aimed at providing individuals with customized data related to 
family ancestry, including companies like 23andMe, Ancestry.com, FamilyTree DNA, and Living DNA. 
5 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Genomic Testing, last updated July 19, 2017, available at 
https:l/www.cdc.gov/genomics/gtesting/ (last visited January 7, 2018). 
STORAGE NAME: h0855.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



• Carrier testing- identifies whether a person "carries" a genetic change that can cause a 
disease. Carriers usually show no signs of the disorder; however, they can pass on the genetic 
variation to their children, who may develop the disorder or become carriers themselves . 

• Prenatal testing - identifies fetuses that have certain diseases. 
• Pre-implantation genetic testing- identifies whether embryos for implantation carry genes 

that could cause disease. This is often done in conjunction with in vitro fertilization . 
• Newborn screening - is used to test babies one or two days after birth to determine if those 

newborns have certain diseases known to cause problems with health and development. 
• Pharmacogenetic testing - provides information about how certain medicines are processed in 

a person 's body. This type of testing can help a healthcare provider choose the medicines that 
work best with a person 's genetic makeup. For example, genetic testing is now available to 
guide treatments for certain cancers. 

• Research genetic testing- helps scientists learn more about how genes contribute to health 
and disease, as well as develop gene-based treatments. Sometimes the results do not directly 
help the research participant, but they may benefit others in the future by helping researchers 
expand their understanding of the human body.6 

One often-cited use of genetic testing involves screening of female patients for a gene mutation that 
can be an early predictor of breast cancer. BRCA 1 and BRCA 2 gene mutations are relatively rare, but 
women having these mutations develop breast cancer at much higher rates than those without,? BRCA 
testing has become increasingly prevalent among women in famil ies with histories of breast cancer.8 

Use of Personal Genetic Information in Insurance Markets 

The now-widespread availability of genetic tests has given rise to questions and concerns over the 
appropriate use of genetic information. While an individual may voluntarily submit to genetic testing in 
an effort to gain insights into his or her own genetic history, third parties may seek to obtain this same 
information for other purposes, such as for use in insurance markets. 

For example, insurers might use genetic information to exclude high-risk individuals from established 
risk pools. Insurers might also charge higher premium rates to an individual whose genetic information 
indicates is at an increased risk of developing a degenerative health condition.9 Conversely, exclusion 
of higher-risk insureds could reduce premium inflation for those left in the risk pool. 

Similarly, consumers could use personal genetic information to the detriment of insurers. For example, 
an individual may discover through genetic testing that he or she is likely to develop a serious health 
condition , and only then purchase life insurance. An insurer is at a disadvantage and cannot accurately 
gauge the risk posed by covering an individual in this situation. 10 Adverse selection of this nature could 
destabilize insurance markets if access to personal genetic information leads to widespread changes in 
consumer behavior. 11 Specifically, the risk-spreading ability of insurance could be compromised if only 
those who are likely to become ill purchase insurance.12 

Federal Laws 

6 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes for Health, Genetic Testing: How it is Used for Healthcare, 
available at https://report.nih .gov/nihfactsheets!ViewFactSheet.aspx?csid=43 (last visited January 7, 2018). 
7 McCarthy, Anne Marie and Armstrong, Katrina , "The Role of Testing for BRCA 1 and BRCA2 Mutations in Cancer Prevention." JAMA 
Intern Med. 2014;174(7):1023-1024. doi :10.1001 /jamaintemmed.2014.1322, available at 
https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih .gov/pmc/articles/PMC41 69670/ (last visited January 7, 2018). 
8 ld . 
9 Klitzman, Robert, Appelbaum , Paul S. , Chung , Wendy K, "Should Life Insurers Have Access to Genetic Test 
Results?". JAMA. 2014;312(18):1855-1 856. doi :10.1001/jama.2014.13301 , available at 
https://www.ncbi .nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC425957 4/ (last visited January 7, 2018). 
10 ld . 
11 American Academy of Actuaries, The Use of Genetic Information in Disability Income and Long-Term Care Insurance , Issue Brief, 
Spring 2002, available at https://www.actuarv.org/fi les/publ icati ons/qenetic 25apr02 .pdf (last vi sited January 7, 2018). 
12 ld . 
STORAGE NAME: h0855.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) includes the first federal 
regulations on the use of personal genetic information. 13 HIPAA prohibits health insurers from utilizing 
"preexisting condition" exclusions based solely on an individual's genetic information. Under HIPAA, 
insurers can make coverage decisions using information reflecting diagnosed health conditions, but not 
based on genetic indicators alone. 14 

The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (GINA) extended federal patient protections by 
preventing health insurers from using genetic information in the underwriting of health insurance 
products. 15 Health insurers may not charge higher premiums or make coverage decisions based solely 
on an individual's genetic information. However, the prohibitions outlined in GINA do not extend to other 
types of insurance, such as life insurance and long-term care insurance. There are currently no federal 
limitations on the use of genetic information by these insurers. 

State Laws 

States have adopted various regulations related to the use of genetic information by insurers. In 
general, states address patient privacy for personal genetic information by: 16 

1. Requiring informed consent before performing genetic testing; 
2. Restricting the use of genetic data by health insurance, employers or providers of long-term life 

care or insurance; and , 
3. Limiting disclosure of the personal genetic information without the consent of the individual or 

defining genetic data as the 'property' of the individual. 

Most states have enacted laws that prohibit genetic discrimination by health insurers. 17 A number of 
states have taken actions to limit or prohibit the use of genetic information in other lines of insurance as 
well. 18 For example, Arizona, California , Massachusetts and New Jersey restrict use of genetic 
information by life insurers, and Kansas, Maryland and Massachusetts restrict use by long-term care 
insurers. Similarly, Arizona, California , Idaho, Kansas , Massachusetts and New Jersey restrict use by 
disability 19 insurers. 20 

Florida Law 

Section 760.40, F.S., makes the results of genetic testing the exclusive personal property of the person 
tested, and makes it a first degree misdemeanor to sharing test results without the informed consent of 
the person tested. 

13 Hall , Mark A. and Rich , Stephen S. , "Laws Restricting Health Insurers' Use of Genetic Information: Impact on Genetic Discrimination ." 
AJHG 2000: 66{1 ): 293-307, available at https://doi.org/1 0.1086/302714 {last visited January 7, 2018). 
14 1d. 
15 U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008, available at 
https://www.eeoc.gov/laws/statutes/gina.cfm {last visited January 7, 2018). 
16 Miller, Amalia R. and Tucker, Catherine E. , "Privacy Protection, Personalized Medicine and Genetic Testing" (July 31, 2014), 
available at https://ssrn .com/abstract=2411230 (last visited January 7, 2018). 
17 Rothstein , Mark A., "Putting the Genetic Nondiscrimination Act in context." Genetics in Medicine 2008: 10: 655-656, available at 
https://www.nature.com/articles/gim200899 {last visited January 7, 2018). 
18 The National Human Genome Human Research Institute maintains a searchable database of legislation related to genetic 
information that has either been enacted or considered by state legislatures. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National 
Institutes of Health- National Human Genome Human Research Institute, Genome Statute and Legislation Database, available at 
https://www.genome.gov/policyethics/legdatabase/pubsearch .cfm?CF I D=22285441 &CFTOKE N= 7fc536f1 b99bbd21-2342A48B-03C6-
03BE-03FEEF39A8695COF (last visited January 7, 2018). 
19 Disability income insurance protects earned income against potential loss due to disabling injury or illness. American Academy of 
Actuaries, The Use of Genetic Information in Disability Income and Long-Term Care Insurance, Issue Brief, Spring 2002, available at 
https://www.actuarv.org/fi les/publications/genetic 25apr02.pdf (last visited January 7, 2018). 
20 Supra note 20. 
STORAGE NAME: h0855.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



Section 627.4301, F.S. , prohibits health insurers from considering genetic information, both when 
issuing insurance policies and when setting applicable premium rates. 21 Insurers cannot require or 
solicit genetic information, or employ underwriting based on the results of any genetic testing that an 
individual may choose to complete, and cannot use such results for any purpose. This prohibition is 
currently limited to self-insured health plans, fully-insured health plans, health maintenance 
organizations (HMOs), prepaid limited health service organizations, prepaid health clinics, fraternal 
benefit societies, or any other health care arrangement where risk is assumed. This section of law 
expressly exempts several forms of insurance from the prohibition: life insurance, and policies for 
disability income, long-term care, accident-only, hospital indemnity or fixed indemnity, dental, and 
vision . 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

HB 855 amends s. 627.4301, F.S., to expand existing prohibitions on the use of genetic information by 
including life insurance, long-term care insurance, and disability income insurance. Specifically, the bill 
prohibits issuers of life insurance, long-term care insurance, and disability income insurance from 
canceling , limiting, or denying coverage and from setting differential premium rates based on personal 
genetic information. This prohibition is not applicable in situations where there has been a diagnosis of 
a condition directly related to an individual's personal genetic information. 

The bill also prohibits life insurers and long-term care insurers from requiring or soliciting genetic 
information and from using genetic information for insurance purposes. 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2018 and would apply to insurance policies entered into or 
renewed on or after January 1, 2019. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: 

Section 2: 

Section 3: 

Amends s. 627.4301, F.S., relating to the use of genetic information for insurance 
purposes. 
Establishes that the bill 's requirements are applicable to insurance policies entered into 
or renewed on or after January 1, 2019. 
Provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

21 See also S. 626.9706, F.S ., which prohibits insurers from refusing coverage or charging higher premiums to individuals determined to 
carry the sickle-cell trait. 
STORAGE NAME: h0855.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 5 
DATE: 1/8/2018 



None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

It is unclear whether or how, insurers of life insurance, long-term care insurance, and disability income 
insurance are currently using personal genetic information, so the economic impact of the bill's 
prohibition on its use is unknown. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. This bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

Not applicable. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0855.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/8/2018 

PAGE: 6 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 855 2018 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to genetic information used for 

3 insurance ; amending s. 627 .4 30 1, F. S .; providing 

4 definitions; prohibit ing the use of genetic 

5 information in the issuance of life i nsurance 

6 policies , long-term care policies, and disability 

7 income policies ; providing applicability ; providing an 

8 effective date. 

9 

10 Be I t Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

11 

12 

13 

Section 1. 

to read: 

Section 627 . 4301 , Florida Statutes, is amended 

14 627 . 4301 Genetic information for insurance purposes . -

15 (1) DEFINITIONS.-As used in this section , the term : 

16 (a) "Genetic information" means information derived from 

17 genetic testing to determine the presence or absence of 

18 var i ations or mutat i ons , inc l ud i ng carrier status , in an 

19 individual's genetic mater i al o r genes that are scientifically 

20 or medically believed to cause a disease , disorder, or syndrome , 

21 o r are associated with a stat i stically increased risk of 

22 developing a disease , disorder, or syndrome, which is 

23 asymptomatic at the t ime of testing. Such testing does no t 

24 include rout i ne physical examinations or chemical, blood, or 

25 ur i ne ana l ysis , unless conducted purposeful l y to obta i n genetic 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0855-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 855 2018 

26 information, or questions regarding family history. 

27 (b) "Hea l th insurer" means an authorized insurer offering 

28 health insurance as defined in s. 624 . 603 , a self-insured plan 

29 as defined ins. 624.031 , a multiple -employer welfare 

30 arrangement as defined in s. 624 .4 37 , a prepaid limited health 

31 service organization as defined in s. 636.003, a health 

32 maintenance organizat i on as defined in s. 641.19, a prepaid 

33 health clinic as defined ins. 64 1.4 02, a fraternal benefit 

34 society as defined ins. 632.601 , or any health care arrangement 

35 whereby risk is assumed. 

36 (c) "L ife insurer" has the same meaning as in s. 624.602 

37 and includes the granting of additional benefits in the event of 

38 the insured ' s disability. 

39 (d) "Long-term care insurer" means an insurer that issues 

40 long-term care insurance policies as described ins. 627 . 9404 . 

41 (2) USE OF GENETIC INFORMATION.-

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

(a) In the absence of a diagnosis of a condition related 

to genetic in format i on, no health insurer, life insurer, or 

long- term care insurer authorized to transact insurance in this 

state may cancel , limit, or deny coverage, or establish 

differentials in premium rates, based on such information. 

(b) Health insurers, life insurers, and long-te rm care 

insurers may not require or solicit genetic information, use 

genetic test results, or consider a person's decisions or 

actions relating to genetic testing in any manner for any 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0855-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 855 

51 insurance purpose . 

52 (c) Th is section does not apply to the underwriting or 

53 issuance of an a life insurance policy, disability income 

54 policy, long term care policy, accident - on l y policy, hospital 

55 indemnity or fixed indemnity policy , dental poli c y , o r vis ion 

2018 

56 policy or any other actions of an insurer directly related to an 

57 a life insurance policy, disability income policy, long term 

58 care policy, accident - only policy, h ospital indemnity o r fixed 

59 indemnity policy , dental pol i cy , or vision policy. 

60 Section 2 . This act app li es to policies entered into or 

61 renewed on or after January 1, 2019 . 

62 Section 3. This ac t shall take effect July 1, 201 8 . 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0855-00 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 973 Performance of Physician Assistants and Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners 
SPONSOR(S): Daniels and others 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 708 

REFERENCE ACTION 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee 

2) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

ANALYST 

Siples 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

McEiroycn 

Advanced registered nurse practitioners (ARNPs) are licensed registered nurses with post-graduate education 
in nursing that prepares them to perform advanced or specialized nursing. ARNPs may perform nursing or 
medical acts that are authorized pursuant to a written protocol with a physician . ARNPs may only sign those 
documents that are directly related to the performance of the nursing or medical acts authorized pursuant to a 
protocol, unless otherwise prohibited by law. 

Physician assistants (PAs) complete specialized education that prepares them to perform medical services and 
practice as a part of a health care team. PAs practice under the delegated authority of a supervising physician. 
A PA may sign only those documents that are directly related to the performance of medical services 
performed as delegated by a supervising physician and do not, by law, require a physician 's signature. 

ARNPs and PAs provide comprehensive health care to patients within the scope of their education, 
certification, and delegated authority. Currently, ARNPs and PAs are prohibited from signing various 
documents associated with the care that an ARNP or PA provides. Instead, a physician 's signature is required 
on these documents even if the physician did not provide care to the patient. Such documents include the 
disability certification for certain tax exemptions, a death certificate, and a certificate to initiate an involuntary 
examination under the Baker Act. 

HB 973 authorizes allopathic and osteopathic physicians to delegate authority to ARNPs and PAs to sign , 
certify, stamp, verify, or endorse any document required by law to be signed by a physician. However, the bill 
specifically prohibits a PA or an ARNP who is not a psychiatric nurse from approving the release of an 
individual from a Baker Act receiving facility. 

The bill has no fiscal impact on state or local government. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0973.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/4/201 8 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners 

Nurses are licensure are licensed by DOH and regulated by the Board of Nursing pursuant to part I of 
ch. 464, F.S. Licensure requirements to practice nursing include completion of an approved educational 
course of study, passage of an examination approved by DOH, and acceptable criminal background 
screening results .1 

A nurse actively licensed to practice professional nursing may be certified as an Advanced Registered 
Nurse Practitioner (ARNP), under s. 464.012, F.S., if the nurse meets one or both of the following 
requirements: 

• Certification by a specialty board; or 
• Graduation from a program leading to a master's degree in a nursing clinical specialty area with 

preparation in specialized practitioner skills. 

Current law defines three categories of ARNPs: certified registered nurse anesthetists, certified nurse 
midwives, and nurse practitioners. 2 All ARNPs, regardless of practice category, may only practice 
within the framework of an established protocol and under the supervision of an allopathic or 
osteopathic physician or dentist.3 ARNPs may carry out treatments as specified in statute, including:4 

• Prescribing, dispensing, administering, or ordering any drug;5 

• Initiating appropriate therapies for certain conditions; 
• Ordering diagnostic tests and physical and occupational therapy; 
• Ordering any medication for administration patients in certain facilities; and 
• Performing additional functions as determined by rule. 6 

In addition to the above-allowed acts, an ARNP may also perform other acts as authorized by statute 
and within his or her specialty.7 Currently, there are 27,588 ARNPs who hold active licenses to practice 
in Florida. 8 

An ARNP may sign only those documents that are directly related to the performance of authorized 
nursing or medical acts performed pursuant to a physician's protocol and which do not, by law, require 
a physician's signature. Under current law, an ARNP may not sign, among other things, a certificate to 

1 Sections 464.008 and 464.009, F.S. As an alternative to licensure by examination, a nurse may also be eligible for licensure by 
endorsement. 
2 Section 464.012(2), F.S. 
3 Section 464.012(3), F.S. 
4 ld . 
5 An ARNP may only prescribe controlled substances if he or she has graduated from a program leading to a master's or doctoral 
degree in a clinical nursing specialty area with training in specialized practitioner skills . An ARNP is limited to prescribing a 7-day supply 
of Schedule II controlled substances. Only a psychiatric nurse may prescribe psychotropic controlled substances for the treatment of 
mental disorders and psychiatric mental health controlled substances for children younger than 18. 
6 Section 464.003(2), F.S., defines "advanced or specialized nursing practice" to include additional activities that an ARNP may perform 
as approved by the Board of Nursing . 
7 Section 464.012(4), F.S . 
8 Email correspondence with the Department of Health, dated December 14, 2017 (on file with the Health Quality Subcommittee). 
STORAGE NAME: h0973.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 2 
DATE: 1/4/2018 



initiate an involuntary examination of a person under the Baker Act, 9 a death certificate, 10 or a 
certification of a disability for certain tax exemptions. 11 Only an ARNP who qualifies as a psychiatric 
nurse 12 acting within the framework of an established protocol with a psychiatrist may authorize the 
release of a patient from a receiving facility.13 If the involuntary examination was performed by 
psychiatrist, a psychiatric nurse may not approve the release of a patient unless it is approved by the 
initiating psychiatrist. 14 

Physician Assistants 

Physician assistants are governed by the physician practice acts for medical doctors and doctors of 
osteopathic medicine. PAs are regulated by the Florida Council on Physician Assistants (Council) in 
conjunction with either the Board of Medicine for PAs licensed under ch. 458, F.S., or the Board of 
Osteopathic Medicine for PAs licensed under ch. 459, F.S. As of December 2017, there are 9,118 PAs 
who hold active licenses to practice in Florida. 15 

An applicant for a PA license must apply to the Department of Health (DOH). DOH must issue a license 
to a person certified by the Council as having met all of the following requirements: 16 

• Complete an approved PA training program; 
• Obtain a passing score on the National Commission on Certification of Physician Assistant 

exam; 
• Acknowledge any prior felony convictions; 
• Submit to a background screening and have no disqualifying offenses; 17 

• Acknowledge any previous revocation or denial of licensure in any state; and 
• Provide a copy of course transcripts and a copy of the course description from a PA training 

program describing the course content in pharmacotherapy if the applicant is seeking 
prescribing authority. 

PAs may only practice under the direct or indirect supervision of a medical doctor or doctor of 
osteopathic medicine with whom they have a clinical relationship. 18 A supervising physician may only 
delegate tasks and procedures to the PA that are within the supervising physician's scope of practice.19 

The supervising physician is responsible and liable for any acts or omissions of the PA and may not 
supervise more than four PAs at any time.20 

The Boards have established by rule that "responsible supervision" of a PA means the ability of the 
supervising physician to exercise control and provide direction over the services or tasks performed by 
the PA. Whether the supervision of a PA is adequate, is dependent upon the: 

• Complexity of the task; 

9 The Baker Act authorizes the involuntary examination of certain individuals who, without care or treatment, pose a real and present 
danger to their well-being or may cause serious bodily injury to themselves or others in the near future, as evidenced by recent 
behavior (s. 394.463(1), F.S .) 
10 Section 382.008, F.S. 
11 Section 196.101 , F.S. 
12 Section 394.455(35), F.S., defines a psychiatric nurse as an ARNP who has a master's degree or a doctorate in psychiatric nursing, 
holds a national advanced practice certification as a psychiatric mental health advance practice nurse, and has two years of post
master's clinical experience under the supervision of a physician. 
13 Section 394.463(2)(f), F.S. A receiving facility is a facility designated by the Department of Children and Families to provide the initial 
examination and short-term treatment of individuals who meet the criteria under the Baker Act. 
14 1d. 
15 Email correspondence with the Department of Health, dated December 14, 2017 (on file with the Health Quality Subcommittee). 
16 Sections 458.347(7) and 459.022(7), F.S. 
17 Section 456.0135, F.S. 
18 Sections 458.347(2)(f) and 459.022(2)(f), F.S., define supervision as responsible supervision and control which requires the easy 
availability or physical presence of the licensed physician for consultation and direction of the PA. 
19 Rules 64B8-30.012 and 64B15-6.010, F.A.C. 
20 Sections 458.347(15) and 459.022(15), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0973.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 1/4/2018 



• Risk to the patient; 
• Background, training and skill of the PA; 
• Adequacy of the direction in terms of its form; 
• Setting in which the tasks are performed; 
• Availability of the supervising physician; 
• Necessity for immediate attention; and 
• Number of other persons that the supervising physician must supervise.2 1 

The decision to permit the PA to perform a task or procedure under direct or indirect supervision is 
made by the supervising physician based on reasonable medical judgment regarding the probability of 
morbidity and mortality to the patient.22 A supervising physician may delegate the authority for a PA to: 

• Prescribe or dispense any medicinal drug used in the supervising physician's practice unless 
such medication is listed in the formulary established by the Council; 23 

• Order any medication for administration to the supervising physician's patient in a hospital or 
other facility licensed under chapter 395, F.S., or a nursing homes licensed under part II of 
chapter 400, F.S}4 and 

• Any other services that are not expressly prohibited in ch. 458, F.S., ch. 459, F.S., or the rules 
adopted thereunder.25 

A PA may sign only those documents that are directly re lated to the performance of medical services 
performed as delegated by a supervising physician and which do not, by law, require a physician 's 
signature. Under current law, a PA may not sign, among other things, a certificate to initiate an 
involuntary examination of a person under the Baker Act, 26 a death certificate,27 or a certification of a 
disability for certain tax exemptions.28 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

HB 973 authorizes allopathic and osteopathic physicians to delegate authority to ARNPs and PAs to 
sign, certify, stamp, verify, or endorse any document that requires the signature, certification, stamp, 
verification, or endorsement of a physician . This includes, among other things, signing a disability 
certification, initiation of an involuntary examination of a person under the Baker Act, or a death 
certificate. However, the bill specifically prohibits a PA or an ARNP who is not a psychiatric nurse from 
approving the release of an individual from a Baker Act receiving facility. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 458.347, F.S., relating to physician assistants. 
Section 2: Amends s. 459.022, F.S., relating to physician assistants. 

21 Rules 6488-30.001 , F.A.C., and 64815-6.001, F.A.C. 
22 "Direct supervision" refers to the physical presence of the supervising physician so that the physician is immediately available to the 
PA when needed. "Indirect supervision" refers to the reasonable physical proximity of the supervising physician to the PA or availability 
by telecommunication. Supra note 21 . 
23 Sections 458.347(4)(f), F.S., and 459.022(e), F.S ., directs the Council to establish a formulary listing the medical drugs that a PA may 
not prescribe. The formulary in Rules 6488-30.008, F.A.C., and 64815-6.0038, F.A.C. , prohibits PAs from prescribing; general, spinal 
or epidural anesthetics; radiographic contrast materials; and psychiatric mental health controlled substances for children younger than 
18 years of age. It also restricts the prescribing of Schedule II controlled substances to a 7-day supply. However, the rules authorize 
physicians to delegate to PAs the authority to order controlled substances in hospitals and other facilities licensed under ch. 395, F.S. 
24 Chapter 395, F .S., provides for the regulation and the licensure of hospitals and trauma centers, part II of ch. 400, F.S., provides for 
the regulation and licensure of nursing home facilities. 
25 Sections 458.347(4) and 459.022(e), F.S. 
26 Supra note 9. 
27 Supra note 10. 
28 Supra note 11. 
STORAGE NAME: h0973.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 4 
DATE: 1/4/2018 



Section 3: Amends s. 464.012, F.S., relating to certification of advanced registered nurse 
practitioners; fees; controlled substance prescribing . 

Section 4: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

If a document requires a physician 's signature, patients will have additional options for selecting a 
health care provider. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision : 

Not applicable . There bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

None. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h0973. HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 1/4/201 8 

PAGE: 5 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB973 2018 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to performance o f physician assistants 

3 and advanced registered nurse practi tioners ; amend i ng 

4 ss . 458 . 347 and 459.0 22 , F . S .; author izing a physician 

5 assistant to sign , certify, stamp , verify , or endorse 

6 a document that requ ires the signature , certification , 

7 s t amp , verification , or endorsement of a physician ; 

8 providing an except i on ; amending s . 464 . 012 , F. S .; 

9 authorizing an advanced registered nurse practit i oner 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

1 6 

to sign , cert i fy , stamp , verify , or endorse a document 

that requires the signature , ce r tif i ca t ion , stamp , 

verification , or endorsement of a p hysician within the 

framework of an established protocol and under 

supervision; p r oviding an exception ; providing an 

effective date . 

17 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Fl o rida : 

18 

19 Section 1 . Paragraph (i ) is added to subsecti on (4) of 

20 section 458 . 347 , Flor ida Sta t utes , to read : 

21 458 . 347 Physician assistants.-

22 (4) PERFORMANCE OF PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS .-

23 (i) A supervisory physician may delegate to a licensed 

24 physician assis t an t the authority to sign , certify , stamp , 

25 verify , or endorse a document that requires the signature , 

Page 1 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0973-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 973 

26 certification, stamp , verification , or endorsement o f a 

27 physician, except that the supervi sory physician may not 

2018 

28 delegate the authority t o issue a written approval to r elease a 

29 patient from a rece i ving facility or i ts c ont ractor under s . 

30 394 . 463(2)(f) . 

31 Section 2 . Pa ragraph (h ) is added to subsection (4) o f 

32 section 459 . 022 , Fl o rida Statutes , to read : 

33 459 . 022 Physician assis t ants.-

34 (4) PERFORMANCE OF PHYSICIAN ASS I STANTS . -

35 (h) A supervisory physician may delegate to a licensed 

36 physician ass istant the authority to sign , certify , st amp , 

37 veri fy , or endorse a document that requires the signature , 

38 certification , stamp , verification, or endorsement of a 

39 phys ician , except t ha t the supervisory physician may not 

40 delegate the authority to is sue a writt e n approval to release a 

41 patient from a receiving facility or its contractor under s . 

42 3 94 . 463(2)(f) . 

43 Section 3 . Subs ection (3) of section 464 .01 2 , Florida 

44 Statutes , is ame nded to read : 

45 464 . 012 Certif i ca ti on o f advanced registered nurse 

46 practit i one rs ; fe es ; controlled substance prescr ibing . -

47 (3) An advanced registered nurse practitioner shall 

48 perform those functions authorized in this section within the 

49 framework of an established protocol which must be maintained on 

50 site at the location or locations at whi ch an advanced 

Page 2 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0973-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 973 2018 

51 registered nurse practitioner practices . In the case of multiple 

52 supervising physicians in the same group , an advanced registered 

53 nurse practitione r must ente r into a supervisory protocol wi th 

54 at l east one physician within the physician group practice . A 

55 practitioner currently licensed under chapter 458 , chapter 459 , 

56 or c hapter 466 shal l maintain supervision for directing the 

57 specific c ourse o f med i cal treatment . Within the established 

58 framework , an advanced registered nurse practitioner may : 

59 (a) Prescribe , dispens e , administer , or order any drug ; 

60 however , an advanced registere d nurse practitioner may prescribe 

61 or di spe n se a controlled substance as def i ned ins . 893 . 03 onl y 

62 if the advanced registered nurse practitioner has graduated from 

63 a progr am leading to a master ' s or doctora l degre e in a c lini cal 

64 nursing specialty area wi th training in specialized practit i oner 

65 skill s . 

66 (b) Initiate appropriate therapies for ce rtain condi t ions . 

67 (c) Perform addit i onal functions as may be determined by 

68 ru l e i n accordance with s . 4 64.003 ( 2) . 

69 (d) Or der diagnost i c test s and physical and occupational 

70 t herapy . 

71 (e) Order any med i cation f or administration to a patient 

72 in a f acility licensed under chapter 39 5 o r part II of chapter 

7 3 400 , notwiths tanding a n y provisions in chapter 465 or chapter 

74 893 . 

75 (f) Sign , cert ify , stamp , verify , o r endorse a document 

Page 3 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0973-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 973 2018 

76 that requires the signature, certification , stamp, verification, 

77 or endorsement of a physician, except that the supervisory 

78 physician may not delegate the authority to issue a written 

79 approval to release a patient from a receiving facility or its 

80 contractor under s. 394 .463( 2) (f) . 

81 Section 4. This act shall take effect July 1, 2018 . 

Page 4 of 4 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0973-00 



I I 
OJ 

~ I 

~ 



HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 6049 Medical Marijuana Growers 
SPONSOR(S): Jones 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 1134 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Quality Subcommittee Royal !JfL 
2) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

McEiro 

On November 8, 2016, Florida voters approved an amendment to the Florida Constitution (Fla. Const. art. X, s. 
29) which allows the medical use of marijuana by patients with an enumerated debilitating medical condition. 
The amendment authorizes entities known as Medical Marijuana Treatment Centers (MMTCs) to be marijuana 
providers. During the 2017 A Special Session, the legislature passed SB8-A which implements Fla Const. art. 
X, s. 29. 

Current law requires the Department of Health (DOH) to grant MMTC licenses to dispensing organizations 
licensed by July 3, 2017. Current law also requires DOH to grant ten additional MMTC licenses by October 3, 
2017. Among these, one of the licenses must be awarded to an applicant that is a recognized class member 
of Pigford v. Glickman, 185 F.R.D. 82 (D.D.C. 1999), or In Re Black Farmers Litig., 856 F. Supp. 2d 1 (D.D.C. 
2011 ), and a Florida member of the Florida Black Farmers and Agriculturalists Association (Recognized Class 
Member License). 

HB 6049 repeals the requirement that a Recognized Class Member License applicant be a member of the 
Florida Black Farmers and Agriculturalists Association. An applicant must only be a recognized class member 
of Pigford v. Glickman, 185 F.R.D. 82 (D.D.C. 1999), or In Re Black Farmers Litig., 856 F. Supp. 2d 1 (D.D.C. 
2011) to be eligible for the Recognized Class Member License. 

The bill also repeals the requirement that the license be awarded by October 3, 2017. 

The bill does not have a fiscal impact on state or local governments. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h6049.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/14/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act 

The Compassionate Medical Cannabis Act (CMCA) was enacted in 2014. 1 The CMCA legalized a low
THC and high-CBD form of low-THC cannabis2 for medical use3 by patients suffering from cancer or a 
physical medical condition that chronically produces symptoms of seizures or severe and persistent 
muscle spasms. In 2016, the legislature also amended the Right to Try Act (RTTA) to allow eligible 
patients with a terminal condition to receive a form of cannabis with no THC limit or CBD mandate 
referred to as medical cannabis. 4 

Under the CMCA, the Department of Health (DOH) was required to approve by January 1, 2015, five 
dispensing organizations to cultivate, process, transport, and dispense low-THC cannabis or medical 
cannabis with one dispensing organization in each of the following regions: northwest Florida, northeast 
Florida, central Florida, southeast Florida, and southwest Florida. 

The CMCA also required DOH to approve three additional dispensing organizations upon the 
registration of 250,000 active qualified patients in the compassionate use registry. 5 The CMCA required 
one of these additional dispensing organizations to be owned and operated by a recognized class 
member of of Pigford v. Glickman, 185 F.R.D. 82 (D.D.C. 1999), or In Re Black Farmers Litig., 856 F. 
Supp. 2d 1 (D. D.C. 2011 ), and a member of the Black Farmers and Agriculturalists Association. 

Amendment 2 

On November 8, 2016, Florida voters approved Amendment 2, Use of Marijuana for Debilitating 
Medical Conditions as Art. X, Sec. 29 of the Florida Constitution . The amendment authorizes patients 
with an enumerated debilitating medical condition to obtain medical marijuana from MMTCs. 

The amendment requires DOH to register MMTCs to provide medical marijuana and related supplies to 
patients or their caregivers. MMTCs may acquire, cultivate, possess process, transfer, transport, sell, 
distribute, dispense, or administer marijuana and products containing marijuana. MMTCs may also 
provide related supplies and educational materials. 

The amendment requires DOH to establish procedures for the registration of MMTCs that include 
procedures for the issuance, renewal, suspension and revocation of registration. The amendment also 
requires DOH to establish regulatory standards for security, record keeping , testing, labeling, 
inspection, and safety. 

The amendment states that the legislature may enact laws consistent with the amendment. 

1 See ch. 2014-157, L.O.F., ch . 2016-123 , L.O.F. and s. 381.986, F.S . 
2 The act defines "low-THC cannabis, " as the dried flowers of the plant Cannabis which contain 0.8 percent or less of 
tetrahydrocannabinol and more than 10 percent of cannabidiol weight for weight, or the seeds, resin , or any compound, manufacture, 
salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant or its seeds or resin . Sees. 381.986(1 ){b), F.S . 
3 Section 381 .986(1 )(c) , F.S., defines "medical use" as "administration of the ordered amount of low-THC cannabis. The term does not 
include the possession, use, or administration by smoking. The term also does not include the transfer of low-THC cannabis to a person 
other than the qualified patient for whom it was ordered or the qualified patient's legal representative on behalf of the qualified patient. " 
Section 381.986(1 )(e), F.S ., defines "smoking" as "burning or igniting a substance and inhaling the smoke. Smoking does not include 
the use of a vaporizer. " 
4 Section 499.0295, F.S. 
5 Section 381 .986(5)(c), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h6049.HQS.DOCX PAGE : 2 
DATE: 12/14/2017 



SB 8-A 

During the 2017A Special Session, the legislature passed SB8-A which implements Fla Const. art. X, s. 
29 by significantly amending the CMCA. 

Current law requires DOH to grant MMTC licenses to dispensing organizations licensed by July 3, 
2017.6 Current law also requires DOH to grant ten additional MMTC licenses.7 Among these, licenses 
were to be awarded by August 1, 2017 to any denied dispensing organization applicant whose 
application was scored by DOH and had one or more administrative or legal challenges pending as of 
January 1, 2017, or had a final ranking within one point of the highest final ranking applicant in its 
region, and proves to DOH that it has the infrastructure and ability to begin cultivating marijuana within 
30 days after registration as a MMTC.8 The remaining licenses were to be awarded by October 3, 
2017, one of which must be awarded to an applicant that is a recognized class member of Pigford v. 
Glickman, 185 F.R.D. 82 (D. D.C. 1999), or In Re Black Farmers Litig., 856 F. Supp. 2d 1 (D.D.C. 
2011 ), and a Florida member of the Florida Black Farmers and Agriculturalists Association (Recognized 
Class Member License).9 

DOH must grant 4 additional MMTC licenses when the patient population reaches 100,000 and 4 
additional MMTC licenses for every additional 100,000 patients thereafter. 10 

On September 22, 2017, Columbus Smith (Smith) filed a lawsuit challenging the requirement that a 
Recognized Class Member License applicant be a member of the Florida Black Farmers and 
Agriculturalists Association. 11 Smith is a recognized class member of Pigford v. Glickman, 185 F.R.D. 
82 (D. D.C. 1999), or In Re Black Farmers Litig ., 856 F. Supp. 2d 1 (D. D.C. 2011) but is not a member 
of the Florida Black Farmers and Agriculturalists Association. Smith also seeks an injunction to enjoin 
DOH from awarding a Recognized Class Member License. DOH has not granted any of the 10 
additional MMTC licenses that it was required to grant by October 3, 2017, due to this lawsuit. 

Effect of the Bill 

HB 6049 repeals the requirement that a Recognized Class Member License applicant be a member of 
the Florida Black Farmers and Agriculturalists Association. An applicant must only be a recognized 
class member of Pigford v. Glickman, 185 F.R.D. 82 (D.D.C. 1999), or In Re Black Farmers Litig., 856 
F. Supp. 2d 1 (D. D.C. 2011) to be eligible for the Recognized Class Member License. 

The bill also repeals the requirement that the license be awarded by October 3, 2017. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 381.986, F.S., relating to Medical Marijuana Treatment Centers. 
Section 2: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2018. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

6 Section 381 .986(8)(a)1, F.S. 
7 Section 381 .986(8)(a)2 , F.S. 
8 Section 381 .986(8)(a)2 .a, F.S. 
9 Section 381 .986(8)(a)2 .b, F.S 
10 Section 381 .986(8)(a)4, F.S. 
11 Smith v. Florida Department of Health , case number 17 -CA-1972 , in the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit of Florida. 
STORAGE NAME: h6049.HQS.DOCX PAGE: 3 
DATE: 12/14/2017 



2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

None. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

Not applicable. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

STORAGE NAME: h6049.HQS.DOCX 
DATE: 12/14/2017 

PAGE: 4 



--------

FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 6049 2018 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to medical marijuana growers; amending 

3 s . 381.986 , F.S.; deleting a requirement that the 

4 Department of Health grant a medical marijuana 

5 treatment center license to a member of a specified 

6 association ; providing an effective date . 

7 

8 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

9 

10 Section 1. Paragraph (a) of subsection (8) of section 

11 381.986, Florida Statutes , is amended to read: 

12 381.986 Medical use of marijuana.-

13 (8) MEDICAL MARIJUANA TREATMENT CENTERS.-

14 

15 

16 

17 

1 8 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(a) The department sha ll license medical marijuana 

treatment centers to ensure reasonable statewide accessibility 

and availability as necessary for qualified patients registered 

in the medical marijuana use registry and who are issued a 

physician certif i cat ion under this section. 

1. As soon as practicable, but no later than July 3, 2017, 

the department shall license as a medical marijuana treatment 

center any entity that holds an active, unrestricted license to 

cultivate, process, transport, and dispense low-THC cannabis , 

medical cannabis, and cannabis delivery devices, under former s. 

381.986, Florida Statutes 2016 , before July 1 , 2017, and which 

meets the requirements of this section. In addition to the 

Page 1 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb6049-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 6049 2018 

26 authority granted under this section , these entities are 

27 authorized to dispense low- THC cannabis , medical cannabis , and 

28 cannabis delivery devices ordered pursuant to former s . 381 . 986 , 

29 Florida Statutes 2016 , which were entered i nto the compassionate 

30 use registry before July 1, 20 17 , and are auth orized to begin 

31 dispensing marijuana under this section on July 3 , 20 17. The 

32 department may grant var i ances from the representations made in 

33 such an entity ' s original application for approva l under f ormer 

34 s . 381 . 986 , Florida Statutes 2014 , pursuant to paragraph (e) . 

35 2 . The department shall license as medical marijuana 

36 treatment centers 10 applicants that meet the requirements of 

37 this section , under the fo l lowing parameters: 

38 a . As soon as practicable , but no later than August 1 , 

39 20 17 , the department shall license a ny applicant whose 

40 application was reviewed , evaluated , and scored by the 

41 department and which was denied a dispensing organization 

42 license by the department under f ormers . 38 1. 986 , Florida 

43 Statutes 20 14; which had one or more admin i strative or judic i al 

44 challenges pending as o f January 1, 2017 , or had a final rank i ng 

45 within one point of the h i ghest final ranking in its region 

46 under f ormers . 381 . 986 , Florida Statutes 2014 ; which meets the 

47 requirements of this section ; and wh i ch provides documentation 

48 to the departme nt that it has the existing infrastructure and 

49 technical and te chno l ogical ability to begin cultivating 

50 mar ijuana within 30 days after registration as a medical 

Page 2 of7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb6049-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 6049 2018 

51 marijuana treatment center. 

52 b . As soon as practicable, but no later than October 3, 

53 2017 , the department shal l license one applicant that is a 

54 recognized class member of Pigford v . Glickman , 185 F.R.D. 82 

55 (D . D.C . 1999) , or In Re Black Farmers Litig ., 856 F. Supp. 2d 1 

56 (D .D. C. 2011) and is a member of the Blaelc Farmers and 

57 Agriculturalists ~ssociation Florida Chapter. An applicant 

58 licensed under this sub- subparagraph is exempt from the 

59 requirements of subparagraphs (b)l. and 2 . 

60 c . As soon as practicable , but no later than October 3 , 

61 201 7, the department shall license applicants that meet the 

62 requirements of this section in ·sufficient numbers to result in 

63 10 total licenses issued under this subparagraph, while 

64 accounting for the number of licenses issued under sub-

65 subparagraphs a . and b. 

66 3 . For up to two of the licenses issued under subparagraph 

67 2 ., the department shal l give preference to applicants that 

68 demonstrate in their applications that they own one or more 

69 facilities that are, or were , used for the canning, 

70 concentrating , or otherwise processing of citrus fruit o r citrus 

71 molasses and will use or convert the facility or facilities for 

72 the processing of marijuana . 

73 4. Within 6 months after the registration of 100,000 

74 active qualified patients in the medical marijuana use registry , 

75 the department shall license four additional medical marijuana 

Page 3 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb6049-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 6049 2018 

76 treatment centers that meet the requirements o f this section. 

77 Thereafter , the department shall license four medical marijuana 

78 treatment centers within 6 months after the registration o f each 

79 additional 100,000 active qualified patients in the medical 

80 marijuana use registry that meet the requirements of this 

81 section. 

82 5 . Dispensing facilities are subject to the following 

83 requirements: 

84 a. A medical marijuana treatment center may not establish 

85 or operate more than a statewide maximum of 25 dispensing 

86 facilities, unless the medical marijuana use registry reaches a 

87 total of 100 , 000 active registered qualified patients . When the 

88 medical marijuana use registry reaches 100 , 000 active registered 

89 qualified patients, and then upon each further instance of the 

90 total active registered qualified patients increasing by 

91 100 , 000 , the statewide maximum number of dispensing facilities 

92 that each licensed medical marijuana treatment center may 

93 establish and operate increases by five. 

94 b . A medical marijuana treatment center may not establish 

95 more than the max imum number of dispensing facilities allowed in 

96 each of the Northwest , Northeast, Central, Southwest , and 

97 Southeast Regions. The department shall determine a medical 

98 marijuana treatment center's maximum number of dispensing 

99 facilities allowed in each region by calculating the percentage 

100 of the total statewide population contained within that region 

Page 4 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb6049-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 6049 2018 

101 and multiplying that percentage by the medical marijuana 

102 treatment center ' s statewi de maximum number of dispens ing 

103 facilities established under sub- subparagraph a ., r ounded to the 

104 nearest whole number . The department shall ensure that such 

105 rounding does not cause a medical marijuana t reatment c enter's 

106 total number of statewide dispens ing facilities to exceed its 

107 statewide maximum . The department shall initially calculate the 

10 8 maximum number of dispensing facilities al l owed in each region 

109 for each medical mar ijuana treatment center using county 

110 population est imates from the Florida Estimates of Populat i on 

111 2016 , as published by the Office of Economic and Demograph i c 

112 Research , and shall perform recalculations following the 

113 official release of county population data resulting from each 

114 United States Decennial Census . For the purposes of this 

115 subparagraph : 

11 6 (I) The Northwes t Region consists of Bay , Ca lhoun , 

11 7 Escambia , Franklin , Gadsden , Gulf, Ho l mes , Jackson , Jefferson, 

11 8 Leon, Liberty, Madison , Okaloosa , Santa Rosa , Tayl or , Wakull a , 

119 Walton , and Wa shington Counties . 

120 (II ) The Northeast Region consists of Alachua , Baker , 

121 Bradford , Clay , Columbia, Dixie, Duval , Flagler , Gilchrist , 

122 Hamilton , Lafayette , Levy, Marion , Nassau , Putnam , St . J ohns , 

123 Suwannee , and Union Count i es . 

124 

125 

(I II) The Centra l Region consists of Brevard , Citrus , 

Hardee , Hernando , Indian River , Lake , Orange , Osceola , Pasco , 

Page 5 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb6049-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 6049 

126 Pinellas , Polk , Seminole , St . Lucie , Sumter , and Volusia 

127 Counties . 

2018 

128 ( IV) The Southwes t Region consists of Charlotte , Co l l i er , 

129 DeSoto , Glades , Hendry , Highlands , Hillsborough , Lee , Manatee , 

130 Okeechobee , and Sa r asot a Counties. 

131 (V) The Southeast Region consists of Broward , Miami - Da de , 

132 Martin , Monroe , and Pa l m Beach Counties. 

133 c . If a medical marijuana treatment center establishes a 

134 number of dispensing facilities within a region that is less 

135 than the number allowed for that region under sub- subparagraph 

136 b ., the medica l marijuan a treatment cente r may sell one or more 

137 of its unused dispensing facility slots to other licensed 

138 medical marijuana treatment centers . For each dispensing 

139 facility slot that a medical marijuana treatment center sells , 

140 that medical marijuana treatment center ' s statewide maximum 

141 number of dispensing fac i l i ties , as determined under sub-

142 subparagraph a ., is reduced by one . The statewide maximum number 

1 43 of d i spens i ng facili t ie s for a medical ma r ijuana treatment 

144 center that purchases a n unused dispensing facility slot is 

145 increased by one per s l ot purchased . Additionally , the sale of a 

146 dispensing facility slot sha l l reduce the seller ' s regiona l 

147 maximum and increase the purchaser ' s regional maximum number of 

148 dispensing facilities , as determined in sub- subparagraph b. , by 

149 one for that region . For any slot purchased under this sub-

150 subparagraph , the region a l restriction applied to that s l ot ' s 

Page 6 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb6049-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 6049 

151 location under sub- subparagraph b. before the purchase shall 

152 remain in effect following the purchase . A medical marijuana 

153 treatment center that sells or purchases a dispensing facility 

154 slot must notify the department within 3 days of sale . 

155 d . This subparagraph sha l l expire on Apri l 1 , 2020 . 

156 

157 If this subparagraph or its application to any person or 

158 circumstance is held invalid , the invalidity does not affect 

2018 

159 other provisions or applications of this act which can be given 

160 effect without the invalid provision or app l ication , and to this 

161 end , the provisions of this subparagraph are severab l e . 

162 Sec t ion 2 . This act sha l l take effect July 1 , 2018 . 

Page 7 of 7 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb6049-00 


